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2. ABOUT EPA VICTORIA AND THIS ANNUAL REPORT 

Up until 30 June 2018, Environment Protection Authority 
Victoria (EPA) was an independent authority under 
the Environment Protection Act 1970 (EP Act) and 
administrative office of the Department of Environment, 
Land, Water and Planning (DELWP) under the Public 
Administration Act 2004.

From 1 July 2018 EPA is a statutory authority as 
established under the Environment Protection Act 2017. 
This Act strengthens the independence of EPA with 
the introduction of a new Governing Board. The Board, 
amongst other things, is responsible for the governance, 
strategic planning and pursuit of the Authority’s objective, 
namely to protect human health and the environment 
by reducing the harmful effects of pollution and waste. 
The Minister with responsibility for EPA is the Hon. Lily 
D’Ambrosio MP, Minister for Energy, Environment and 
Climate Change. 

Our vision
A healthy environment that supports a liveable and 
prosperous Victoria now and always. 

Our purpose 
We protect the environment and people by preventing and 
reducing harm from pollution and waste.

Our strategic goals 
To do our part in creating a healthy environment that 
supports a liveable and prosperous Victoria now and 
always, we will focus on five goals: 

1. Prevent harm: We prevent harm from pollution and 
waste by leveraging good environmental performance 
across community, business and government.

2. Equip community and business: We support Victorians 
to understand the condition of their environment and 
we work to ensure shared responsibility is accepted and 
understood by community and business.

3. Be an influential authority: We are a trusted source of 
advice on Victoria’s environment and influential in working 
with others to address complex problems resulting from 
pollution and waste.

4. Respond to harm: We hold polluters to account and 
work with our partners to respond to pollution, emergency 
incidents and legacy contamination to minimise harm to 
Victoria’s environment and people. 

5. Organisational excellence: As an organisation, we 
commit to delivering on our goals by enabling a high-
performance culture that values our people and supports 
them with fit-for-purpose systems and expertise.

Our values 
Successful implementation of EPA’s organisational 
strategy, Our environment, Our health, requires every 
staff member to live our values. These values applied 
consistently by each of us in our interactions with 
Victorians will deliver one experience of EPA.

Excellence 
• we focus effort for best result

• we are evidence and risk based

• we learn from experience 

• we are agile and innovative.

Partnership 

• we support each other

• we welcome diversity

• we listen and learn 

• we involve people in decisions that affect them.

Accountability 

• we do what we say we will

• we make timely decisions

• we use sound judgement

• we are transparent and objective.

We will also be exemplars of the Victorian Public Service 
values.

Definitions
Commonly used scientific and technical terms used in this 
Annual Report are defined on page 59. 

EPA publications
All publications referred to in this Annual Report can be 
accessed at www.epa.vic.gov.au/publications 

EPA acknowledges the Traditional 
Owners and custodians of the 
land upon which we live and work. 
We pay our respects to their 
Elders, past and present. We draw 
inspiration from their traditional 
care for the land, water and air and 
join them in protecting these for all 
Victorians; now and in the future.
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3. CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT

This Annual Report looks back on Environment Protection Authority Victoria’s (EPA) performance in 2017–18 and the 
transformation we’ve undertaken to become a world class regulator underpinned by a philosophy of prevention and 
continuous improvement.

This year has been an important one in our transformation journey, with the development of a new overarching 
organisational strategy that provides us with a clear pathway to ensure we deliver on the Government’s response to the 
Independent Inquiry into EPA.

A key cornerstone of the EPA reforms is the Environment Protection Act 2017 which gave us a new governing structure 
from 1 July 2018. This marked a significant milestone in EPA’s history and our new Governing Board is now responsible for 
the strategic direction and oversight of our organisation.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to personally thank Nial Finegan, our former Chief Executive Officer, and acknowledge 
his leadership of EPA over the past four years. 

Nial successfully led the organisation through the Ministerial Advisory Committee’s Independent Inquiry into EPA and the 
subsequent Government response. Nial tackled some intractable regulatory challenges such as the Stawell tyre stockpile 
– pictured on the front cover of this report. Nial also built our enhanced emergency management capacity, which was 
tested during the Coolaroo and the south-west fires, and he worked across the organisation to successfully increase 
our sanctions performance. The Board was very appreciative of Nial’s support as we established the new governance 
arrangements and we acknowledge his strong commitment to EPA’s work. 

I’d also like to take this opportunity to thank our Interim Advisory Board – Dr John Stocker, Professor Rebekah Brown, 
Ross Pilling, Monique Conheady, Debra Russell, Rob Hogarth and Professor Arie Freiberg for their contributions. Their 
support, commitment and vision has been invaluable.

While this has been a year of significant progress for EPA, there is still much to do. Our transformation effort extends 
right across our organisation.

I have great confidence in the capacity and capabilities of EPA’s executives and staff to drive the changes we need to 
make. EPA is truly committed to transforming into a regulator that puts our environment and human health at the centre 
of everything we do.

Cheryl Batagol

Chairperson
Environment Protection Authority Victoria

Melbourne
4 September 2018
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4. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT 

As one of the world’s most liveable places, Victoria is 
growing and changing. 

Our state is over 225,000 square kilometres, made up of 
countless ecosystems and has a population of six million 
people which is expected to grow to 10 million by 2050. We 
are also seeing significant economic development across 
the state. This growth presents great opportunities for 
innovation, job creation and prosperity, but also challenges 
for our environment and human health.

Last year, the Government’s response to the Independent 
Inquiry into EPA provided us with a mandate for change. 
In 2017–18, EPA began to deliver on this change and 
implement a new preventative approach to regulation 
— anticipating harm from pollution and waste before it 
happens, in addition to addressing harm when it occurs.

I’d like to take this opportunity to thank Nial Finegan for 
his contribution to EPA over the past four years during 
his tenure as Chief Executive Officer. Nial steered us 
through the Inquiry and the significant period of change 
and growth that followed. His commitment to fostering 
a diverse and inclusive workplace helped us to develop 
a high-performance culture that ensures our regulatory 
partners, the environment and the Victorian community 
benefit most from our collective efforts. 

In August 2017, EPA successfully removed Victoria’s 
largest environmental risk – a massive tyre stockpile 
located on the western outskirts of Stawell. Estimated at 
over one million tyres, this stockpile posed an extreme 
fire and environmental risk to the people of Stawell and 
surrounding communities with significant social, economic 
and agricultural impacts had a fire occurred.

By adopting a strong partnership with Northern Grampians 
Shire Council and government agencies such as the 
Country Fire Authority, we removed over 9,500 tonnes of 
tyres in just nine weeks. I’d like to take this opportunity 
to extend my thanks to everyone involved for their 
commitment to getting this critical job done.

Providing timely environmental public health advice about 
the impacts of pollution and waste has also been a focus 
for EPA in 2017–18 – particularly during our emergency 
response to the Coolaroo fire in 2017 and the peat fires in 
Victoria’s south-west earlier this year.

Effectively preventing environmental harm also requires 
us to build the capability of others to identify and respond 
to pollution and waste issues. In 2017–18, EPA rolled out 
our Officers for the Protection of the Local Environment 
(OPLE) pilot program in partnership with 13 local councils.

Authorised under the Environment Protection Act, OPLEs 
work with councils to address local pollution and waste 
issues such as small to medium scale illegal dumping, litter, 
noise, dust and odour complaints. Between February and 
June, our OPLEs responded to 335 incident reports and 
completed 299 inspections at 236 locations.

Consistent with our focus on preventing harm, our newly 
established Industry Guidance Unit has worked closely 
with Victorian businesses to help them better understand 
and manage environmental risks. This new unit produced 
the first co-designed prevention-based guidance for the 
management and storage of combustible, recyclable and 
waste materials, as well as guidance to help service station 
operators effectively monitor and manage leaks from 
underground petroleum storage systems.

While most people want to do the right thing, we know 
there will always be those that neglect or disregard 
their lawful responsibilities. As Victoria’s environmental 
regulator, we continue to hold polluters to account. In 
2017–18, EPA successfully completed 22 prosecutions, 
arising from 15 separate environmental incidents. We 
also issued 12,248 fines for breaches of the Environment 
Protection Act, 392 pollution abatement notices and 180 
cleanup notices for sites around Victoria.

In August 2018, the Environment Protection Amendment 
Act 2018 was passed by the Victorian Parliament and 
received Royal Assent. The Act’s passage is both a 
significant moment in our organisational history and a 
key event for environment protection in Victoria. Once 
it commences in 2020, the legislation will create a 
modernised Environment Protection Act squarely focused 
on prevention, supported by stronger penalties for 
environmental offences.

On a final note, I’d like to thank EPA staff for their support 
and commitment to our important day-to-day work in 
addition to delivering the biggest transformation in EPA’s 
history. It is this enthusiasm and dedication that gives us 
such a solid foundation for the future. 

Together, we will build on our successes in 2018–19 and 
continue to do our part in creating a healthy environment 
that supports a liveable and prosperous Victoria – now, 
and always.

Dr Cathy Wilkinson

Chief Executive Officer
Environment Protection Authority Victoria

Melbourne
4 September 2018
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5. EPA’S INTERIM ADVISORY BOARD 

On 17 January 2017, the Minister for Energy, Environment and Climate Change the Hon. Lily D’Ambrosio MP released 
the Victorian Government’s response to the Independent Inquiry into EPA (‘the Inquiry’), providing support for all 48 
recommendations (40 fully, seven in principle, one in part).

As part of its response, the Government committed to ensuring that EPA has modern governance arrangements and an 
Interim Advisory Board was established to guide and advise EPA on the delivery of reforms. 

The Interim Advisory Board consisted of:

• Dr John Stocker AO

• Professor Rebekah Brown

• Mr Ross Pilling

• Ms Monique Conheady

• Ms Debra Russell

• Mr Rob Hogarth

• Professor Arie Freiberg AM

EPA Chairperson Cheryl Batagol was Chair of the seven-member Interim Advisory Board in an ex-officio capacity. The 
Interim Advisory Board’s functions were limited to the provision of advice to the EPA Chairperson and the Minister. All 
powers and responsibilities vested in the Chairperson as the Responsible Body and CEO as Accountable Officer continued 
while the Interim Advisory Board was operating. 

On 23 May 2018, the Minister announced the appointment of an eight-person Governing Board. The Board commenced on 
1 July 2018 under the Environment Protection Act 2017 and replaced the Interim Advisory Board that had been in place 
since January 2017. 

The Board members are: 

• Ms Cheryl Batagol – Chairperson

• Mr Greg Tweedly – Deputy Chairperson

• Professor Joan Ozanne-Smith AO

• Mr Graeme Ford

• Professor Rebekah Brown

• Mr Ross Pilling

• Ms Monique Conheady

• Ms Debra Russell

From 1 July 2018, the Board became responsible for the governance, strategic planning and risk management of EPA. The 
Board reports directly to the Minister.

Further details are available in the Organisational structure and governance arrangements section.



7  

6. PURPOSE AND FUNCTIONS

Environment Protection Authority Victoria (EPA) was established as an independent statutory authority under the 
Environment Protection Act 1970 (EP Act) and began operating in 1971. From 1 July 2018, EPA is an independent statutory 
authority under the Environment Protection Act 2017. 

Our job is to prevent and reduce harm from pollution and waste. We do this in several ways, including: 

• holding polluters to account

• supporting people to understand, own and address their harmful impacts on the environment

• working with others.

The EP Act defines EPA’s powers, duties and functions, and provides a framework for the prevention and control of air, 
land and water pollution, industrial noise and waste.

EPA works across Victoria. Regional offices are located in Bendigo, Dandenong, Geelong, Traralgon and Wangaratta. EPA’s 
Centre for Applied Sciences is located in Macleod. Our central offices are located at 200 Victoria Street, Carlton and 222 
Exhibition Street, Melbourne. 

EPA is part of the Energy, Environment and Climate Change portfolio. The responsible Minister for the 2017–18 reporting 
period was the Hon. Lily D’Ambrosio MP, Minister for Energy, Environment and Climate Change. 

EPA works closely with portfolio partners – the Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning (DELWP) and 
Sustainability Victoria (SV) – to develop environment protection policy and legislation and to deliver programs that 
support protection of the environment.  

EPA works closely with other Victorian Government departments and regulators to achieve better environmental and 
health outcomes and enable economic development. This includes the Department of Economic Development, Jobs, 
Transport and Resources (DEDJTR), WorkSafe and the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS).
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7. 2017–18 PERFORMANCE

Clean air, water and land are essential to the health and 
lifestyle of every Victorian and our environment.  
Our enjoyment of a good quality of life is reliant on minimal 
disturbance from noise and odour. This Annual Report outlines 
how EPA strives to achieve key environmental outcomes in 
line with our vision for a healthy environment that supports a 
liveable and prosperous Victoria, now and always. 

Air 
In 2017–18, Victoria’s air quality was generally good. The main 
impacts on our air were major bushfires and large-scale dust 
events which caused spikes in airborne particles (PM

2.5
 and 

PM
10

). 

The daily average PM
2.5

 level exceeded the standard (25 µg/
m3) on 13 days of the year. These spikes were caused by 
smoke from domestic wood heaters and bushfires. PM

10
 levels 

exceeded the daily standard of 50 µg/m3 on 22 days, primarily 
due to local and regional dust events and planned hazard 
reduction burns. 

EPA’s air monitoring network continued to record long-term 
trends across Melbourne, Geelong and the Latrobe Valley, 
with further work undertaken to develop our air monitoring 
capabilities to enable us to better respond to emergency 
issues.

In March 2018, EPA welcomed and accepted the 
recommendations of the VAGO Performance Audit – 
Improving Victoria’s Air Quality. The report underscores the 
importance of the reform work already underway at EPA. The 
recommendations are intended to improve the monitoring, 
assessment and management of air quality in Victoria. EPA 
is working with DELWP and relevant local governments to 
implement the recommendations. 

This year has also seen us continue to work with other 
jurisdictions as part of the National Clean Air Agreement, 
which aims to reduce wood heater emissions and refine 
standards for nitrogen dioxide, sulfur dioxide and ozone.

Hazelwood recovery 

In 2017–18, EPA’s implementation of the recommendations 
from the 2014 Hazelwood Mine Fire Inquiry neared completion 
with:

•  the development of agreed air quality monitoring data 
access processes for improved community health 
decision-making during smoke events

•  the Latrobe Valley enhanced air monitoring network build 
well underway, and expected to be fully operational by the 
end of 2018.

Integration of incident air monitoring information

During an incident, air quality monitoring data is collected 
in the field by multiple agencies using a range of different 
equipment. 

In 2017–18, systems and processes were set up with first 
responders to allow the data they collect to be used together 
with EPA data in decision-making about community health 
during smoke events. 

These were used effectively during the March-May 2018 
peat fires in south-west Victoria to provide the community 
with information on the potential impacts from peat 
fire smoke, and provided incident controllers with the 
information they needed to make timely decisions about 
community safety. 

Latrobe Valley co-design air network 

Work continued on the roll-out of EPA’s enhanced air 
monitoring network for the Latrobe Valley in 2017–18, 
with 19 new air quality monitoring sites confirmed for 
installation with sensors. 

Designed to be portable, easily relocated and attachable 
to existing structures such as the side of buildings and 
fences, our new air monitors will run on solar power and 
batteries and feature optical sensors for smoke (PM

2.5)
 

and dust (PM
10

) and video cameras. We are also working 
with suppliers to create better quality electrochemical 
gas sensors for carbon monoxide, nitrogen dioxide, sulfur 
dioxide and ozone to install in the network before the end 
of 2018. 

This year’s progress follows a co-design process between 
EPA scientists and more than 30 community members 
and reflects our commitment to involving Victorians in 
environmental monitoring, management and decision-
making. 

In January, we completed an air monitoring equipment 
trial in the Gippsland (Latrobe Valley) region. The trial 
was part of a tendering process to compare the data from 
new air monitoring equipment with reference equivalent 
equipment at our air monitoring station in Traralgon. 

Over the next 12 months, EPA will evaluate how the sensor 
network performs. We look forward to an increased 
geographical range of air quality information being 
available to the Latrobe Valley community. 

Minister D’Ambrosio at the launch of EPA’s equipment 
trial at our Traralgon air monitoring station in the Latrobe 
Valley. This work is part of the implementation of our 
enhanced air monitoring network. Left to right: David Guy 
(EPA), Minister D’Ambrosio, Wendy Farmer (Voices of the 
Valley President) and local resident, Mark Richards.
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Brooklyn Industrial Precinct Program

The Brooklyn Industrial Precinct Program was established by EPA in 2008 to address the complex air quality issues faced 
by the residents of Brooklyn in Melbourne’s west. 

In 2017–18, regulatory attention was focused on key high-risk sites for the generation of dust and odour. This resulted in 
39 notices being served on industry requiring improvements to site management and infrastructure.

During the 12-month period, Brooklyn recorded 17 exceedances of the PM
10

 standard, compared to 12 in 2016–17. While 
still at lower levels compared to the 29 exceedances in 2013–14, this result was due to weather events and fuel reduction 
burns throughout autumn. Emissions have stabilised significantly since local roads were sealed in 2015.

In 2017–18 there was an overall increase in the number of odour-related pollution reports in the area compared to 
previous years. This increase in odour reports can be attributed to an increase in dust due to a drier than average spring 
season. February and March were also some of the driest months on record. During this period, 1 mm of rain was recorded 
in 53 days. The warm and dry weather continued into April and May when fuel reduction burns were carried out, adding 
to the total particle load in Brooklyn. The number of exceedances did not increase as much as in previous dry years, as 
roads were sealed and remedial actions taken by recipients of EPA remedial notices. EPA developed specific investigation 
approaches to high-risk sites to ensure greater levels of regulatory oversight and an improved response approach to 
ensure greater likelihood of successful investigation of odour pollution offences. We also issued pollution abatement 
notices (PANs) to 15 businesses for dust emissions and to a further two businesses for odour emissions.

In May 2018, EPA deployed seven arcHub air quality sensors across the precinct as part of a 12-month trial. This 
technology will help us better understand the impact of air pollutants across the precinct and further target our 
compliance and enforcement effort.

Throughout the year, EPA was involved in three Brooklyn Community Reference Group meetings including a successful 
Open House event in March 2018.

Table 7.1: Brooklyn Industrial Precinct summary statistics

Indicator (Note 2) Notes 2017–18 2016–17 2015–16 2014–15 2013–14 2012–13 2011–12 2010–11

Days where dust 
levels (PM

10
) 

exceeded the limit

17 12 10 17 29 33 20 19

Rainfall (mm) 449 515 403 383 459 386 611 850

Pollution reports 
related to odour

1 940 428 336 169 158 427 485 628

Notes:
1. Further analysis of pollution reports related to odour has resulted in adjustments to numbers from previous years.
2. Figures in this table have been revised to reflect financial year totals.

Ambient Air Quality National Environment Protection Measure (NEPM) Review 

EPA continues to lead the review of national ambient air quality standards for ozone, nitrogen dioxide and sulfur dioxide, 
on behalf of the Commonwealth, states and territories and as part of the Victorian Government’s commitment under the 
National Clean Air Agreement. 

Each year, jurisdictions are required to submit a report on common ambient air pollutants such as carbon monoxide, 
against the standards in the National Environment Protection (Ambient Air Quality) Measure which guides the policy-
making that adequately protect human health and wellbeing. 

Detailed preliminary analysis of the pollutants was completed during 2017–18 as part of the national review. The aim 
is to present proposed standards to the National Environment Protection Council for consideration, followed by public 
consultation, with a view to strengthening the standards by the end of 2019.
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Case study: Keeping community safe with public health advice

Environmental public health is an aspect of public health concerned with the impact of the natural environment – 
and the pollutants found in it – on public health. It’s about the health of the air we breathe, the safety of the water 
we swim in, and how the environment affects our health. 

In December 2016, EPA became responsible for delivering environmental public health functions related to waste 
and pollution following the transfer of this responsibility from the Department of Health and Human Services. 
Over the past 12 months, EPA has further embedded this capability into its business and delivered sound advice 
on risks to public health from pollution and waste. 

As part of this, EPA has started work on developing an environmental health tracking network that will allow 
EPA to identify public health risks and assess their extent, seriousness and trends relating to environmental 
conditions. The network will lead to more information-driven decisions and communication, ultimately improving 
the health of Victorians by reducing the environmental health impacts of pollution and waste.

EPA has also established an Environmental Public Health team to provide specialist advice to EPA officers, the 
community and Victoria’s Chief Environmental Scientist about the public health impacts from past, present 
and future waste and pollution. This critical role is helping to reduce the impact of pollution and waste on 
communities, particularly during emergency incidents, by arming them with information about how smoke and 
other pollutants can affect their health, enabling them to make informed choices about how to reduce their 
exposure. 

The new team has trained up a team of Health Risk Officers to provide environmental public health advice as part 
of EPA’s emergency response roster. This new capability enables EPA to provide public health expertise 24/7, 
which is particularly important during emergency incidents. This capability was successfully deployed during the 
major fires that impacted south-west Victoria between March and April 2018, with the team providing frequent 
advice to emergency authorities. 

The Environmental Public Health team has also 
played a key role in EPA’s assessment of the public 
health risks from shooting ranges across Victoria. 
This work included a risk ranking of the hundreds of 
shooting ranges that exist across the state for both 
environmental and health risks to nearby communities. 
The assessment identified a number of sites that 
require further investigation, and EPA is working with 
other relevant agencies and gun clubs on a priority 
basis to ensure any major risks are appropriately 
managed in a timely manner. 

Environmental public health advice has played 
an important part in EPA’s response to emerging 
contaminants. Following the identification of PFAS in 
the Heart Morass wetland, near Sale, EPA reviewed a 
human health risk assessment on the levels of per-and 
polyfluorinated alkyl substances (PFAS) found in ducks, 
eels and fish in the lake. The assessment led EPA to 
issue public health advice that people should not eat 
any of these animals from the Heart Morass wetland.

For more information on the work of EPA’s 
Environmental Public Health Unit,  
visit www.epa.vic.gov.au/AR2018

7. 2017–18 PERFORMANCE CONTINUED

EPA’s Environmental Public Health Unit monitor and 
respond to aspects of the environment that could 
potentially affect human health. 
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Odour
EPA responds to community reports of odours and 
investigates a range of industrial, agricultural and 
domestic sources. Where sources are identified as causing 
environmental impacts, we issue remedial notices to 
reduce them and monitor compliance. In 2017–18, EPA 
served 18 notices to address odours (12 more than 2016–17) 
and received 4,466 odour reports – a 28 per cent increase 
on the previous year. This was largely due to an increase in 
odour reports in Clarinda and Brooklyn.

Several potentially odorous industries such as waste 
processing operations, intensive animal husbandry and 
sale yards were required to adopt best practice to minimise 
odours through licensing and approvals. EPA provided 
advice to local councils on separation distances between 
potentially odorous activities and residential areas.

Responding to odour 

EPA relies on help from the community to assist in 
detecting odour pollution. 

In most cases, odour pollution does not have a long-term 
health affect, but it can lead to headaches, nausea and 
vomiting. Odours can also restrict outdoor activities, 
limit the opening of windows and generally create an 
unpleasant environment.

EPA can only act when an odour has been verified and 
sourced by one of our Environment Protection Officers. 
For example, in 2017–18 we worked with the Swan Hill 
community following reports of an offensive odour at 
a primary school, which appeared to be coming from a 
nearby industrial estate. 

Working with the school, community members, businesses 
and Swan Hill Rural City Council, we undertook air 
monitoring to determine any potential health impacts from 
exposure to emissions. 

Results of the monitoring found the odour was likely to be 
styrene – a clear, colourless liquid used to create plastic 
materials in food containers and packaging materials as 
well as cars and computers.

While the concentrations in the air were low and unlikely 
to pose any health concerns for residents, EPA and council 
conducted several community meetings and a door knock 
to gather information, offer advice and address concerns.

Ultimately, the styrene odour was minimised through 
improved business operations. 

Odour pollution can be reported to our Pollution Hotline 
on 1300 372 842 (1300 EPA VIC). 

Water
Freshwater 

In 2017–18, Victoria experienced a continuation of the 
recent warming trend for south-eastern Australia, with 
Australia’s third warmest year recorded in 2017 and our 
fourth warmest autumn recorded in 2018. Rainfall in 
eastern Victoria was significantly below average and the 
lowest on record for parts of east Gippsland. Due to the 
high temperatures and low rainfall, stream flows in this 
part of the state fell significantly below the long-term 
average while flows in the rest of the state were also 
low (lower stream flows are often associated with poor 
water quality due to poor flushing of nutrients, sediments 
and contaminants, low levels of dissolved oxygen and 
disruptions to habitat connectivity). 

Wetlands trap sediments and concentrate contaminants 
and so can become significant hotspots for pollutants. 
Wetlands built in industrial catchments also tend to 
have significant concentrations of pollutants, preventing 
these from entering streams and being transported to 
other valued waterways such as Port Phillip Bay. Wetland 
contaminants may also represent a risk to human health 
where the public are exposed to high concentrations of 
chemical contaminants that accumulate in the tissues of 
wildlife caught for human consumption. In January 2018, 
EPA issued advice to fishers and hunters to not consume 
fish and ducks, taken from the Heart Morass wetland in 
Gippsland, contaminated with high concentrations of the 
class of organic chemical pollutants called per- and poly-
fluorinated alkyl substances (PFAS). 

There were no significant fish deaths and few algal blooms 
in 2017–18.

Marine waters

Sea surface temperatures in south-eastern Australia 
rose to exceptionally high levels in late 2017 and early 
2018. Temperatures in eastern Bass Strait and the 
Tasman Sea were the highest on record and reflect a 
significant warming trend for ocean temperatures across 
south-eastern Australia. In Port Phillip Bay, warmer sea 
temperatures were not associated with a higher incidence 
of algal blooms over summer 2017–18 as there were 
fewer intense summer storms than in previous years. 
These storms deliver pulses of nutrients, via stormwater 
run-off to the Bay, that are critical for the development 
of algal blooms. Stormwater run-off is also a major 
source of bacterial contamination to Port Phillip Bay and 
lower summer storm frequency was also associated with 
generally better water quality at beaches than in previous 
years. 
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Planktonic algal blooms are a major feature of the 
Gippsland Lakes and toxic blue-green algal blooms, in 
particular, pose a risk to recreational users. During 2017–18, 
there were no algal bloom alerts issued for the region, 
partly reflecting below average rainfall for eastern Victoria 
and reduced catchment inflows of nutrients to the lakes.

In November 2017, plastic nurdles (beads) were illegally 
dumped at the sewerage treatment plant (STP) in 
Warrnambool and inadvertently released into western 
Bass Strait. This is the first recorded incident of a nurdle 
pollution spill in Australia through an STP. Motivated 
by concerns about impacts to the marine environment, 
hundreds of volunteers spent hours removing nurdles, 
washed up on beaches as far away as Port Fairy. The 
incident highlighted deficiencies in the treatment of 
plastic contaminants in wastewater and the harm plastic 
pollutants represent to wildlife in Victorian coastal waters. 
Nurdles are buoyant and remain afloat for weeks to 
months, periodically washing up on beaches where they 
may be encountered by wildlife and mistakenly ingested 
as food.

Groundwater

Potential groundwater pollution is identified through 
a range of activities and programs that EPA regulates, 
including Victoria’s environmental audit system. 
Polluted groundwater is usually considered a long-term 
environmental legacy.

In general, poor management practices will result in 
groundwater pollution. This may include poor storage 
and handling practices, incorrect disposal, or historical 
infrastructure – such as underground storage tanks – 
degrading over time and leaking their contents into the 
environment. At surface level, pollution can occur when 
rain mixes with chemicals, which can then move through 
the soil and into the groundwater.

In 2017–18, approximately 52 groundwater quality 
restricted use zones (GQRUZ) were identified as part of 
environmental audits. The identification of a GQRUZ help 
create community awareness of areas where groundwater 
is polluted.

Fishermans Bend 

Fishermans Bend is Australia’s largest urban renewal 
project covering approximately 480 hectares in the 
heart of Melbourne. The planning for Fishermans Bend is 
being led by the Fishermans Bend Taskforce, comprising 
members from DELWP, the cities of Melbourne and Port 
Phillip, and Development Victoria. 

In 2017–18, EPA released the results of the second part of a 
groundwater study of Fishermans Bend which focused on 
the Employment Precinct. This second part was needed as 
the Employment Precinct was added to the development 
area in April 2015 – after the process for commissioning 
part one of the groundwater study of the Wirraway, 
Sandridge, Lorimer and Montague precincts had begun. 

EPA engaged with local residents’ groups via the 
Fishermans Bend Community Reference Group, hosted by 
the City of Port Phillip, to keep the community informed of 
the groundwater study results. 

The groundwater study results will help ensure that 
developers and planning authorities are aware of any risks 
to human health and the environment associated with 
any remaining contamination. The results are available on 
EPA’s website www.epa.vic.gov.au/fishermansbend 

The draft Fishermans Bend Framework was released in 
October 2017 and the Planning Review Panel (PRP) held 
public hearings on the draft framework between March 
and June 2018. EPA made a formal submission to the 
PRP which addressed issues of historic contamination 
and concerns around conflicting land uses. EPA expects 
to be involved in strategic planning for Fishermans Bend  
for many years to come, providing advice to planning 
authorities and developers.

In October 2017, EPA received the Australasian Land 
and Groundwater Association annual award for the 
groundwater studies undertaken in Fishermans Bend. 
The groundwater studies provide a regional groundwater 
understanding of a kind not previously achieved, as 
groundwater is usually studied at the individual property 
level and misses larger-scale issues and trends. The open 
sharing of the findings with both community and industry 
will improve groundwater remediation and management in 
the area. 

Dairy effluent management 

Dairy farms can impact local waterways and downstream 
water users if dairy effluent is poorly managed. In 2017–18, 
EPA implemented a strategic compliance and enforcement 
program to increase awareness among community and 
business on the risks and impact of dairy effluent on our 
environment and prevention measures. 

This program resulted in 33 dairy farms inspections 
across Victoria, with 17 businesses issued with pollution 
abatement notices. In four cases, EPA issued infringement 
notices – resulting in fines for breaches of the Environment 
Protection Act 1970. 

During the year, EPA staff attended key dairy expos at 
Elmore and Korumburra to provide advice to farmers 
on effective dairy effluent management. An intensive 
statewide media awareness campaign ran in June 2018, in 
addition to targeted coverage throughout the year across 
TV, radio and newspapers. 

7. 2017–18 PERFORMANCE CONTINUED
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Award for EPA’s Yarra and Bay website 

Each summer, EPA’s Yarra and Bay website forecasts 
whether water in the Bay and at key recreational swimming 
spots on the Yarra River, is of ‘Good’, ‘Fair’ or ‘Poor’ quality.

Water conditions can change rapidly, especially following 
extreme weather events, and the website alerts would-be 
swimmers to spots that may pose a health risk. 

In June 2018, the Yarra and Bay website was awarded the 
Emergency Media and Public Affairs (EMPA) Award for 
Excellence in Emergency Communication, Readiness and 
Resilience, for the important role it plays in communicating 
with Victorians and making them ready and resilient to a 
possible health issue. 

Over the 2017–18 summer, we updated Yarra and Bay’s Beach 
Report and Yarra Watch forecasts twice a day, sent 138,687 
SMS alerts to more than 10,000 registered users and tweeted 
twice daily. The website was visited 110,000 times. 

We thank our Yarra and Bay partners, Melbourne Water, 
DELWP, Life Saving Victoria, councils and lifesaving clubs 
for their ongoing support.

Report Card 

Introduced in 2013 to report on the health of Port Phillip 
Bay and its catchments, EPA’s annual Report Card provides 
Victorians with up-to-date water quality information 
including actions being taken to protect, maintain and 
improve waterway health. 

Published in December 2017, the 2016–2017 Report 
Card was expanded beyond Port Phillip Bay to include 
a snapshot of Gippsland Lakes, Western Port and their 
respective catchments. An additional level of data was 
also incorporated for Port Phillip Bay thanks to citizen 
science programs EstuaryWatch and Waterwatch and 
the Australian Mathematical Sciences Institute. This data 
covers a larger spatial area, allows for better insight into 
the health of our waterways and visually acknowledges the 
contribution of citizen scientists to our understanding. 

EPA’s 2017–18 Report Card is currently in development 
with the Corangamite Catchment Management Authority, 
DELWP and Melbourne Water and is expected to be 
released in late 2018. 

EPA and DELWP are collaborating to revise existing 
statutory policies related to water in Victoria, and together 
have developed a new State Environment Protection Policy 
(Waters) that covers surface waters and groundwater 
across the state. This has involved an extensive scientific 
review by EPA of the environmental quality indicators and 
objectives for the protection and management of water 
quality. The Draft SEPP (Waters) was released for public 
consultation in February 2018 and numerous submissions 
were received from stakeholders. Submissions have 
been considered and a final version of SEPP (Waters) is 
expected to be provided to the Government for approval 
in 2018.

Land
EPA has a key role in protecting the community from 
land pollution, including by managing contaminated sites, 
addressing pollution impacts and advising authorities on 
land use planning.  

Today, previously unknown contaminated land is most 
commonly found when there is a change of land use for a 
particular property or area – for example, from industrial 
to residential use – and the state’s planning system then 
triggers a site investigation.

EPA, in partnership with DELWP, is developing a new 
database to provide Victorians with clearer information 
about possible land contamination. 

As part of a cross-government approach to long-term 
strategic land use planning, EPA’s role in planning is 
to advise planning and responsible authorities under 
the Planning and Environment Act 1987 about the 
environmental risks associated with policies and decisions. 
EPA administers the environmental audit system, which 
appoints highly qualified and skilled environmental 
auditors and reviews the audit reports they undertake. 
These reports are a statutory tool used to protect the 
community and confirm that potentially contaminated 
land is suitable for its intended use. Environmental audits 
are used by planning authorities, government agencies 
and private businesses. Approximately 83 environmental 
audits under section 53X of the Environment Protection 
Act 1970 were issued in  2017–18. For further information, 
refer to the section on land use planning.

Contamination at shooting ranges 

In 2017–18 EPA actively continued work to investigate and 
support clean up of contamination at shooting ranges. 

Excavation of lead-contaminated soil at the North 
Wangaratta football oval was completed following testing 
that confirmed lead contamination had reduced to a 
level that posed minimal risk to human health and the 
environment. This validation soil testing was reviewed and 
approved by an independent auditor in March 2018. Works 
on the reconstruction of the oval and the playing surface 
is expected to be completed in late 2018. EPA issued a new 
notice to Wangaratta Clay Target Club and site cleanup is 
due by September 2018. 

Fencing around Sebastopol Gun Club (SGC) remains in 
place to restrict public access to the area. SGC continues 
to work towards compliance with EPA’s requirements. 
The compliance due date has been extended to June 
2019 to allow time for undertaking the environmental site 
assessment required under EPA’s cleanup notice. 
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In May 2018, EPA conducted a site inspection at 
Winchelsea Common to check compliance against two 
recent cleanup notices. The inspection confirmed cleanup 
works onsite were nearing completion. Two new notices 
were issued in 2017–18 to implement the full completion of 
the works, which is expected to be completed in December 
2018.

In July 2017, EPA initiated a strategic project focused on 
ensuring that current, former and future outdoor shooting 
ranges are managed sustainably and that risks presented 
to human health and the environment from contamination 
are acceptable. In 2017, EPA established an interagency 
working group along with a number of partner agencies 
including DELWP, DHHS, Sports and Recreation Victoria, 
WorkSafe, DEDJTR, Victoria Police and Victorian Planning 
Authority, to provide joint leadership on management of 
contamination to land on and adjacent to shooting ranges 
in Victoria. EPA is also engaging with state and national 
shooting associations to explore options to reduce and 
manage lead contamination and improve environmental 
management practices at shooting ranges. 

Waste
In 2017–18, an estimated 1.8 million tonnes of municipal 
waste and 2.6 million tonnes of prescribed industrial 
waste (PIW) was sent to Victorian landfills. Municipal 
waste disposal to landfills is steady, which is considered a 
positive result, given population growth of more than 2 per 
cent since last year’s reporting. PIW disposal to landfills 
has increased by 7 per cent. This increase is attributed 
mainly to Category C soil disposal, which is likely a result 
of an increase in major infrastructure projects throughout 
the state. 

The application of waste and waste derived products, 
such as compost, to land can pose potential hazards 
to the environment and human health. The Victorian 
Organics Resource Recovery Strategy led by SV includes 
exploring better practices for waste application to land 
as an alternative to more traditional waste management 
practices. To support the strategy, EPA conducted research 
in collaboration with SV to gain a better understanding of 
the risks associated with the application of organic waste 
to land. 

We also started work to more broadly understand the 
potential impacts from waste and waste management 
activities to the environment and human health. This 
considers the intrinsic hazard of a waste and how the 
hazard may change, increase or decrease as the waste 
moves through the waste system, creating pathways for 
environment and human health exposures.  

EPA provides the Victorian community with critical 
assessment and advice on possible public health impacts 
caused by pollution and waste. The capability to determine 
risks to public health has grown over the year. EPA 
has provided timely advice to a range of agencies to 
help decision-makers reduce the health impacts on the 
community, including emergency services during a number 
of emergency incidents. This support for emergency 
services is provided in conjunction with DHHS.

EPA has also been developing a system for the systematic 
collection, validation, interpretation and reporting of 
environmental and public health indicators, alongside 
other related data, to better support the protection of 
public health. This surveillance of the general environment 
for risks to public health will be used to investigate 
temporal and spatial trends and can be used in responding 
to health effects from environmental exposure. The aim is 
to reduce acute and chronic diseases of the population.

Litter from motor vehicles

In 2017–18, approximately 76 per cent of litter fines EPA issued 
related to lit and unlit cigarette butts thrown from vehicles. 

In addition to phone, mail and web-based reporting, we 
offer Victorians a convenient smartphone ‘Report Litter’ 
application. This year, we commenced an upgrade of the 
mobile app to enable reporters to capture photo and video 
evidence as part of their litter report.

EPA is also investigating options to improve 
communications back to litter reporters, including what 
happens to their reports. 

In May 2018, we identified an error in an old litter 
infringement dispute process that occurred between 
November 2013 and December 2015. This error impacted 
about 1 per cent of infringement notices. Victorians 
affected were notified by mail and refunds (including 
interest) are being issued. 

In January 2018, EPA transitioned to Victoria’s new fine 
recovery model under the Fines Reform Act 2014. Fines 
Victoria, established in December 2017, is a Victorian 
Government administrative body serving as a point of 
contact for the public to pay or deal with their unpaid 
fines. Under the new model, unpaid fines issued by EPA 
are submitted to Fines Victoria for processing, rather 
than to the Infringements Court. This process has roughly 
halved processing time in the infringement lifecycle.

7. 2017–18 PERFORMANCE CONTINUED
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EPA has increased its 
enforcement capabilities 
with additional authorised 
officers and legal staff. 

Case study: Holding polluters to account 

As Victoria’s environmental regulator, a key part of our role is taking strong, timely and 
effective action to use our authority and influence to uphold environmental standards, 
drive improvement and give Victorians confidence that polluters will be held to account. 

In 2017–18, EPA successfully completed 22 prosecutions, arising from 15 separate 
environmental incidents. The largest fine imposed in these cases was a fine of 
$125,000 against a waste assessment company that deliberately attempted to pass off 
approximately 800 tonnes of PIW as cleanfill. Throughout the year, EPA issued more than 
12,000 fines for breaches of the Environment Protection Act 1970.

Aided by the use of our drone technology, we also issued 392 PANs and 180 cleanup 
notices for sites around Victoria. 

A key focus in 2017–18 has also been strengthening our processes, procedures and 
resources through the development of a Sanctions Strategy. This strategy is integral 
to EPA’s transformation and aims to provide a strong, specific and general deterrent 
that holds individual offenders to account and meets community and government 
expectations of our credibility. 

Over the last 12 months, we also recruited additional regulatory, legal and investigative 
staff to build our capacity, and appointed 46 Environment Protection Officers.

For more information on our regulatory activities, visit www.epa.vic.gov.au/AR2018

Case study: Dealing with emerging contaminants 

Over the past year, a key focus for EPA has been understanding the extent and 
characteristics of emerging contaminants in the Victorian environment. 

There are many chemicals in common use which find their way into the 
environment and are considered contaminants of emerging concern, such as 
pesticides, pharmaceuticals and personal care products. Emerging contaminants 
are a key focus because the risk they pose to our health and the environment is 
not yet fully understood. To help address the broad range of contaminants in the 
environment, EPA has undertaken sampling of fresh and marine waters, sediment 
and soils at 50 sites across the state. This ambient assessment program will 
provide evidence to inform regulatory actions for emerging contaminants based 
on our understanding of their presence in the Victorian environment and thus 
potential for community exposure. 

EPA has also continued to lead the way in the prevention and management of 
environmental and human health impacts associated with a particular group of 
manufactured chemicals known as PFAS.  Used for decades in a range of products, 

including pesticides, stain repellents and firefighting foams, PFAS are of concern to the environment and human 
health because they persist in the environment and are resistant to normal environmental breakdowns. 

During August and September 2017, EPA Victoria, under the direction of the Heads of EPAs Australia and New 
Zealand (HEPA), led an extensive consultation process to assist environment ministers with the development of 
a PFAS National Environmental Management Plan (NEMP). Calls for feedback from industry and the community 
resulted in more than 180 responses, including more than 80 submissions. 

Now finalised, the NEMP represents a how-to guide for the investigation and management of PFAS contamination 
and provides Australia with a consistent, practical, risk-based framework for the environmental regulation of PFAS-
contaminated materials and sites. It describes PFAS compounds and their many sources, requirements for the 
management of contaminated sites, how best to manage PFAS-contaminated waste – including contaminated soils – 
and summarises treatment technologies that may be available in Australia.

Future work and research activities around PFAS will feature the study of PFAS precursors and behaviours, the 
development of Australian guidelines for wildlife food and water quality, considering multigenerational effects, and 
understanding PFAS sediment concentrations on aquatic biota. 

EPA’s leadership role in the development of the NEMP is an example of us taking active steps to prevent and manage 
the environmental and human health impacts associated with emerging contaminants and working together with 
government, industry and community stakeholders on a national scale.

For more information on our emerging contaminants work, visit www.epa.vic.gov.au/AR2018

EPA has led the way to prevent and 
manage the environmental and 
human health impacts associated 
with emerging contaminants, 
including PFAS.  
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Per- and polyfluorinated alkyl substances (PFAS)

PFAS are a group of manufactured chemicals used for 
decades in a range of products, including the manufacture 
of non-stick cookware; stain protection and food 
packaging; and industrial and commercial applications, 
such as firefighting foam, mist suppressants and coatings. 

PFAS are highly mobile and over time have been found to 
work their way through the environment – readily moving 
through soils into surface and groundwater where they 
can travel long distances. 

While there is currently no consistent evidence that 
exposure to PFAS causes adverse human health effects, 
these chemicals have been shown to have adverse 
impacts on fish and some animals. PFAS accumulate in 
the bodies of animals, particularly those that breathe air 
and consume fish (such as dolphins, whales, seals and 
seabirds) and concentrations increase significantly in the 
tissues of animals higher up in food chains. 

In 2017–18, EPA commenced a project to oversee our 
activities related to PFAS, focusing on the implementation 
of the PFAS National Environment Management Plan 
(NEMP) in Victoria. This project included the development 
and update of an Interim position statement on PFAS (EPA 
Publication 1669) and engagement with key stakeholders 
such as the Groundwater Auditors Working Group and the 
Water Industry Reference Group to provide guidance on 
our current approach to the assessment and management 
of PFAS sources. 

EPA is also part of a Victorian interagency PFAS working 
group. Members include the Department of Premier and 
Cabinet, Emergency Management Victoria (EMV), DELWP, 
DEDJTR, DHHS, PrimeSafe, Victorian Fisheries Authority 
(VFA), and Dairy Food Safe. 

Victorian Government e-waste ban

EPA, together with SV, is continuing to work with 
DELWP to support the implementation of the Victorian 
Government’s commitment to ban e-waste from landfill in 
Victoria. EPA has published waste management policies 
– the new Waste Management Policy (E-waste) and a 
variation to Waste Management Policy (Siting, Design 
and Management of Landfills) – which both come into 
operation in July 2019. These policies will help drive the 
recycling and safe management of e-waste in Victoria. 

7. 2017–18 PERFORMANCE CONTINUED

EPA is tackling illegal waste dumping – which costs 
Victorians around $30 million a year - with a variety of 
measures and campaigns. 

Case study: Targeting illegal waste disposal and 
rogue skip bin operators 

Illegal dumping has significant impacts on human health 
and the environment and costs Victorians around $30 
million a year in cleanup costs and lost landfills levy 
revenue. In response, EPA’s Illegal Waste Dumping 
Strikeforce tackles illegal waste disposal across the state 
through a range of targeted initiatives. 

In 2017–18, our Strikeforce Program implemented a project 
to target the skip bin sector – specifically, rogue operators 
who advertise to take away household waste and then avoid 
their legitimate waste disposal costs by dumping waste on 
public and private land. This behaviour causes significant 
cleanup costs for local councils and private landowners, 
as well as potentially making everyday citizens complicit in 
pollution. 

A key component of the skip bins project was our animated 
media campaign, Waste in the right place, which ran during 
April and May 2018 to raise public awareness of illegal 
dumping by skip bin operators and encourage customers to 
ask where their waste is going. 

EPA also partnered with Victoria Police and Hume City 
Council to conduct an inspection blitz targeting rogue skip 
bin operators. This blitz was a culmination of more than a 
year’s work by EPA’s Intelligence and Analysis team which 
identified 110 small to medium suspected rogue skip bin 
sites. EPA also worked with Brimbank City Council, Hume 
City Council and City of Whittlesea during intelligence 
gathering.

In May 2018, the Strikeforce Program received $9.1 
million in funding over four years in the 2018–19 State 
Budget. This funding will enable us to continue preventing 
and investigating illegal dumping through targeted 
investigations and compliance activities at high-risk sites. 

 In 2018–19, we also look forward to further building our 
intelligence gathering and analysis capability by: 

 •   enhancing our capacity to monitor and analyse industry 
activity

 •   improving data links across agencies to increase 
intelligence sharing and joint response

 •   using data and intelligence to inform strategic planning 
and tactical decision-making.

For more information on the work of our Illegal Waste 
Dumping Strikeforce Program, 
visit www.epa.vic.gov.au/AR2018 



17  

Waste in the right place campaign 

Running from April to May 2018, EPA’s Waste in the right 
place campaign had a distinctly different look and feel to 
our previous marketing campaigns and called on community 
members to know where their skip bin waste is going. 

Often found dumped in national parks, farmland, industrial 
sites and warehouses, abandoned skip bin waste poses a 
risk to the environment and nearby waterways, with cleanup 
costs regularly left to community, industry, local government 
or landholders.

Waste in the right place appeared on Google Search, Twitter 
and Realestate.com.au and achieved an average clicks 
through rate of 400 per cent above the industry average. 
Other results included: 

• Google Search – 96,670 impressions; 1,878 clicks

• Twitter – 1.08 million impressions; 2,300 clicks

• Realestate.com.au – 887,024 impressions; 1,918 clicks.

Build Aware Program 

Part of EPA’s construction and demolition project, Build 
Aware aims to raise awareness in the building industry of 
building, construction, environment, plumbing and OHS laws 
and regulations during on-the-spot site inspections and 
associated communications. 

In 2017–18, the Build Aware Program, which consists of EPA, 
Victorian Building Authority, Energy Safe Victoria, WorkSafe 
Victoria and Consumer Affairs Victoria collectively completed 
more than 350 inspections in metropolitan Melbourne. The 
program has been so successful that participating agencies 
have agreed to continue in 2018–19, with a stronger focus on 
regional Victoria. 

Build Aware raises awareness of regulatory requirements 
within the building and construction industry.

Managing landfills 

Implementation of EPA’s new landfills strategy began in 
2017–18. This strategy covers a range of initiatives to better 
support our delivery of regulatory services and outcomes 
for the landfills sector, including the release of Victoria’s 
first publicly available landfills register. 

Available at www.epa.vic.gov.au, the Victorian Landfills 
Register provides an interactive map which includes details 
on operating and closed landfills locations as well as known 
attributes such as waste type, volume accepted and year  
of closure. 

Another key focus for the past year has been supporting 
duty holders, government stakeholders and community with 
updated guidance including: 

•  a landfill gas fugitive emissions monitoring guideline 
which outlines procedures for the collection of data 

•  a closed landfills guideline to assist landfill operators 
with rehabilitation and aftercare management 
requirements as well as the EPA approval process for 
construction or augmentation of landfill caps 

•  a self-assessment tool to help local councils identify and 
understand the risks associated with closed landfills in 
their municipalities 

•  guidance to help responsible authorities assess 
planning permit applications and planning scheme 
amendments that will result in development within the 
buffer of operating or closed landfill. 

In June, EPA held a Better Landfills Management workshop 
for councils, landfills operators, industry representatives, 
consultants and auditors to help build clarity and 
understanding about requirements and their roles and 
responsibilities in landfills management. 

EPA landfill specialists also conducted 45 site visits to 
both operating and closed landfills. As well as ensuring 
compliance with licence conditions, these visits addressed 
questions and issues with landfill operators, including 
improvements to gas management and monitoring, leachate 
management, and landfill cover maintenance.

Other key achievements in 2017–18 included: 

•  a review of 10 complex landfill licences as part of a 
landfill sector review. This review commenced in 2016–
17 and aims to improve the standard and consistency of 
licence conditions 

•  a review of EPA’s assessment processes for new cell 
approvals including new cells, capping cells and the 
addition of leachate ponds 

•  the establishment of required competencies for 
environmental auditors undertaking landfill audits.

Prevention of land and underground contamination by 
underground petrol storage tanks 

As one of the most common sources of both land and 
groundwater contamination, leaks from underground 
petroleum storage systems (UPSS) pose significant hazards 
to human health and the environment. 

In 2017–18, we continued our work with the service station 
industry to help operators better manage their UPSS through: 

• the distribution of guidance in the form of a flipchart 
aimed to help non-technical staff monitor and manage 
UPSS and respond to leaks should they occur. This 
flipchart is based on a similar resource developed 
by New South Wales EPA to ensure consistency 
across jurisdictions and received input from industry 
associations and service providers 

• the roll-out of a communications and media campaign, 
which included presentations to industry associations 
on good UPSS management 

• collaboration with our co-regulators such as WorkSafe, 
Metropolitan Fire Brigade and the Country Fire 
Authority (CFA) to improve information sharing
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• the development of an online training module for EPA 
officers out in the field to enhance their understanding 
of UPSS and to help them monitor sites for compliance

• site inspections across Victoria in collaboration with 
WorkSafe 

• the distribution of a self-evaluation checklist to 
service stations to assess their compliance with The 
design, installation and management requirements 
for underground petroleum storage systems (EPA 
Publication 888).

Resource Recovery Facilities Audit Taskforce

In July 2017, Victoria witnessed the destructive impact 
of fire on their community and environment when the 
SKM Recycling plant in Coolaroo caught fire. This fire 
highlighted the need for government authorities to work 
together with resource recovery facilities to reduce fire risk 
and resulted in the establishment of a Resource Recovery 
Facilities Audit Taskforce. 

Chaired by EPA, and with cross-agency representation from 
the Metropolitan Fire Brigade, CFA, EMV, WorkSafe Victoria 
and DELWP, the taskforce’s priority has been to undertake 
a comprehensive audit of recycling facilities across Victoria 
to identify high-risk sites stockpiling combustible recyclable 
and waste materials (CRWM). Approximately 800 sites 
storing or processing CRWM were identified – more than 
700 of which were assessed against a range of criteria to 
prioritise those requiring urgent attention. More than 200 
sites were identified using these criterion. 

The audit found only a small number of sites to be operating 
at best practice and uncovered a range of industry-wide 
issues ranging from minor housekeeping matters to major 
failings, resulting in significant ongoing risk.

As at 30 June 2018, 291 inspections across 114 sites had 
been carried out, with 69 remedial notices issued. This 
work has significantly reduced fire risks at several major 
waste handling facilities across Victoria – preventing harm 
to our environment and human health. 

To support industry, EPA also produced a guideline with 
assistance from fire agencies to help facilities managing 
CRWM reduce their fire risk and comply with the Interim 
Waste Management Policy (Resource Recovery Facilities). 
The Waste Management Policy (Combustible Recyclable 
and Waste Material) is expected to take effect on 29 August 
2018. 

West Gate Tunnel Project 

The West Gate Tunnel Project is a $6.7 billion major road, 
tunnel and bridge project which aims to reduce congestion 
and capacity issues on the West Gate Bridge and provide 
quicker and safer journeys. 

In 2017–18, EPA played a key advisory role throughout 
the project’s planning phase – particularly during 
the Environmental Effects Statement (EES) process. 
This process considers the potential environmental 
or community impacts of a major development and 

we advised on key issues such as air quality, noise, 
groundwater, surface water, spoil management and 
greenhouse gas. 

During the year, EPA also undertook a works approval 
assessment for the road tunnel ventilation system, which 
specifically assessed air, greenhouse gas and noise 
emissions. The works approval was granted following 
extensive engagement with project stakeholders, including 
members of the community and is subject to requirements 
which aim to protect our environment and human health. 
Conditions of approval include the requirement for an 
ambient air quality monitoring program with provision 
for publicly available daily reporting of the monitoring 
program results and that the ventilation system be 
constructed so as it can be retrofitted with pollution 
control equipment in the future if necessary.

Community education was also undertaken following EPA’s 
decision to ensure that the outcomes of the works approval 
and its implications were well understood. 

We will continue to provide advice to ensure construction 
complies with works approval conditions and other 
environmental legislation and policies in 2018–19. 

The West Gate Tunnel Project is expected to become 
operational in 2022.

Sea Lake Hotel 

In April 2018, EPA stepped in to clean up the Sea Lake 
Hotel site in north-west Victoria. The hotel, which burnt 
down in early 2017, was demolished by Buloke Shire Council 
following the blaze in the interests of public safety. 

On inspection of the site, we discovered asbestos within 
the burnt waste and a cleanup notice was issued to the 
site’s owner who had failed to meet requirements. To 
minimise risk to the local community, EPA worked with 
council and WorkSafe to secure the site and engaged a 
licensed asbestos removalist. Numerous rounds of asbestos 
sampling as well as air monitoring were conducted during 
the works to ensure community safety. 

As at 30 June EPA and other regulators were continuing to 
pursue final clean up of the site. 

EPA responded to the high level of public interest in the 
demolition of Sea Lake Hotel, ensuring the site was secure 
and minimising risk to the community.

7. 2017–18 PERFORMANCE CONTINUED
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Case study: Removing a high-risk tyre stockpile 

In 2017–18, EPA successfully removed Victoria’s largest tyre stockpile. Located on the western outskirts of 
Stawell, the stockpile was estimated at more than one million tyres and posed an extremely huge fire risk to the 
township and surrounding communities. 

Had a fire occurred, it would have caused significant environmental, social, economic and agricultural impacts: 
waterway pollution from fire water and contamination, the likely closure of major highway and railway connections 
and significant costs from a firefighting effort that would have likely lasted several months.

To address these risks, EPA led the development of a cross-agency Whole of Victorian Government (WoVG) group. 
This group was tasked with exploring options to eliminate the risk, including the use of regulatory tools across all 
partner agencies.

Following extensive interagency engagement, including advice from the Victorian Government Solicitor’s Office, 
EPA began works on 9 August 2017 to remove the tyres using powers under section 62 of the Environment 
Protection Act 1970. This was the first time section 62 had been exercised in full by us. 

In just nine weeks, 9,500 tonnes (380 truckloads) were removed with support from government partner agencies, 
consultants and local contractors. More than 63 per cent of the materials removed were recycled. 

While the primary aim of this project was to 
eliminate the fire risk to the Stawell community, a 
multitude of benefits were realised; particularly, 
the strengthening of relationships across 
government which has given us a solid foundation 
for more collaborative problem solving going 
forward. 

EPA acknowledges and thanks CFA, EMV, DELWP, 
WorkSafe, the Victorian Government Solicitor’s 
Office, DHHS and Northern Grampians Shire 
Council for their support and commitment 
throughout the project. We also wish to 
thank the Stawell community for their trust and 
cooperation which was vital in ensuring our 
success. 

For more information on the Stawell tyre stockpile 
cleanup, visit www.epa.vic.gov.au/AR2018

In just nine weeks, 380 trucks removed an estimated one million  
tyres from the site in Stawell, with over 65 per cent of  
materials recycled.

EPA collaborated with local council and a range of agencies to complete the job in just nine weeks - half the time 
estimated to remove the stockpile.    
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Noise
Review of Environment Protection (Residential Noise) 
Regulations

In 2017–18, EPA continued our review of the Environment 
Protection (Residential Noise) Regulations which are due 
to expire in October 2018. These regulations only apply 
to noise from residential premises (including during 
construction). 

During the development stage of the new regulations, EPA 
consulted with a reference group of representatives from 
local government and Victoria Police.

In May 2018, EPA invited public comment via the 
Government’s Engage Victoria website. Consultation 
closed on 18 June, with 133 submissions received.

Delivering EPA’s transformation 
In 2017–18, we embarked on the biggest transformation 
program in our history following the Government’s 
response to the Independent Inquiry into EPA. To guide 
our transformation, we developed a five-year whole-of-
organisation strategy called Our environment, Our health. 

We have now delivered year one of the strategy and 
laid the groundwork to help us become the world class 
regulator that Victorians expect us to be: one that protects 
their health and the environment and is underpinned by a 
philosophy of prevention and continuous improvement. 

Highlights from year one of our strategy include the:   

• launch of EPA’s Applied Science Strategy by Victoria’s 
inaugural Chief Environmental Scientist, Dr Andrea 
Hinwood (appointed in 2016–17). The strategy 
sets priorities for applied science, research and 
development, partnerships, and capability building

• roll-out of our Officers for the Protection of the Local 
Environment (OPLE) pilot 

• implementation of a range of initiatives to build our 
emergency management capability and capacity 
for significant incidents. These initiatives included 
the establishment of a dedicated EPA Emergency 
Command Centre at 200 Victoria Street, Carlton, and 
the completion of emergency management training 
for more than 300 staff 

• establishment of a dedicated Industry Guidance Unit 
to help industry and business better understand and 
comply with their environmental obligations 

• development of EPA’s Sanctions Strategy and 
commencement of implementation. This strategy 
outlines our approach to sanctioning, including the 
mix of cases we put into court

• finalisation of EPA’s Capability Framework and 
Assessment, identifying the capabilities we need 
now and into the future. This framework looks at EPA 
holistically and how we can use skills, knowledge, 
technology and process improvements to deliver 
greater public value

• development of an IT Strategy to help EPA achieve 
a coordinated and collaborative approach to data 
collection, analysis and reporting.

The Government’s response to the Inquiry provided 
support for a legislative overhaul of the Environment 
Protection Act 1970 through two phases. The first 
happened in October 2017, when the Environment 
Protection Act 2017 was passed by Parliament. Completing 
the legislative overhaul is the Environment Protection 
Amendment Bill 2018, which proposed amendments to the 
Environment Protection Act 2017. The Amendment Bill was 
passed by Parliament on 22 August 2018.

The new legislation, once operational in July 2020, will 
introduce a general preventative environmental duty that 
is criminally enforceable. This general duty would require 
people conducting activities that pose risks to human 
health and the environment from pollution and waste 
to understand those risks, and take reasonable steps to 
eliminate or minimise risks of harm.

7. 2017–18 PERFORMANCE CONTINUED
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Case study: Victoria’s Chief Environmental Scientist: a credible voice

In 2017, EPA welcomed Chief Environmental Scientist (CES) 
Dr Andrea Hinwood – marking a significant milestone in 
our work to become a world class regulator. 

Since joining EPA, Dr Hinwood has played a key advisory 
role providing advice to EPA’s executives and Board, and 
other senior decision-makers including the Minister for 
Energy, Environment and Climate Change and Victoria’s 
Chief Health Officer. In her first 12 months, Dr Hinwood 
provided and reviewed more than 90 items of advice and 
technical information, attended more than 30 community 
and industry forums and presented at seven conferences. 

Dr Hinwood also played a critical role in EPA’s response 
to emergencies through providing advice to affected 
communities on potential health impacts during the fire at 

Coolaroo in Melbourne’s north-west in July 2017 and the peat fires in south-west Victoria in March 2018. 

Over the past 12 months, another key focus for Dr Hinwood and EPA’s Applied Science Directorate has been building 
EPA’s understanding of emerging contaminants, such as pesticides and per- and polyfluorinated alkyl substances 
(PFAS) in Victoria’s environment. With new industries, infrastructure, changing land uses, population growth and 
changes to our economy, understanding emerging contaminants is crucial to enhancing our effectiveness as a 
science-based, preventative regulator.

In the year ahead, Dr Hinwood and her team will focus on strengthening EPA’s scientific base and promoting our 
expertise through the implementation of our five-year Applied Science Strategy. This strategy is informed by our 
understanding of emerging issues and capability needs. Priority areas for 2018–19 include a focus on research and 
development, enhancing our data capture, management and analysis, and developing and implementing risk-based 
prioritisation processes.

For more information on the work of our Chief Environmental Scientist, visit www.epa.vic.gov.au/AR2018

Dr Andrea Hinwood has played a key advisory role on 
environmental issues and incidents across Victoria, 
and developed EPA’s Applied Science Strategy.

Improving how we regulate
Financial assurance reform 

Financial assurance is a regulatory tool intended to 
prevent the Victorian community from bearing the 
financial cost should an owner or operator be unable or 
unwilling to perform the required cleanup. 

The Environment Protection (Scheduled Premises) 
Regulations 2017 specifies which scheduled activities must 
submit financial assurance. These include premises that 
have licences to conduct PIW management, landfills, bulk 
storage and container washing.

In 2017–18, EPA focused on financial assurance for PIW 
management licences, ensuring that all licensed sites have 
adequate financial assurance for EPA to dispose of the 
stored waste if necessary. 

We also collaborated with DEDJTR Earth Resources to 
ensure a consistent approach between EPA’s financial 
assurance and DEDJTR rehabilitation bonds for power 
station ash landfills. Financial assurance was finalised for 
one power station, with the remaining two expected to be 
finalised in 2018–19. 

Central Dispatch Project 

In January 2018, EPA began work on the Central Dispatch 
Project – a business improvement project aimed at 
streamlining our assessment, triage and response 
functions. 

Staffed between 8.30 am and 10 pm, seven days a week, 
the Central Dispatch Team (CDT) triages pollution reports 
from across Victoria and determines whether an EPA 
authorised officer is required to attend. This centralised 
approach has significantly reduced the demand on our 
field officers and enabled them to focus on higher-level 
incidents. In its first six months of operation, the CDT 
triaged 2,984 pollution reports. 

A major focus for the CDT has also been improving EPA’s 
communication, with pollution reporters now receiving 
an update on the status and/or outcome of their reports 
within 12 hours of an EPA investigation. 

Establishment of the CDT has also resulted in improved 
data collection and response times to incidents.
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Case study: Playing our role in Victoria’s 
emergency response 

Over the weekend of 
17–18 March 2018, four 
fires burnt through 
approximately 15,000 
hectares in Victoria’s 
south-west. A total of 26 
houses are believed to 
have been lost, as well as 
83 sheds and about 8,000 
hectares of pasture. These 
fires burnt into peat beds 
near Terang, Camperdown 
and Cobden resulting 
in high levels of volatile 
organic compounds, PM

2.5
 

and carbon monoxide. 

Between 17 March and 
7 May, 140 EPA staff 
supported the emergency 
response at incident, 
regional and state 
levels for a period of 52 
days – drawing on our 
scientific expertise to 
provide timely advice 
about environmental and 
human health impacts. 
This expertise took many 
forms including more than 

60 air quality reports, more than 30 water samples, and 
formal scientific/technical advice related to issues such 
as environmental impacts from the use of firefighting 
foam, issues relating to acid-sulfate soils and cleanup and 
waste management advice in relation to asbestos, animal 
burial and spoilt milk. 

EPA was also prompt in deploying a staged response of 
incident air monitoring equipment in partnership with the 
Victoria State Emergency Service (VICSES) with the first 
piece of monitoring set up within 24 hours. Data from this 
equipment was streamed onto EPA’s AirWatch website, 
allowing community members to check hourly air quality 
readings for their area. 

In addition to a wide range of portable air monitoring 
devices at 10 separate locations over the incident, we 
debuted our large air monitoring laboratory (AirLab) in 
the town of Cobden. The AirLab provided high-quality 
air monitoring data that informed decision-making and 
advice on public health. This AirLab is the first of its kind 
and specifically designed for prolonged air pollution 
incidents within Victoria. 

For more information on how we’re building our 
emergency management capacity and capability, visit 
www.epa.vic.gov.au/AR2018

7. 2017–18 PERFORMANCE CONTINUED

During the south-
west fires, incident air 
monitoring was deployed 
at 10 separate locations. 
Data from this equipment 
was streamed onto 
EPA’s AirWatch website, 
allowing the community 
to check hourly air quality 
readings for their area.

Emergency management 

EPA continued to review and refine emergency 
management responsibilities in 2017–18 following the 
Inquiry’s recommendation that we clarify and confirm 
our role as technical adviser. 

This involved workshops with 15 external agency 
representatives who interact with EPA during 
emergencies, to hear their experiences of working 
with us and highlighted key themes including the type 
of technical advice required from EPA, our capacity 
to respond to emergencies around the clock, and the 
need for greater collaboration and information sharing 
between EPA and other emergency response agencies.

Over the past year, we’ve made great progress in 
relation to building a whole-of-organisation emergency 
management (EM) capability and enhanced capacity for 
significant incidents. As at 30 June 2018, more than 300 
EPA staff had completed EM training (555 individual 
training outcomes), significantly boosting our Agency 
Command, technical advice and field response capacity. 
In 2017–18, other notable achievements included:

• final implementation of the 2016 VPS Workplace 
Agreement which provides for a more robust 
single, scalable incident management system which 
supports our emergency management capacity and 
capability to respond 24 hour a day, seven days to 
incidents and provide advice

• membership of EPA’s Chief Environmental Scientist 
on the State Coordination Team – Victoria’s peak 
coordination forum for emergency operations 

• the establishment of a dedicated Emergency 
Command Centre at 200 Victoria Street, Carlton, 
and a redundancy Emergency Command Centre 
at our Macleod office. Our Emergency Command 
Centre supports efficient and effective work 
practices, information sharing, collaboration and 
integration with other emergency services and our 
people in the field  

• the implementation of new Incident Management 
Software which will equip EPA for real-time 
situational awareness, information management 
and task management in an emergency

• a partnership with VICSES which increases our 
ability to deploy air monitoring equipment. This 
partnership has seen more than 4,000 VICSES 
volunteers complete an online EPA training 
module in 2017–18 and builds on approximately 
250 volunteers who have previously completed 
face-to-face training. Since the establishment of the 
partnership in March 2017, VICSES volunteers have 
deployed air monitoring equipment to every air 
pollution incident EPA has attended 

• the transfer of control responsibility for Pollution 
of Inland Waters (non-hazardous pollution of 
inland waters) from EPA to DEWLP, in line with the 
Government’s response to the Independent Inquiry 
into EPA. Hazardous materials incidents (on water 
and land) have been clarified as a control role of the 
fire agencies. 
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SKM Recycling plant fire – Coolaroo 

On 13 July 2017, the Metropolitan Fire Brigade attended 
a fire at SKM Recycling in Coolaroo on the northern 
outskirts of Melbourne. EPA responded to this emergency 
by providing incident air monitoring and water sampling as 
well as scientific and technical advice. During the response 
phase, more than 100 EPA staff were deployed to support 
the fire – either at the fire ground, in our Emergency 
Command Centre or out in the community. 

EPA’s response also demonstrated our increased capacity 
and capability for immediate and extended air quality 
monitoring. This includes a partnership with VICSES to assist 
with the deployment and set-up of air quality monitors. 

The frameworks, procedures and standards developed in 
line with the Hazelwood recommendations for air quality 
monitoring of carbon monoxide (CO), fine particles (PM

2.5
) 

and smoke prediction models were also completed and 
available for implementation during the Coolaroo fire 
(Inspector-General for Emergency Management Report, 
November 2017).

A targeted review into the emergency response to the 
Coolaroo fire also presented an opportunity to offer 
assurance to government and the community that lessons 
from past emergencies, such as the Hazelwood fire, have 
turned into sustainable improvements. 

EPA played a key role in the multi-agency response to the 
recycling plant fire in Coolaroo, advising on air monitoring 
and water sampling.

Case study: Supporting industry to comply and operate at best practice

In July 2017, EPA established a new unit to help industry and business better 
understand and comply with their environmental obligations. 

In its first 12 months, the Industry Guidance Unit (IGU) focused on building stronger 
partnerships with business and industry and worked on a range of projects including 
the development of guidance for Underground petroleum storage systems (UPSS) 
and the Combustible Recyclable Waste Management Project.

UPSS

In 2017, almost 70 per cent of fuel purchased every day by Victorians came 
from service stations using UPSS. These systems have the potential to leak and 
some components of petroleum are highly toxic and carcinogenic – for example, 
benzene, toluene, ethyl-benzene and xylene which can lead to environmental 
damage, risks to human health and expensive cleanup costs. 

While UPSS guidance existed, EPA identified the need for practical and simple guidelines. The fuel industry was a willing 
partner and keen to better understand its obligations to protect the environment and service station businesses through 
regular monitoring for leaks. 

In February 2018, an easy-to-use flipchart was produced to help UPSS operators understand their obligations, and 1,400 
copies of Victorian underground petroleum storage systems: A guide to preventing and managing leaks and spills (EPA 
Publication 1670) were distributed to service stations across Victoria. 

‘We applaud EPA for the cooperative approach taken in respect to the management of environmental risk 
at service station sites in Victoria. These resources are yet another example of how EPA is working with our 
industry to protect the environment.’

  Mark McKenzie, Chief Executive Officer, Australasian Convenience and Petroleum Marketers Association

Combustible Recyclable Waste Management Project

In July 2017, a fire started at a Coolaroo recycling plant that took 20 days to extinguish. With people forced to evacuate 
or, in 16 cases, seek medical attention – this fire highlighted the need for stockpiled combustible materials to be properly 
managed to reduce the risk of fires. In response, IGU undertook the first co-designed prevention-based guidance for the 
management and storage of combustible, recyclable and waste materials. 

Management and storage of combustible recyclable and waste materials guideline (EPA Publication 1667) was developed 
with waste industry and government stakeholders over a six-week period to align with Minister D’Ambrosio’s announcement 
of a Resource Recovery Facilities Audit Taskforce in July 2017. This publication supports business and industry to manage 
the risks of fire at their facilities and comply with the Interim Waste Management Policy (WMP). EPA has worked closely with 
DELWP and fire service agencies to ensure stakeholders can provide input. As at 30 June 2018, the WMP and guideline are 
still under review, with EPA taking a lead role in ensuring stakeholders can provide input. 

For more information on our industry guidance work, visit www.epa.vic.gov.au/AR2018

Working with the industry, EPA has 
developed practical guidance for service 
stations on underground petroleum storage.
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Information and Communications 
Technology Strategy

In 2017, the Government’s response to the Independent 
Inquiry into EPA noted the increasing importance of data, 
technology and analytics to EPA’s work. The Information 
Communications Technology Strategy (ICT Strategy) has 
been developed as a direct response to the Government’s 
support for Recommendation 20.2 from the Inquiry. 

The ICT Strategy will support EPA to deliver our vision 
of: ‘A healthy environment that supports a liveable and 
prosperous Victoria now and always.’ The ICT Strategy 
focuses not only on EPA, but also on connecting with 
Government and community. EPA’s ICT Strategy vision, 
‘Making EPA smarter, faster and more effective’, was 
developed with consideration to how the ICT Strategy will 
support delivery of EPA’s strategic goals and objectives. 
Underpinning the ICT Strategy’s vision is the purpose, 
‘Provide accessible and trusted services and solutions 
for effective engagement, informed decision-making and 
collaboration’ and how ICT capability will enable this vision.

To realise the ICT Strategy, EPA commenced the 
development of the IT Transformation Program (ITTP), 
which seeks to build the technology capabilities that will 
benefit a modern and agile regulator to deliver on our 
goals. The ITTP is a progressive transformation of the 
technology environment and capabilities and will continue 
until 2020–21. 

Other key initiatives throughout 2017–18 included the 
following:

• We launched the Environment Data Information 
Systems Online (EDISON) project which seeks to 
establish a new data management platform. This work 
will support programs including EPA’s citizen science 
activities, ambient and incident air monitoring, and 
emergency management and response activities 
including the dissemination of information to 
impacted communities 

• We launched EPA’s Information Security Uplift 
Program. This program sets out a roadmap for us to 
improve our information security maturity over the 
next three years and includes information security 
training and awareness for staff; securing information 
and systems against hacking and adverse events; 
and developing security incident response plans and 
procedures. The program will also enable EPA to plan 
and implement the Victorian Protective Data Security 
Standards Framework

• We enabled our staff to work more flexibly and 
respond quickly to emergency incidents and pollution 
events by replacing all desktop computers with tablet 
devices, migrating to a cloud email platform and 
enabling a cloud storage solution

• We will continue to work with VicRoads to improve 
information exchange. VicRoads provides EPA with 
access to its database, which enables us to verify 
vehicle and driver details following litter, noisy and 
smoky vehicle reports.

Environmental Audit Reform Program 

The Auditor Performance Tracking Register was launched 
last year to help identify patterns of behaviour in auditor 
performance and to monitor and assess the effectiveness 
of interventions. Use of the register has successfully 
reduced the time required to assess auditors for 
subsequent appointments. 

In 2017–18, EPA’s Environmental Audit Unit (EAU) 
introduced a quarterly newsletter for appointed auditors 
to increase awareness of EPA’s work and which includes 
new guidance material and updates from auditor working 
group meetings. 

Throughout 2017–18, EPA engaged with councils and 
other planning authorities to ensure they understood 
the environmental and human health risks associated 
with development of potentially contaminated land and 
groundwater, and the requirements for appropriate 
assessment and remediation of sites as part of the 
planning approval process. This is a key focus for EPA 
as Melbourne and many regional centres grow rapidly, 
resulting in increased urban renewal and development on 
former industrial land. 

During the year, EPA also worked closely with several 
councils to ensure that contaminated sites, where 
assessment was not required through planning 
mechanisms, were safe for current or proposed land use. 
This included use of EPA’s regulatory tools that require 
appropriate assessment and remediation through the 
Environmental Audit System. 

As part of its response to the Independent Inquiry 
into EPA, the Government has also begun trialling a 
preliminary risk screen pilot for a more efficient and cost-
effective approach to assessing sites with a low to medium 
potential for contamination. Currently, a full environmental 
audit is required when land is to be used for residences, 
childcare centres or schools. The new approach will 
be based on a desktop study and site inspection and a 
preliminary risk screen will determine if a detailed audit is 
necessary. The pilot is expected to run until late 2019.

EPA’s focus on conflict of interest (auditor independence) 
issues is expected to continue in 2018–19, with an update 
to Environmental auditor – Guidelines for appointment and 
conduct (EPA Publication 865). This guidance follows work 
across EPA to determine the most effective competency 
expectations for auditors undertaking different aspects 
of landfill auditing. The updated guidance will include 
clarification on these competencies. 

7. 2017–18 PERFORMANCE CONTINUED
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Case study: Tackling local pollution and waste 
issues 

In February 2018, EPA welcomed 11 Officers for the 
Protection of the Local Environment (OPLEs). 

Known as OPLEs, the officers complement the 
work of EPA’s authorised officers and are part of 
a pilot program that aims to improve responses 
to small-scale pollution, waste, and health and 
wellbeing issues; improve industry compliance 
with environmental obligations; prevent harm; and 
strengthen EPA’s relationships with local government. 

Authorised under the EP Act, OPLEs work with their 
assigned councils to identify and resolve smaller-
scale local pollution and waste issues such as small 
to medium scale illegal dumping, litter, noise, and 
dust and odour complaints arising from business 
and industry. Hitting the ground running, our OPLEs 
responded to 335 incident reports and completed 299 
inspections at 236 locations up to 30 June.

As well as responding to live issues, OPLEs are 
currently working on longer-term projects within their 
councils and communities. These projects include 
the roll-out of a stormwater improvement project 
with motor vehicle wreckers to identify and assess 
potential contamination, and the implementation of 
a program for local builders to increase awareness of 
their environmental obligations.

Our thanks to pilot program partners, the 
municipalities of Central Goldfields, Buloke, Loddon, 
Port Phillip, Casey, Greater Dandenong, Surf Coast, 
Wyndham, Greater Shepparton, Mildura, Wodonga, 
Brimbank and Hobsons Bay for their ongoing support.

For more information on our OPLE pilot program,  
visit www.epa.vic.gov.au/AR2018

Locally based OPLEs work with councils and the 
community to resolve issues of concern from illegal 
dumping, to dust and odour complaints.

Land use planning

Population growth and more intensive use of land impacts 
Victoria’s amenity, public health and our environment. 

In 2017–18, EPA worked with key planning stakeholders to 
increase our influence on strategic land use planning to 
ensure environmental issues are considered. This work has 
seen us collaborate with DELWP on the development of 
a statutory trigger for planning authorities to seek early 
advice from EPA on strategic planning processes that 
involve significant human health and environmental risks 
or development near a licensed facility, such as a landfill or 
wastewater treatment facility. 

During the year, we worked with the Victorian Planning 
Authority and consulted with local councils and industry 
associations on another statutory trigger which would 
require strategic processes such as scheme arrangements 
and rezoning to be referred to us when they involve 
development near a licensed facility. It is anticipated that 
this statutory trigger will be finalised in 2018–19.

Work is also underway with DELWP, the Victorian Planning 
Authority, the Metropolitan Waste and Resource Recovery 
Group and SV to improve our collaboration on planning 
around waste and resource recovery facilities, particularly 
the establishment and maintenance of buffers to avoid 
encroachment problems and help manage health, safety 
and amenity impacts. 

Guidance for select high-risk industries is progressing 
and will provide planners with a clear explanation of EPA’s 
regulatory standards and obligations.

Licensing improvements 

EPA’s Periodic Licence Review Program aims to ensure 
that licences are kept up to date with changing science, 
environmental conditions and community standards.

In 2017–18, more than 650 licences held by licensed 
premises were reviewed following the development of new 
standard licence conditions. The review followed extensive 
consultation with duty holders and industry organisations 
and aimed to improve compliance. We also worked with 
the mining regulator Earth Resources Regulation (ERR) 
to avoid duplication of regulation and reduce red tape for 
sites regulated by both regulators. 

Throughout the year, we began a review of mines, power 
stations and coal processing sector licences, with 34 out of 
42 sector licences reviewed and amended. The remainder 
are due for completion in late 2018. 

A separate review process for three brown coal-fired 
power stations in Gippsland – AGL Loy Yang A, IPM Loy 
Yang B and Energy Australia commenced in 2017–18. Given 
community interest in this review, community groups 
were invited to make submissions in February 2018 and 
consultation was open to all Victorians in April and May. 
Sixteen community groups and 477 Victorians made 
submissions during the review process.
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Improving site practices 

Developed in 2017–18, EPA’s site practices project aims 
to prevent land contamination and stormwater pollution 
at small to medium industrial sites. In addition to the 
economic cost of remediation and loss of land, spills to 
land can also contaminate groundwater, causing potential 
harm to human health via direct and indirect exposure 
over time. 

As part of a specific focus on storage and handling 
practices, new guidance was developed to ensure liquid 
substances are appropriately stored and handled to 
prevent spills. 

In 2018–19, a survey will be undertaken with unlicensed 
small to medium businesses to enhance our understanding 
of their drivers, challenges, habits and knowledge bases. 
This engagement will inform further guidance and 
campaigns to help embed improved site practices across 
Victoria.

Works approvals 

In May 2018, a new works approval page was launched 
on the Engage Victoria website. This page is part of 
EPA’s focus on encouraging community involvement in 
our assessment of works approval applications and it 
encouraged community submissions on Australian Paper’s 
works approval application for an energy-from-waste 
facility in Maryvale in the Latrobe Valley. One hundred and 
fifteen submissions were received during the consultation 
process. 

During the year, we continued to advocate for the joint 
processing of works approval applications alongside 
council planning approval processes and the use of 
joint drop-in information sessions to help community 
understand how they can participate in the works approval 
process. These information sessions are typically held 
midway through the public consultation period and are 
proving a highly effective engagement tool. 

New guidance was published to explain the works approval 
process for those wishing to establish new or expanded 
piggeries. Guidance was also developed to assist works 
approval applicants to comply with their obligations under 
the Climate Change Act 2017.

Decommissioning of industrial facilities

EPA has developed a standardised approach to support 
officers in managing the decommissioning of licensed 
premises. The new approach ensures improved 
consistency and process transparency and minimises the 
risk of communication gaps between EPA and licence 
holders. 

As part of this project, EPA published new forms to make 
it easier for licence holders to surrender a licence (EPA 
Publication F1001, Application for licence surrender) or to 
apply for an amendment to an existing financial assurance 
or a release of financial assurance (EPA Publication 
F1002, Application for amendment or release of financial 
assurance). 

Research and Development 
In May 2018, EPA signed an agreement for a partnership 
with BehaviourWorks Australia (BWA) at Monash 
University’s Sustainable Development Institute. The new 
agreement builds on six years of collaboration and more 
than 20 completed projects. This partnership includes 
embedding a researcher in residence with EPA for 60 days 
of the year; the secondment of EPA’s social scientist; and 
collaboration and engagement with behavioural experts 
and practitioners from BWA and nine other partners. A 
research agenda is expected to be developed in July 2018. 

This year, EPA and BWA initiated two Graduate Research 
Industry Partnership PhD projects. The first project aims 
to identify and trial approaches that engage Victorians 
to proactively prevent their exposure to pollutants. The 
second project is focused on identifying behaviours and 
regulatory tools that will help EPA meet our proposed 
general duty requirement to prevent harm to human 
health and the environment from pollution and waste. 

In 2017–18, we received funding through the Australian 
Research Council’s Linkage Projects scheme which aims to 
promote national and international research partnerships 
between researchers and business, industry, community 
organisations and other publicly funded research agencies. 
The following projects have been funded: 

• Innovative, cost-effective air quality networks 
Over the past 12 months, EPA trialled new smart air 
monitoring sensor technology. This research has 
developed innovative, cost-effective and high-resolution 
air quality networks by delivering new sensors, systems 
and applications that are now being used in several 
projects to improve environmental knowledge.

• Diagnosing river health using invertebrate traits 
and DNA barcodes 
This project will develop a set of new ecological 
health indicators using traits and genetic markers. 
The development of these trait-based diagnostic 
assessment and DNA barcoding methods will improve 
EPA’s ability to diagnose impacts to river health and 
will help provide additional indicators and standards for 
future state policies.

7. 2017–18 PERFORMANCE CONTINUED
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• Advancing water pollution emissions modelling in 
cities for the future

 This project aims to develop a modelling tool that 
agencies and industry can use to explore stormwater 
pollution and mitigation scenarios in changing cities. 
This will help identify different sources of current and 
future stormwater pollution, which will help inform 
future policies and management strategies, as well as 
prioritising compliance and enforcement activities.

• Safe to swim with the bugs? From hazard to risk 
management 

 This project will develop and use innovative methods 
to characterise microbial risk and recreational 
use in the mid to upper reaches of the Yarra. The 
information from this project will be used by EPA 
and Melbourne Water to tackle pollution sources and 
improve recreational water quality in the Yarra.

Environmental Monitoring Capability Review

In 2017–18, EPA began a review of our air and water 
monitoring networks to improve data sharing and 
accessibility and community communications of 
environmental data through different multimedia channels in 
a format that is easy to understand. 

As a first step, an internal evaluation of EPA’s monitoring 
and assessment program was undertaken which identified 
several gaps and issues including the need for an 
organisational strategic framework which will be developed 
during 2018–19. This framework will provide clarity and 
principles for monitoring and assessment, define governance 
arrangements for decision-making and processes for 
adaption and improvement and ensure that monitoring and 
assessment programs align with EPA’s organisational goals 
and provide best value to the community.

Throughout the year, evaluation workshops were also held 
with government partners on the purpose and design of 
our future monitoring network. These partners included 
DELWP, DHHS, Melbourne Water, Office of the Commissioner 
for Environmental Sustainability, Parks Victoria, South East 
Water, the University of Melbourne, Federation University and 
VicRoads. 

In May and June 2018, we appointed a consultant to conduct 
focus groups with the community to better understand how 
they prefer to view and use environmental information. This 
then fed into user-experience design sessions to develop a 
prototype to display this information. 

Regulatory Intelligence Strategy

Regulatory intelligence is the consolidation of diverse 
data, information and evidence into meaningful, useful and 
relevant analysis that enables transparent, evidence-based 
regulatory decision-making. 

In 2017–18, EPA implemented the second year of our 
Regulatory Intelligence Strategy. Key achievements included: 

• the development of a profiling capability to identify 
potential and alleged offenders and their modes of 
operation and networks to support our Illegal Dumping 
Strikeforce Program

• the capability to analyse land-use change and illegal 
dumping over time via spatial analysis

• the creation of risk identification tools to enable 
prioritising compliance inspections based on risk of 
harm, to support the Government’s Resource Recovery 
Facilities Audit Taskforce, and other priority projects 
including our work to identify potential contamination at 
shooting ranges

• the commencement of a range of initiatives to build our 
strategic intelligence capability to support awareness 
and understanding of organisational-level threats, 
opportunities and uncertainty relevant to EPA. As part 
of this work, we developed a prioritisation process for 
highlighting and ranking current and emerging hazards 
from pollution and waste.

EPA also provided significant input to the initiation of 
national and state regulatory intelligence communities of 
practice designed to enhance information sharing as well 
as skills and capabilities between regulators. In 2017–18, 
activities included intelligence analysis workshops, co-
development of data sharing and analytics capabilities, 
and formalisation of information sharing and interagency 
cooperation arrangements to take action against polluters.

In line with our goal to respond to harm, we supported 
targeted enforcement against illegal handling and disposal 
of waste on public and private land through the Illegal 
Dumping Strikeforce Program. Strong collaboration 
between EPA’s regulatory intelligence, surveillance 
and other units will provide decision-makers with data 
visualisation and access tools, tactical intelligence profiles, 
intelligence reports, and strategic analysis that provide 
better intelligence on environmental threats.
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7. 2017–18 PERFORMANCE CONTINUED

Engaging with our community 

Ensuring Victorians understand who we are and what we 
do is a key priority for EPA, with several events held with 
industry and community throughout 2017–18. These events 
included our new Environmental Science Series, a public 
panel session during National Science Week and Summer 
by the Sea. 

Environmental Science Series 

Launched in 2017, EPA’s Environmental Science Series is a 
series of free public lectures addressing issues affecting 
the environment of Melbourne and Victoria. Each lecture 
explores how science is used to reduce the impact of 
these issues. Guest speakers provide their insights into 
environmental science topics such as air quality, the 
impact of urban green areas, transport, planning, noise 
and water quality. 

Each lecture attracted more than 200 participants (live 
and webstream audiences). 

National Science Week 2017

National Science Week is Australia’s annual celebration 
of science and technology. As a science-based regulator, 
this event provides EPA with an opportunity to celebrate 
our scientific capabilities and improve community 
understanding of the science behind our work. 

In 2017, we hosted our second National Science Week 
public panel session at Melbourne’s Federation Square. 
This year’s topic was ‘World’s most liveable city? – Can 
science help Melbourne do better?’ and attracted 
approximately 200 people. 

Summer by the Sea

In January 2018, EPA hosted two events as part of 
Summer by the Sea – an annual program hosted by 
Coastcare Victoria to increase awareness of the challenges 
facing Victoria’s marine and coastal environments.

This year, EPA’s topic was ‘Keeping our beaches healthy’, 
with events held at Williamstown and St Kilda beaches. 
Activities provided participants of all ages with a better 
understanding of the work of our Environment Protection 
Officers and how we investigate pollution reports as well 
as the impact of microplastics on our waterways. 

Minister for Energy, Environment and Climate Change, the Hon. 
Lily D’Ambrosio MP at EPA’s Summer by the Sea Program.

Building strong partnerships: EPA’s 
reference groups

In 2018, EPA launched the Strategic Advisory Group, 
gaining insights specific to the EPA reform program from 
key executive-level partners. EPA has also continued to 
receive valuable insights from our three existing reference 
groups: the Community Reference Group, the Water 
Industry Reference Group and the Business Reference 
Group. 

The Community and Business reference groups meet 
quarterly and discuss matters related to environment 
protection, community engagement and the development 
of new environmental standards.

The Water Industry Reference Group meets twice a year, 
with subgroups meeting as needed to collaboratively 
address industry problems. 

In 2017–18, our reference groups focused on the 
implementation of the Government’s response to the 
Independent Inquiry into EPA and topics such as recycling 
stockpiles and the Officers for the Protection of the Local 
Environment pilot program.

Understanding our audience 

In 2017–18, EPA conducted market research to better 
understand community perceptions and awareness of 
EPA so that we can communicate more effectively with 
Victorians. 

We conducted eight focus groups and 15 in-depth 
interviews with community and small to medium 
businesses. In addition, 410 Victorians participated in a 
phone survey. 

The primary purpose of this research was to:

• have a base level of community understanding of EPA

• understand how EPA currently connects and engages 
with our audiences

• identify what key messages will engage and inspire 
audiences for the future

• identify what effects these insights might have in any 
future refreshing of corporate identity.

Our market research is used to inform the ongoing 
development of EPA’s brand, narrative and target audience 
strategy.

EPA has committed to undertake an annual stakeholder 
insights survey to better understand our stakeholders. 
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Pollution reports, performance targets and deliverables
Pollution reports

In 2017–18, EPA received more than 13,000 pollution reports from the community. EPA also received reports related to 
emergencies and pollution notifications from businesses.

Table 7.2: Total pollution reports

2017–18 2016–17 2015–16 2014–15 2013–14

Pollution reports from community 13,244 10,577 9,201 9,376 10,490

Emergency reports 168 195 246 342 309

Business notifications 1,880 647 1,565 1,454 1,393

Total 15,292 11,419 11,012 11,172 12,192

Table 7.3: Total pollution reports by region

Metro
Southern 

Metro
South-

west
North-

west Gippsland
North-

east
Not 

assigned1 Total

Odour 2,281 1,240 340 250 149 131 75 4,466

Noise 1,578 415 237 100 98 99 199 2,726

Water 1095 393 172 84 131 101 136 2,112

Waste 877 440 209 165 129 139 144 2,103

Dust 420 297 107 51 62 31 44 1,012

Smoke 264 129 253 37 47 38 35 803

Not assigned 2 5 3 3 1 1 7 2 22

Emergency 
report

77 28 12 13 10 23 5 168

Business 
notification

557 445 331 97 261 150 39 1,880

Total1 7,154 3,390 1,664 798 888 719 679 15,292

Notes:
1. As at 30 June 2018, 679 pollution reports were not allocated.
2. As at 30 June 2018, 22 pollution reports were not allocated to a specific pollution segment.
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Summary of compliance, enforcement and assessment activities

The table below provides a summary of EPA’s compliance, enforcement and assessment activities during 2017–18.

Table 7.4: Compliance, enforcement and assessment activities*

Activity Notes 2017–18 2016–17 2015–16 2014–15

Industry programs     

Inspections 1 2,225 1,839 1,985 2,249

Pollution abatement notices 2 392 273 267 301

Cleanup notices 2 180 153 188 234

Minor works pollution abatement notices 2 60 53 59 76

Prosecutions completed 3 22 11 12 6

Official warnings 4 110 99 121 94

Penalty infringement notices 4 83 109 59 73

Environmental audits completed 5 114 168 217 213

Works approvals issued 18 18 26 27

Applications exempt from the need for approval 6 33 23 38 36

Licences amended/transferred 6 82 64 82 77

Planning referrals advised on 6 807 757 798 817

Vehicle programs

Noisy vehicle notice 7 1,676 966 955 1,732

Smoky vehicle notice 8 1,617 1,744 2,015 2,334

Infringement notices 9 64 12 45 36

Official warnings 14 12 11 15

Litter programs

Infringement notices 10 12,165 12,984 15,141 13,403

Notes:
*  Numbers from previous years may have changed due to system updates or new data becoming available.
1.  Performance exceeded prior year achievement in part due to increased inspection activity to support the Resource Recovery 

Facilities Audit Taskforce. Additional officers were trained this year, thereby increasing capacity to carry out inspections.
2.  Increased activity compared to last year may be attributed to increased inspection activity following establishment of the Resource 

Recovery Facilities Audit Taskforce. 
3.  Twenty-two prosecutions arose out of 15 separate environmental incidents.
4.  The volume of activity relates to repeat offenders with increasing culpability and EPA’s work to escalate further up the scale of 

sanctions, beyond infringement and into comprehensive investigation and licence suspension.
5.  This measure reflects decisions made three to five years ago to develop land that was, at that time, not suitable for sensitive uses 

such as private residences and schools. The number of audits is a lag indicator of contaminated site development confidence.
6.  The volume of activity for this measure depends on external factors.
7.  Following the memorandum of agreement between Victoria Police and EPA, noisy and smoky vehicle reports from Victoria 

Police are being sent to EPA using the mobile data terminal (MDT). The increase in number of noisy vehicle notices issued can be 
attributed to efficiency of the MDT system, which eliminates the need for police officers to fill paper or electronic spotting forms, 
that earlier had to be individually emailed, faxed or posted out. 

8.  The slight decline may be attributed to fewer reports were received from the public compared with prior years.
9.  The increase may be attributed to infringement notices being issued for failing to provide a certificate of compliance by the due 

date as required by a section 55AC notice, effective June 2018.
10.  The number of infringement notices issued is influenced by the number of reports received by the public and then approved by 

EPA. In 2017–18, there was a slight increase in reports received, however, compared with last year, a higher proportion of reports 
were rejected due to technical issues and a focus on process improvements, resulting in fewer infringement notices issued.

7. 2017–18 PERFORMANCE CONTINUED
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Performance against government performance targets

The following table shows EPA’s performance against output targets set in the Victorian Government Budget Paper No. 3 
Service Delivery, and committed to in the Minister’s Statement of Expectation 2017–18.

Table 7.5: Budget Paper No. 3 Service Delivery

Indicator Notes 2017–18 Target 2017–18 Actual

Events that engage business and community in environment protection 1 10–12 24

Activities that support business to comply with environmental 
obligations 

2 15–20 23

Inspections that test compliance of licensed premises 3 200–250 279

EPA prosecutions are successful and conditions in enforceable undertakings 
are focused on improving environmental performance 

4 90% 100%

Land audits submitted by EPA-appointed auditors are reviewed to ensure 
compliance with statutory requirements and guidelines

 5 90% 97%

Notices complied with by due date or escalation in line with Compliance and 
Enforcement Policy

90% 91%

Pollution reporters requesting follow-up by EPA receives contact within 
three working days

 6 80% 97%

Works approvals and licences completed within required statutory timelines  96% 99%

Output cost 7 $122.6m $140.4m

Notes:
1.  EPA exceeded target on this new measure introduced in 2017–18 and plans to review increasing target for future years.
2.  EPA slightly exceeded target on this new measure introduced in 2017–18
3.  EPA exceeded target due to higher focus on licence compliance inspections during 2017–18.
4.  EPA was successful in all prosecutions completed in 2017–18.
5.  As part of our focus on ensuring compliance with statutory requirements, EPA has reviewed almost all land audits for FY2017–18. 

This is consistent with prior year’s performance.
6.  EPA exceeded target due to ongoing commitment and effort towards improving customer service. EPA is in discussions to increase 

the target for this measure effective 2018–19.
7.  The higher than budgeted output cost predominately relates to the timing of payments to various portfolio agencies from the 

Sustainability Fund.

Table 7.6: Minister’s Statement of Expectations 2017–18

Measure Target Notes
2017–18 

Progress

1.  Periodic reviews of the currency and 
effectiveness of EPA licence conditions

Review effectiveness of EPA licences including 
a review of the standard conditions that apply 
to all licences

1 Achieved

2.  Time taken by EPA for a cleanup to extent 
possible (CUTEP) decision following 
submission from an environmental auditor

80 per cent within 56 days Achieved

3.  Percentage of CUTEP decisions exempt from 
approval by EPA (that is, decision made by 
the auditor)

35 per cent Achieved

4.  Activities that support business to comply 
with environment protection legislation

At least 15 activities Achieved

Notes:
1.  Standard licence reviews: EPA amended all our 650+ licences with updated standard licence conditions. The new standard licence 

conditions:
 • are in plain English, making them clearer to licence holders 
 • enable compliance checks 
 • are legally enforceable. 
 •  EPA updated the supporting document (EPA Publication 1322, Licence management guidelines) which explains how to follow 

licence conditions. 
 •  Mining, power stations and coal processing industries licence reviews: The review of sector-specific issues for mining, power 

stations and coal processing industries is underway. EPA has amended most licences in these sectors and the rest are due for 
completion in late 2018.
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8. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE SUMMARY  

Overview of financial performance
The Victorian Government considers the net result from transactions to be the appropriate measure of financial 
management that can be directly attributed to government policy. 

In 2017–18, EPA achieved a net result from transactions of $24.2 million, primarily due to increased Prescribed Industrial 
Waste (PIW) levy income driven by major infrastructure programs across the state reflecting the volatility and uncertainty 
of several of EPA’s income sources. In addition, the result is impacted by the accounting treatment of reform asset 
funding associated with the ‘Bringing EPA into the modern era’  initiative, which will be capitalised on EPA’s balance sheet.

Both total income and expenses increased during the year, primarily associated with the extensive transformation 
program underpinned by the reform funding received for the ‘Bringing EPA into the modern era’ initiative. EPA received 
reform funding of $48.8 million for the second year of this five-year initiative, which is due to expire in 2020–21.

Table 8.1: EPA five-year financial summary ($’000)

Notes 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Total income from transactions 1 135,505 101,399 91,177 251,571 220,876

Total expenses from transactions (111,286) (92,010) (74,833) (121,284) (132,834)

Net result from transactions 24,219 9,389 16,344 130,287 88,042

Net result for the period 22,077 3,656 4,894 128,270 81,905

Net cash flow from operating 
activities

14,160 24,787 64,070 109,997 119,297

Total assets 2 208,261 186,751 169,357 594,092 473,688

Total liabilities 32,080 32,647 21,327 22,035 30,213

Net assets 176,181 154,104 148,030 572,057 443,475

Notes:
1.  As a consequence of the transfer of the Sustainability Fund from EPA to the Department of Environment Land Water and Planning 

(Department) as at 1 July 2015, EPA no longer recognise Municipal and Industrial (M&I) Landfill levies as revenue
2.  The Environment Protection (Amendment) Act 2006 introduced increased and differential levies on the disposal of PIW to landfill 

to reflect the level of hazard posed by the different categories of PIW.  EPA only receives a portion of these levies for operational 
purposes based on the PIW Revenue Charter.  The accumulated balances of these levies is held in a separate account within the 
Environment Protection Fund for the purposes of funding specific environment protection initiatives.

Financial performance review
Total income from transactions was $135.5 million, representing a $34.1 million increase (34 per cent) from the previous 
year. The increase is primarily due to higher reform funding received for the ‘Bringing EPA into the modern era’  initiative 
and increased Prescribed Industrial Waste (PIW) levy income driven by major infrastructure programs continuing across 
the state.

Total expenses from transactions were $111.3 million, representing a $19.3 million increase (21 per cent) from the previous 
year, primarily due to the implementation of reform activities associated with the ‘Bringing EPA into the modern era’  
initiative.

Financial position – balance sheet
Net assets increased by $22.1 million compared to the previous year primarily due to increased cash holdings associated 
with the net result from transactions and timing of receivables from the Department. 



33  

Cash flows
The overall cash flow from operating activities decreased by $10.6 million compared to 2016–17, primarily due to the 
timing of payments relating to the cleanup of a commercial site in regional Victoria.

Capital projects/asset investment programs
EPA continues to invest in asset programs that align with our strategic goals, including utilisation of the reform asset 
funding received as part of the ‘Bringing EPA into the modern era’ initiative.

Subsequent events
On 1 July 2018, the Environment Protection Act 2017 became effective and transitioned EPA from an Administrative Office 
of the Department to an Independent Statutory Authority, operating under a new governance structure consisting of a 
Governing Board as the Responsible Body.

The Victorian Parliament passed the Environment Protection Amendment Bill 2018 on 22 August 2018, which is now 
subject to Royal Assent from Victoria’s Governor.  This was a key milestone in the Authority’s continuing organisation-
wide transformation to prepare for the commencement of the amendment on 1 July 2020. The transformation program 
continues to be underpinned by our organisational strategy, Our environment, Our health. This process is expected 
to continue for a number of years and any potential financial impacts of the changes will be assessed in line with the 
Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting 
Directions, Australian Accounting Standards including interpretations, and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements.



34  EPA ANNUAL REPORT 2017–2018

9. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE AND GOVERNANCE 
ARRANGEMENTS  

Governance arrangements
Chairperson and the Interim Advisory Board

Chairperson

Ms Cheryl Batagol PSM was appointed as Chairperson in 
September 2009. The role of the Chairperson is to set the 
standards and the strategic direction for EPA, liaise with 
stakeholders and monitor the organisation’s performance.

Ms Batagol has more than 40 years’ experience in the 
waste management, water and environmental sectors. 
Cheryl brings to the role her prior experience with 
numerous government bodies including as Chair of 
Melbourne Water, board member of City West Water and 
Southern Rural Water, Chair of EcoRecycle Victoria, Deputy 
Chair and board member of Sustainability Victoria and a 
member of the Victorian Catchment Management Council 
and the Victorian Sustainability Fund Advisory Panel. 

Ms Batagol is also the Chair of the Cooperative Research 
Centre for Water Sensitive Cities (CRCWSC) and the Chair 
of the Heads of EPAs Australia and New Zealand.

Interim Advisory Board

On 9 January 2017, the Minister for Energy, Environment 
and Climate Change established a non-statutory 
ministerial advisory committee – known as the 
Environment Protection Authority Interim Advisory Board.

The Interim Advisory Board’s functions were solely limited 
to the provision of advice to the EPA Chairperson and the 
Minister. All powers and responsibilities currently vested 
in EPA, the EPA Chairperson and EPA CEO continued while 
the Interim Advisory Board was operating.

The seven-member Interim Advisory Board was chaired by 
Ms Batagol in an ex-officio capacity.

Dr John Stocker AO 

Dr Stocker AO has a background in medical research. 
He was formerly the Chief Executive and subsequently 
Chairman of CSIRO, the Australian Government’s Chief 
Scientist Australia and a non-executive director of Telstra. 
Dr Stocker is a Fellow of the Royal Australasian College of 
Physicians and the Australian Academy of Technological 
Sciences and Engineering. 

Dr Stocker completed his Bachelor of Medical Science 
and Bachelor of Medicine/Bachelor of Surgery at the 
University of Melbourne before obtaining his PhD at the 
Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research. Dr 
Stocker chaired EPA’s Science, Engineering and Health 
Committee.

Professor Rebekah Brown 

Professor Brown is Director of the Monash Sustainable 
Development Institute, at Monash University. The Institute 
is a leading interdisciplinary research and education 
centre working collaboratively with government, industry 
and philanthropists to advance the knowledge, policy and 
practice of sustainable development.

Professor Brown is also a Director of the RISE (Revitalising 
Urban Settlements and their Environments) Program, 
focused on South East Asia and the Pacific, which is 
funded by the Wellcome Trust. She was formerly the 
Chief Research Officer at CRCWSC and a Professor of 
Environmental Sociology at Monash University. 

Professor Brown holds a Bachelor of Civil Engineering 
(Honours) from Monash University and a PhD in 
Environmental Studies from the University of New South 
Wales. 

Mr Ross Pilling 

Mr Pilling is Chair of Swinburne University’s Industry 
Research Advisory Committee and the Victorian 
Government’s Advanced Manufacturing Advisory Council. 
He is also a member of the Innovation Investment 
Committee of the Innovative Manufacturing Cooperative 
Research Centre. Mr Pilling was formerly the Deputy 
National President of the Australian Industry Group, and a 
longstanding board member of the Plastics and Chemicals 
Industry Association. 

His senior executive career with leading multinational 
companies, BASF and BOC, included several General 
Manager and Managing Director roles in Asia, Australia 
and Europe. He brings an international, multicultural 
perspective to leadership and extensive experience 
of start-ups, post-merger integrations and business 
transformations.

Mr Pilling has a Master of Science from Cranfield Institute 
of Technology and a Bachelor of Engineering (Honours) 
from the University of Liverpool. He is a Fellow of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors and of the 
Australian Academy of Technology and Engineering. In 
2016, he was awarded an Honorary Doctor of Engineering 
by Swinburne University of Technology. 
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Ms Monique Conheady 

Ms Conheady is a Commissioner with the Taxi Services 
Commission, a Director with the Victorian Responsible 
Gambling Foundation and a co-founder and Director of 
DC Power Co. Previously, she was co-founder and Chief 
Executive Officer of Flexicar and held senior management 
roles at Hertz Australia after it purchased Flexicar.

Ms Conheady holds a Bachelor of Civil/Environmental 
Engineering (Honours) and a Bachelor of Arts (Human 
Geography) from the University of Melbourne, and is a 
Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors 
and a Fellow of the Centre for Sustainability Leadership. 
Ms Conheady chaired EPA’s People and Culture Committee.

Ms Debra Russell 

Ms Russell is a member of the Department of Justice 
Audit and Risk Committee, the Surf Coast Shire Audit and 
Risk Committee and until recently was the Independent 
Member of the Essential Services Commission’s 
Compliance and Enforcement Committee.

She has a strong regulatory background, having been 
a senior executive with the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission. For the past 16 years, Ms Russell 
has worked as a legal and regulatory risk consultant, 
including through PricewaterhouseCoopers, providing 
legal and regulatory risk services to clients. Her projects 
have included drafting the Privacy (Credit Reporting) Code 
registered by the Australian Privacy Commissioner in 2014 
and she had a major role in the Independent Review of the 
Code of Banking Practice completed in 2017. 

Ms Russell holds a Bachelor of Laws, Master of Laws and 
Bachelor of Arts (Honours) from Melbourne University, a 
Graduate Diploma in Education from Monash University 
and a Graduate Diploma in Applied Finance and 
Investment (Securities Institute of Australia). She chaired 
EPA’s Regulatory Committee.

Mr Rob Hogarth 

Mr Hogarth is an experienced non-executive director who 
has been a member of EPA’s Risk and Audit Committee 
for more than five years. Mr Hogarth is a Chartered 
Accountant and a former partner with KPMG Australia. 
Since retiring from KPMG he has served as a non-
executive director/risk and audit committee member for a 
range of organisations in the public and private sectors.

Mr Hogarth also provides mentoring and business advice 
to select organisations focusing primarily on strategy, 
governance and financial and risk management. Mr 
Hogarth holds a Bachelor of Economics from Sydney 
University and is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Australia.

Professor Arie Freiberg AM 

Professor Freiberg is an Emeritus Professor at Monash 
University, a position he has held since 2013. He was 
Dean of the Faculty of Law at Monash University between 
2004 and 2012 and was previously Dean of the Faculty 
of Arts at the University of Melbourne. He was appointed 
to the Foundation Chair of Criminology at the University 
of Melbourne in 1991 where he served as Head of the 
Department of Criminology for 10 years. 

Professor Frieberg holds a Bachelor of Laws (Honours), 
a Diploma in Criminology and a Doctor of Laws from 
the University of Melbourne and a Master of Laws from 
Monash University. He is a fellow of the Academy of 
Social Sciences in Australia and the Australian Academy 
of Law and holds an Adjunct Faculty appointment in the 
Australia and New Zealand School of Government. He has 
consulted for several governments on matters of legal and 
regulatory reform.

Attendance at Interim Advisory Board meetings in 
2017–18

There were Interim Advisory Board meetings held in 
July, August, September, October, November, December, 
February, March, April, May and June. Table 9.1 records 
members’ attendance.

Table 9.1: Interim Advisory Board meeting attendance

Board Member
Meetings eligible 

to attend
Meetings 
attended

Cheryl Batagol 11 11

John Stocker 11 10

Rebekah Brown 11 10

Ross Pilling 11 10

Monique Conheady 11 10

Debra Russell 11 10

Rob Hogarth 11 11

Arie Freiberg 11 10

Advisory committees

EPA had four subcommittees within the Interim Advisory 
Board: Risk and Audit; People and Culture; Science, 
Engineering and Health; and Regulatory Oversight. 
Effective 1 July 2018, these subcommittees will be within 
the Board.

Risk and Audit Committee

EPA has a Risk and Audit Committee and internal audit 
function to meet legislative requirements and support 
the Chairperson and CEO to fulfil their obligations under 
the Financial Management Act 1994 (FM Act). The Risk 
and Audit Committee has three independent members 
and reports directly to the Chairperson and CEO. In the 
absence of a formal board of governance, the Chairperson 
and CEO remain fully accountable for their risk and audit 
responsibilities. 
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The members of the Risk and Audit Committee as at 30 
June 2018 were Merran Kelsall (Chair), Rob Hogarth and 
Ross Pilling. 

The main responsibilities of the Risk and Audit Committee 
are to:

• determine the scope of the internal audit function 
and ensure its resources are adequate and used 
effectively

• maintain effective communication and coordination 
with external auditors

• consider recommendations made by internal and 
external auditors and review the implementation of 
actions to resolve issues raised

• oversee the effective operation of the risk 
management framework

• consider the effectiveness of EPA’s internal financial 
controls

• review EPA’s approach to managing and maintaining 
an effective internal control framework.

People and Culture Committee

The People and Culture Committee’s role is to provide 
advice to the CEO in his oversight and management of 
EPA’s people and culture. 

The members of the People and Culture Committee as 
at 30 June 2018 were Monique Conheady (Chair), Anne 
Farquhar and Cheryl Batagol.

Science, Engineering and Health Committee

The Science, Engineering and Health Committee’s role 
is to provide strategic expert advice through the EPA 
Interim Advisory Board to the Chairperson and CEO 
in their oversight and management of EPA’s science, 
engineering and health functions. The members of the 
Science Engineering and Health Committee as at 30 June 
2018 were Dr John Stocker AO (Chair), Professor Rebekah 
Brown, Leonie Walsh, Professor Tom Spurling AM, David 
Pullan, Dr Jenny Stauber, Professor Charles Guest, Cheryl 
Batagol and Nial Finegan.*

Regulatory Committee

The Regulatory Committee’s role is to provide strategic 
expert advice through the EPA Interim Advisory Board 
to the Chairperson and CEO in their oversight and 
management of EPA’s regulatory functions. The members 
of the Regulatory Committee as at 30 June 2018 were 
Debra Russell (Chair) and Professor Arie Freiberg.

Organisational structure
Executive Leadership Team

Nial Finegan, Chief Executive Officer (BEng (Hons), MBA, 
DIC, CPEng, FIEAust, EngExec, NER GAICD)*

Nial Finegan was appointed as Chief Executive Officer (also 
Deputy Chairperson) in August 2014. The CEO is responsible 
for the day-to-day management of EPA in accordance with the 
law and government policies affecting EPA. The CEO provides 
strategic leadership and management to the organisation, 
ensures proper resource allocation and timely delivery of 
outcomes.

Tim Eaton, Executive Director Assessments (BSoSc, 
MEL, GAICD)

Tim Eaton joined EPA in February 2010. 

The Assessments directorate:

• administers the Environmental Audit framework

• holds duty holders to account by administering 
several regulatory programs including the litter and 
motor vehicle compliance programs

• influences and shapes requirements for major 
infrastructure projects in Victoria

• administers the approvals, licensing and permitting 
functions under the Act and regulations.

Dr Andrea Hinwood, Chief Environmental Scientist and 
Executive Director Applied Science (BSc,MAppSc, PhD)

Andrea Hinwood joined EPA in May 2017 as the inaugural 
Chief Environmental Scientist (CES). The CES provides an 
authoritative, trusted and expert voice to government, 
industry and the community on environmental issues by 
working collaboratively with key stakeholders, such as 
the Chief Health Officer and Emergency Management 
Commissioner. The CES is also charged with ensuring EPA 
is an effective, science-based regulator and protector of 
the environment and human health. The CES is responsible 
for ensuring EPA’s scientific expertise and advice 
underpins EPA’s key functions and strategic objectives and 
meets high standards of excellence.  

The CES and the Applied Science directorate:

• works with, and provides advice to, community and 
business to prevent pollution

• provides scientific advice and intelligence to inform 
policy and regulatory decisions, assessments, 
compliance and enforcement actions

• provides scientific and technical advice on activities 
which might have pollution and waste impacts

• compiles scientific and environmental data and 
communicates information on the state of the 
environment

9. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE AND GOVERNANCE 
ARRANGEMENTS CONTINUED

* Nial Finegan finished his role as Chief Executive Officer on 2 September 2018. 
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• responds to pollution incidents, emergency incidents 
and community concerns

• provides training, equipment and support to field staff 
to carry out their duties

• partners with others to build our knowledge and 
scientific capability including through research and 
development.

Tony Matthews, Board Secretary and Executive Director 
Corporate (B.Bus, CPA, MBA,GAICD)

Tony Matthews joined EPA in February 2017 as the 
inaugural Board Secretary. This role includes the 
development of the governance frameworks for the 
Interim Advisory Board and preparing for the transition to 
a new board. 

The Board Secretary and Corporate directorate:

• sets a strong business foundation and enables the 
operation of EPA and the delivery of EPA objectives

• supports EPA’s Interim Advisory Board 

• facilitates organisational governance and board 
reporting through the Board Secretary

• provides financial, legal and procurement services 
and support to the organisation

• provides support and advice to shape and drive 
organisational efficiency and change.

Chris Webb, Executive Director Practice and Assurance 
(BSc)

Chris Webb joined EPA in August 2010 and has led the 
Practice and Assurance directorate since July 2014. 

The Practice and Assurance directorate:

• develops and oversees the implementation of 
organisation-wide regulatory solutions to tackle 
environmental problems and effect long-term change

• develops new industry guidance to support 
compliance with environmental obligations and drives 
state of knowledge

• actively drives continuous improvement programs to 
build our regulatory capability and to deliver on our 
promise as a modern regulator

• is responsible for delivering key reforms, including 
the pilot of Officers for the Protection of the Local 
Environment in councils, and EPA’s Sanctions 
Strategy.

Damian Wells, Executive Director Regional Services 
(BEM (Hons), MBA, GAICD)

Damian Wells joined EPA in March 2015. 

The Regional Services directorate includes EPA’s regional 
offices and:

• drives environmental improvement and adherence to 
law, by exercising all aspects of the regulatory model 
to provide constructive compliance and enforcement

• delivers proactive strategic work programs and 
responds in accordance with priorities, set through 
the annual planning process

• seeks to deliver a consistent regulatory experience to 
business and the community across the state through 
application of Compliance and Enforcement Policy. 

Dr Cathy Wilkinson, Executive Director Strategy, People 
and Performance (BAppSci, MEnvSci, PhD)*

Cathy Wilkinson joined EPA in March 2015. 

The Strategy, People and Performance directorate:

• drives integrated delivery of the major organisation-
wide reform program as part of the Government’s 
response to the Independent Inquiry into EPA

• leads the development and implementation of EPA’s 
organisational strategy, business planning and 
performance monitoring

• leads the development of environmental standards 
and influences policy and legislative reform across the 
environment portfolio

• helps Victorians comply with environmental laws 
through strategic communications activities

• cultivates relationships that support stakeholders to 
achieve regulatory and environmental outcomes

• provides customers with accessible, accurate and 
timely information and pollution reporting services

• enables a high-performance culture that values our 
people and ensures their safety, health, wellbeing and 
development.

* Dr Cathy Wilkinson commenced her role as Chief Executive Officer on 3 September 2018.
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Figure 9.1: EPA Victoria’s organisational structure as of 30 June 2018
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Changes from 1 July 2018 

In January 2017, the Minister for Energy, Environment 
and Climate Change established the EPA Interim Advisory 
Board in response to the Inquiry into EPA’s role, powers, 
governance, funding and tools. 

Recommendation 19.1 and 19.2 of the Inquiry 
response outlined governance changes to ensure EPA has 
modern governance and is established as an independent 
statutory authority. The Government accepted all 48 
recommendations (40 fully, seven in part, one in principle) 
and provided $182.4 million over five years to deliver 
landmark reforms in environment protection.

The Interim Advisory Board was appointed to guide 
EPA’s delivery of the Victorian Government’s vision while 
legislation was established to create the Governing Board 
and recruitment to that Board took place.

From 1 July 2018, the Governing Board replaces the 
Interim Advisory Board. While the Interim Advisory Board’s 
role was solely limited to the provision of advice to the 
EPA Chairperson and the Minister, the Governing Board 
is responsible for the governance, strategic direction and 
oversight of EPA.

The EP Act 2017, which was approved in October 2017 
and came into effect 1 July 2018, establishes EPA as a 
statutory authority and legislates the role of the Board, 
CEO and Chief Environmental Scientist.

The Governing Board will consist of:

• Cheryl Batagol PSM – Chairperson

• Greg Tweedly – Deputy Chairperson

• Professor Joan Ozanne-Smith AO

• Graeme Ford

• Professor Rebekah Brown

• Ross Pilling

• Monique Conheady

• Debra Russell.

New Board members

Mr Greg Tweedly

Mr Tweedly is the Governing Board’s Deputy Chair 
and has more than 20 years’ experience in regulation, 
governance, risk, audit and finance. As CEO of WorkSafe 
Victoria for nearly 10 years, Mr Tweedly was responsible 
for the regulation of workplace safety in Victoria. During 
his time as CEO, WorkSafe recorded the safest year on 
record, reduced premiums in seven out of nine years, and 
oversaw the implementation of the WorkHealth Initiative – 
a five-year program to offer and deliver health checks for 
Victorian workers.

Mr Tweedly is currently a Director of Melbourne Health, 
Chair of Dorsavi Ltd and Chair of the Personal Injury 
Foundation. He has a Bachelor of Commerce from 
Melbourne University, is a qualified Accountant (CPA), a 
Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors, 
and an Alumnus of the Stanford Executive Program and 
Harvard Leadership Program.

Professor Joan Ozanne-Smith AO

Emeritus Professor Joan Ozanne-Smith AO is the Head 
of Injury Prevention Research at the Department of 
Forensic Medicine at Monash University. In 2016, she was 
appointed Officer of the Order of Australia (AO) in the 
2016 Australia Day Honours List for her distinguished 
service to public health in the area of accident and injury 
prevention, to forensic medicine, and to higher education 
as an academic.

Professor Ozanne-Smith is currently a Director of 
the Australian China Alumni Association, and has 
previously been a member of the Victorian Civil and 
Administrative Tribunal (VCAT). Professor Ozanne-
Smith has qualifications in medicine, public health and 
sociology, a research doctorate in injury epidemiology 
and is a Fellow of the Australasian Faculty of Public Health 
Medicine. She conducts interdisciplinary research and 
develops epidemiological data systems in Australia and 
internationally and has co-edited several World Health 
Organization global reports.

Mr Graeme Ford

Mr Ford has more than 20 years’ experience advocating 
for rural and regional communities, having been the CEO 
of the Victorian Farmers Federation. For the past 20 years 
Graeme has engaged with various government regulatory 
bodies on the design of regulatory regimes affecting 
the agricultural sector, and has held Director roles with 
the Melbourne International Flower and Garden Show 
and FarmConnect – a not-for-profit company providing 
charitable support to the agriculture sector.

Mr Ford has a Master in Business Administration from the 
University of Ballarat, a Master of Applied Science from 
the University of Western Sydney, and a Graduate Diploma 
of Rural Resource Management from La Trobe University. 
He is an Alumnus of Harvard Business School.
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Occupational health and safety (OHS) 
Policies, systems and processes

EPA’s safety vision is to eliminate work-related injuries and illnesses, unsafe work practices and promote the health, 
safety and wellbeing of all employees, contractors, volunteers, and visitors. The EPA 2014–17 Occupational Health & 
Safety (OHS) Strategy objective has been to help achieve this vision through:

• creating a positive safety culture

• maintaining an effective safety management system

• reducing risk in the workplace.

In 2017–18, EPA maintained certification following the triennial audit in October 2017, which verified that the EPA safety 
management system is effective and overall compliant with the requirements of ASNZS 4801: 2001.

With the completion of the current OHS Strategy a new draft three-year OHS Strategy and Vision has been finalised 
following extensive consultation and review in early 2018. The new Safety Vision and Strategic Plan will also, with our 
leaders and employee’s commitment and participation, enable us to deliver on Goal 5 of the EPA Strategic Plan – Staff 
safety, health, wellbeing and development.

In 2017–18, EPA developed several new initiatives to improve the health and safety of staff including, safety leadership 
training for all EPA Managers and Team Leaders, upgrade of the OHS intranet site to improve access to OHS information 
and the purchase of a new OHS incident reporting system to be rolled out in August 2018. EPA also provided a health and 
wellbeing program and OHS-related training and ergonomic assessments.

The OHS committee consists of 14 elected health and safety representatives and six managers, 3 per cent of the total EPA 
staff, and is chaired by the Executive Director Strategy, People and Performance.

All EPA OHS policies and procedures are consistent with the Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004, Occupational 
Health and Safety Regulations 2017 and the Workplace Injury Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 2013. The Victorian 
Public Service Enterprise Agreement 2016 covers the formal agreement with the CPSU regarding issues and obligations 
for OHS.

Incident management

EPA had 163 incidents reported, 99 resulted in injury or impact to an individual. Exposure to chemicals, environmental 
factors, equipment or building-related incidents and psychosocial injuries accounted for 58 per cent of all the incidents. 
There was one lost time injury for 2017–18 – a sprain strain injury resulting in three days’ lost time.

In 2017–18, the total reported incidents related to field work was 31 per cent. EPA employees attending environmental 
incidents, responding to pollution and emergency reports and entering a wide variety of non-EPA facilities and 
workplaces represent the most significant identified risk for EPA employees. EPA continued to focus on managing these 
risks through an annual review of the EPA Risk Register, refresher training, reviewing and upgrading OHS procedures, 
identifying appropriate equipment and supporting the commitment of EPA employees to their safety and safe work 
practices. 

EPA offers employees and their immediate families access to an Employee Assistance Program which provides 
confidential, professional counselling for personal or work-related issues. In 2017–18, 52 people accessed EPA’s Employee 
Assistance Program. Psychological incidents accounted for 19 per cent of all OHS incidents reported in 2017–18.

There were no WorkCover claims for 2017–18.
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Performance against OHS management measures

Table 9.2: Performance against OHS management measures

Measure Key performance indicator Notes 2017–18 2016–17 2015–16

Incidents No. of incidents 1 163 91 97

Rate per 100 FTE 3 27.26 18.13 25

Injury Rate 2.63 2.15 2.56

Lost Time Injuries 1 4 0

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rates 4 0.83 3.867 0

Claims No. of standard claims 2 0 3 3

Rate per 100 FTE 3 0 0.59 0.77

No. of lost time claims 0 1 0

Rate per 100 FTE 3 0 0.19 0

No. of claims exceeding 13 weeks 0 1 0

Rate per 100 FTE 3 0 0.19 0

Fatalities Fatality claims 0 0 0

Claim costs Average cost per standard claim 2 $0 $17,428 $723

Return to work Percentage of claims with Return to Work (RTW) Plan <30 
days

n/a 100 100

Consultation and 
participation

Evidence of agreed structure of designated workgroups 
(DWGs), health and safety representatives (HSRs), and 
issue resolution procedures (IPRs)

Completed Completed Completed

Compliance with agreed structure on DWGs, HSRs, and 
IRPs

Completed Completed Completed

Risk management Percentage of workplace inspections completed 80 75 75

No. of AS 4801 external audit recommendations 4 2 2

Percentage of AS 4801: 2001 external audit 
recommendations actioned

100 100 100

Training Percentage of managers and staff that have received OHS 
training:

induction 100 90 85

management training 80 15 20

contractors, temps, and visitors 80 75 70

Percentage of HSRs trained:

acceptance of role 75 80 73

retraining (refresher) 30 25 15

reporting of incidents and injuries 50 10 0

Notes:
1.  Incidents data sourced from EPA’s internal system, EPASS, as at 30 June 2018. The increase in incidents is due to an increase in 

staff numbers and a campaign directed at field staff to report all incidents, particularly near misses.
2. Data sourced from the Victorian WorkCover Authority as at 30 June 2018.
3. Based on a monthly average FTE of 598 for 2017–18.
4.  Rolling 12-month average. The reduction in LTIs can be attributed to a focus on safety prior to external visits, early injury 

intervention to minimise time off work and a focus on investigating incidents to ensure identification of controls to reduce risks.

Table 9.3: EPA Premium Performance rate  

Notes 2017–18 2016–17 2015–16

Performance rate 1 0.3477% 1.0663% 1.2939%

Notes:
1.  Data sourced from the Victorian WorkCover Authority as at 30 June 2018. Data has been revised to accurately reflect premium 

performance for the year.

Employment and conduct principles
EPA is committed to applying best practice principles when appointing and retaining our people. Processes reflect and 
conform to section 8 of the Public Administration Act 2004 ensuring decisions are based on merit, fairness, equity and 
freedom from discrimination.

9. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE AND GOVERNANCE 
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10. WORKFORCE DATA

Values and employment principles
EPA continues to review policies that underpin our workforce strategies. Policies focus on upholding public sector 
conduct and values, alignment with the public sector employment standards under the Public Administration Act 2004, 
managing and valuing diversity and creating a safe and healthy workplace for our employees.

The new EPA Organisational Strategy – Our environment, Our health contains newly endorsed values that align with the 
VPSC employment standards that will be promoted and internalised within the organisation.

All EPA employees are covered by the Victorian Public Service Enterprise Agreement 2016, except for executives who hold 
individual employment contracts under the Public Administration Act 2004. Employees have been correctly classified in 
workforce data collections.

Comparative workforce data
Table 10.1: Full-time equivalent (FTE) staffing trends from 2013 to 2018

2017–18 2016–17 2015–16 2014–15 2013–14 2012–13

FTE 634 461 388 341 312 325

Table 10.2: Summary of employment in June of 2017 and 2018

Ongoing employees
Fixed-term and 

casual employees

Employees 
(headcount)

Full-time 
(headcount)

Part-time 
(headcount) FTE FTE

June 2018 491 389 102 458.75 175.54

June 2017 406 330 76 381.93 79.04
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Table 10.3: Details of employment levels in June of 2017 and 2018*
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Gender               

Men 283 273.89 192 19 205.29 72 68.6 215 210.19 165 13 174.84 37 35.5

Women 391 359.4 197 83 253.46 111 105.94 274 250.78 165 63 207.09 46 43.69

Self-
described

1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Age              

15–24 17 17 12 0 12 5 5 9 8.2 5 0 5 4 3.2

25–34 183 174.57 103 12 110.14 68 64.43 132 128.66 90 8 96.03 32 30.63

35–44 259 240.46 135 54 173.19 70 67.27 181 166.38 113 43 142.32 27 26.06

45–54 137 128.11 86 26 104.11 25 24 106 98.88 71 19 83.68 16 15.2

55–64 73 68.15 47 10 53.3 16 14.85 55 53.25 46 5 49.3 4 3.95

65+ 6 6 6 0 6 0 0 6 5.6 5 1 5.6 0 0

VPS 1-6 
grades

    

VPS Grade 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.2 0 0 0 1 0.2

VPS Grade 2 15 14.8 1 0 1 14 13.8 14 13 4 1 4.4 9 8.6

VPS Grade 3 136 128.82 87 11 93.57 38 35.25 75 70.83 56 9 61.63 10 9.2

VPS Grade 4 222 208.44 123 29 142.11 70 66.34 166 156.06 113 24 128.82 29 27.24

VPS Grade 5 199 185.98 108 42 137.73 49 48.26 156 146.69 97 32 119.69 27 27

VPS Grade 6 86 80.04 55 18 68.14 13 11.9 64 61.59 48 9 54.79 7 6.8

Senior 
employees

       

STS 4 3.2 2 2 3.2 0 0 5 4.6 4 1 4.6 0 0

PS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SMA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SRA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Executives 13 13 13 0 13 0 0 8 8 8 0 8 0 0

Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 
employees

675 634.29 389 102 458.75 184 175.54 489 460.97 330 76 381.93 83 79.04

Notes:
* Prior year’s data has been updated as new information became available.

Diversity and Inclusion Plan  
EPA is committed to building a supportive and inclusive culture where everyone is valued for their unique qualities, ideas 
and perspectives. In 2017–18, we developed our three-year Diversity and Inclusion (D&I) Strategy which sets out clear 
expectations and actions across five key areas:

• building inclusive leadership accountability and driving engagement for diversity and inclusion

• developing inclusive capability and reducing unconscious bias in decision-making

• improving the representation of women in leadership and technical roles

• supporting a diverse workforce to better reflect the Victorian community, including championing cultural and 
linguistic diversity, LGBTI, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, disability and life stage inclusion 

• promoting and encouraging flexible working practices.

10. WORKFORCE DATA CONTINUED
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Significant milestones for the year included: 

• the development of D&I action plans for five focus areas

• the establishment of a D&I advisory group 

• the completion of a gender pay audit to consider pay parity across like roles

• participation in the Emergency Management Victoria (EMV) Champions of Change working group to increase 
female representation in leadership roles

• participation in White Ribbon Accreditation – a 12-month program of activities that demonstrate our commitment to 
stopping violence against women

• the roll-out of Aboriginal cultural awareness training

• membership of Pride in Diversity and the roll-out of LGBTI awareness and ally training in partnership with Pride in 
Practice 

• establishing or supporting our employee networks such as the Pride Network and participating in whole-of-VPS 
working groups, including LGBTI in the Public Service (LIPS) and the VPS Pride Network run by Department of 
Premier and Cabinet. 

A range of policies including Recruitment and Selection, Managing Flexible Work Arrangements and Preventing and 
Managing Discrimination and Bullying and Harassment support EPA leaders to provide a safe, inclusive workplace for all 
our people. Further to this, a new Diversity and Inclusion Policy will be developed in 2018–19. 

Compliance with the Disability Act 2006

In 2017–18, EPA developed a Disability Inclusion Action Plan to remove barriers from gaining and maintaining employment 
and preventing full engagement with EPA’s services and facilities. 

The action plan is consistent with the Government’s framework for enabling people with a disability to participate and 
contribute to the social, economic and civic life of their community (Absolutely Everyone: State Disability Plan 2017–2020). 
Milestones for the year included:

• updating all position descriptions to remove unreasonable barriers to employment

• updating documentation to ensure that position descriptions are accessible for all prospective employees

• conducting a facilities review ensuring worksite locations are accessible

• reviewing the language on EPA’s website and job descriptions to ensure inclusiveness.
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Executive officer data
An executive officer (EO) is defined as a person employed as a public service body head or other executive under Part 3, 
Division 5 of the Public Administration Act 2004. All figures in the following tables reflect employment levels at the last 
full pay period in June of the current and corresponding previous reporting year.

Table 10.4: Total Revenue Package, by $20,000 bands, for executives and other senior non-executive staff

Income band (salary) Executives STS PS SMA SRA Other 

<$160,000

$160,000  –  $179,999 1

$180,000  – $199,999 3 1

$200,000  – $219,999

$220,000  – $239,999 3

$240,000  – $259,000 2

$260,000  – $279,999 3

$280,000  – $299,999 1

$300,000  – $319,999

$320,000  – $339,999

$340,000  – $359,000 1

$360,000  – $379,999

$380,000  – $399,999

$400,000  – $419,999

$420,000  – $439,999

$440,000  – $459,000

$460,000  – $479,999

$480,000  – $499,999

Total 13 2

Table 10.5: Total number of EOs broken down into gender

Classification

All Men Women Self-described Vacancies

No. Var.* No. Var.* No. Var.* No. Var.* No.

EO-1 1 1

EO-2 6 -1 4 2 –1

EO-3 6 6 4 4 2 2

Total 13 5 9 4 4 1

Notes:
* Variance to prior year.

Table 10.6: Reconciliation of executive numbers

 2018 2017

 Executives with remuneration more than $100,000 14* 7

Add Vacancies (See Table 10.5) 0

Executives employed with total remuneration below $100,000 0

 Accountable officer (CEO) 1 1

Less Separations 2 0

 Total executive numbers at 30 June 13 8

Notes:
*  As at 30 June 2018, one executive was on secondment. During 2017–18, one position was filled, vacated and filled again. Both 

executives who were in the role, at any time during the year, are included in this figure.

10. WORKFORCE DATA CONTINUED
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11. OTHER DISCLOSURES

Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003
The Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 requires departments and public sector bodies to report on the 
implementation of the Victorian Industry Participation Policy (VIPP). Departments and public bodies are required to apply 
VIPP to all tenders more than $3 million in metropolitan Melbourne and $1 million in regional Victoria.

During 2017–2018, one contract totalling $4.03 million was commenced and completed using 100 per cent local content in 
regional Victoria, for which no VIPP Plan was required. 

Government advertising expenditure
There were no advertising campaigns with a media spend of $100,000 or greater in 2017–18. 

Consultancy expenditure 
Details of consultancies (valued at $10,000 or greater)

In 2017–18, there were 32 consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were $10,000 or greater. The 
total expenditure incurred during 2017–18 in relation to these consultancies was $3,448,031 (excluding GST) including 
externally funded projects. Details of individual consultancies are outlined below. 

Many of these consultancies have been required to support EPA’s transformation activities and our implementation of the 
Government’s response to the Independent Inquiry into EPA.

Table 11.0: Details of consultancies (valued at $10,000 or greater) 

Consultants Purpose of consultancy Start date End date

Total 
approved 

project fee ($ 
excl. gst)

Expenditure 
2017–18 ($ 

excl. gst)

Future 
expenditure 
($ excl. gst)

10 Consulting 
Group

Strategic and statutory 
planning guidance on 
assessing noise risks

11/04/2017 30/09/2017 43,464 7,818 -

Aecom 
Australia P/L

Fishermans bend urban 
groundwater quality 
assessment

10/02/2017 16/01/2018 389,091 263,165 -

Aither Pty Ltd Review links between Reform 
Program indicators and 
Reform Program drivers

24/10/2017 23/11/2018 19,992 19,992 -

Aither Pty Ltd Reform implementation plan 9/06/2017 23/11/2017 190,720 57,216 -

Alluvium 
Consulting 
Australia Pty 
Ltd

Conduct an evaluation of 
EPA's current environmental 
monitoring programs

20/11/2017 21/06/2018 124,080 124,080 -

Cevo Pty Ltd 
Vic

Design engagement plan 
to improve waste transport 
tracking

29/05/2018 19/06/2018 89,280 89,280 -

Data Agility 
Pty Ltd

Science data reform 01/05/2017 05/10/2017 329,086 183,863 -

Diversity 
Partners P/L

Development of a diversity 
and inclusion strategy 2017-20

22/06/2017 12/10/2017 20,000 11,521 -

Effective 
conversations 
Pty Ltd

Consulting work for redesign 
of learning and development 
(Regulatory Excellence)

28/02/2018 26/03/2018 19,800 19,800 -

Ernst & 
Young Pty Ltd

Greenhouse gas (GHG) 
inventory and management 
plan

27/07/2017 09/10/2018 55,357 21,081 16,541

FBG Group Regional services directorate 
sanctions: time and motion 
study

09/06/2017 07/12/2018 15,147 15,147 -

First Person 
Consulting 
P/L

Officers for the Protection 
of the Local Environment 
(OPLE) pilot evaluation

18/12/2017 12/06/2018 45,455 45,455 -
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11. OTHER DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

Consultants Purpose of consultancy Start date End date

Total 
approved 

project fee ($ 
excl. gst)

Expenditure 
2017–18 ($ 

excl. gst)

Future 
expenditure 
($ excl. gst)

Gravity 
Consulting 
Services

Develop an organisational 
framework and conduct a 
capability assessment for EPA

24/08/2017 01/06/2018 200,458 200,458 -

Inside 
Infrastructure

Guidelines for Sewerage 
Infrastructure Management 
2017-18

08/05/2018 26/06/2018 78,054 68,346 9,708

JMW 
Consultants 
Australia P/L

Leadership development 
program design

23/06/2017 20/03/2018 207,045 198,814 -

Jost & Co Provision of management 
consulting advice, services 
and documents to support 
the review of the Regulatory 
Improvement and Assurance 
Model

01/05/2018 20/06/2018 27,100 27,100 -

KPMG 
Partnership

Development of the 
information and 
communications technology 
(ICT) strategy and enabling 
deliverables

28/09/2017 27/04/2018 378,367 378,367 -

Madison 
Cross 
Australia Pty 
Ltd

EPA workforce strategy 
development review

20/06/2018 21/06/2018 27,273 27,182 -

Monash 
University

Research on preventative 
duty industry codes

30/05/2017 29//06/2017 45,262 45,262 -

Monash 
University

Quantitative microbial risk 
assessment for recreational 
users of Port Phillip Bay

01/06/2018 22/06/2018 300,000 300,000 -

Npi Plus Provide updated industry 
sources  for the Victorian air 
emissions inventory project

28/03/2018 04/06/2018 22,000 22,000 -

Pacific 
Environment 
Operations 
Pty Ltd

Ambient Air Quality National 
Environment Protection 
Measure (AAQ NEPM) 
consultancy services

26/11/2015 21/06/2018 282,646 102,581 68,387

Partners In 
Performance 
Int P/L

Development of an 
organisational performance 
management framework

04/12/2017 06/02/2018 27,412 27,412 -

Price 
Waterhouse 
Coopers

Business Transformation 
Partnership

29/03/2018 30/06/2018 800,000 796,825 -

Price 
Waterhouse 
Coopers

Development of an 
accommodation and 
workplace strategy and 
detailed plan

26/03/2018 16/09/2018 85,000 75,000 10,000

Price 
Waterhouse 
Coopers

Review and work on 
permissioning and risk 
assessment tool

08/03/2018 24/05/2018 149,299 149,299 -

Regulatory 
Impact 
Solutions Pty 
Ltd

Expert analysis of the costs 
and benefits of potential 
policy options for improving 
EPA's policies for noise 
("Noise SEPPs")

30/05/2018 30/07/2018 68,782 20,635 48,147

Table 11.0: Details of consultancies (valued at $10,000 or greater) continued
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Consultants Purpose of consultancy Start date End date

Total 
approved 

project fee ($ 
excl. gst)

Expenditure 
2017–18 ($ 

excl. gst)

Future 
expenditure 
($ excl. gst)

Regulatory 
Impact 
Solutions Pty 
Ltd

Development of draft policy 
impact statement for waste 
management policy (solid fuel 
heaters)

26/07/2017 27/11/2017 41,818 41,818 -

Renton And 
Co

Review and provide 
recommendations on the 
draft communications and 
engagement framework

07/05/2018 12/06/2018 27,273 27,273 -

Spatial Vision 
Innovations 
Pty Ltd

Geographic information 
system (GIS) proposed 
architecture review

27/11/2017 07/02/2018 11,833 11,833 -

The 
University of 
Sydney

Steps necessary for 
the application of the 
recommended calculation 
to estimate the burden of 
cardiovascular disease from 
environmental noise in 
metropolitan Melbourne. 

19/06/2018 02/08/2018 25,300 17,050 8,250

Votar 
Partners Pty 
Ltd

Business Classification 
Scheme (review and 
recommendations for 
implementation)

09/10/2017 29/06/2018 52,360 52,360 -

Details of consultancies under $10,000

In 2017–18 there were 41 consultancies engaged during the year where the total fee payable to the individual 
consultancies was less than $10,000. The total expenditure incurred during 2017–18 in relation to these consultancies was 
$194,475 excluding GST.

Disclosure of major contracts

EPA did not enter into any contract equal to or over $10 million in value during 2017–18. 

Information and communication technology expenditure

For the 2017–18 reporting period, EPA had a total ICT expenditure of $12.4 million, with the details shown in Table 11.1. 

Table 11.1: Disclosure of ICT expenditure

($ ‘000)

Business as usual (BAU) ICT 
expenditure (Total)

Non business as usual (non BAU) ICT expenditure

(Total = Operational 
expenditure and Capital 
expenditure)

Operational expenditure Capital expenditure

$9,076 $3,320  $2,131  $1,189 

ICT expenditure refers to the Authority’s costs in providing business-enabling ICT services. It comprises business as usual 
(BAU) ICT expenditure and non-business as usual Non-BAU ICT expenditure. BAU ICT expenditure is ICT expenditure 
which primarily relates to ongoing activities to operate and maintain the current ICT capability. Non-BAU ICT expenditure 
relates to the delivery of ICT projects primarily associated with the ‘Bringing EPA into the modern era’ Initiative and 
investment in air monitoring systems.

Table 11.0: Details of consultancies (valued at $10,000 or greater) continued



50  EPA ANNUAL REPORT 2017–2018

Competitive Neutrality Policy Victoria
Under the National Competition Policy, the guiding legislative principle is that legislation, including future legislative 
proposals, should not restrict competition unless it can be demonstrated that:

• the benefits of the restriction to the community as a whole outweigh the costs

• the objectives of the legislation can only be achieved by restricting competition.

EPA continues to comply with the requirements of the Competitive Neutrality Policy Victoria.

Competitive neutrality requires government businesses to ensure where services compete, or potentially compete with 
the private sector, that any advantages arising solely from their ownership be recovered if they are not in the public 
interest. 

Freedom of Information
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 allows the public a right of access to documents held by EPA. For the 12 months 
ending 30 June 2018, EPA received 58 applications. Of these requests, five were from Members of Parliament and 
journalists, and the remainder were from the general public. Of the total requests received by EPA in 2017–18, the majority 
were acceded to and released in part. Of the decisions finalised, there was one complaint and one review lodged with the 
FOI Commissioner. Both were finalised in favour of EPA. Additionally, one review was sought at VCAT and settled prior to 
a hearing.

Making a request

Access to information under the Freedom of Information (FOI) Act is obtainable through a written request, as detailed in 
section 17 of the Act. Applications must be as detailed and specific as possible so that the EPA FOI officer can identify and 
locate relevant documents. All applications must include the statutory $28.90 application fee (from 1 July 2018). This fee 
does not include the costs for the provision of access to the requested material.

A Freedom of Information request can be made by writing to:

Carrie Rafferty (Freedom of Information Officer)
EPA Victoria 
GPO Box 4395
Melbourne VIC 3001

Requests can also be lodged online at www.foi.vic.gov.au

Compliance with the Building Act 1993
EPA does not own or control buildings. However, it complies with the building and maintenance provision of the Building 
Act 1993 to the extent that it is responsible as a tenant in leased premises.

Compliance with the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 (formerly the 
Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001)
The Protected Disclosure Act 2012 encourages and assists people in making disclosures of improper conduct by public 
officers and public bodies. The Act provides protection to people who make disclosures in accordance with the Act and 
establishes a system for the matters disclosed to be investigated and for rectifying action to be taken.

EPA does not tolerate improper conduct by employees, or the taking of reprisals against those who come forward 
to disclose such conduct. We are committed to ensuring transparency and accountability in our administrative and 
management practices and support the making of disclosures that reveal corrupt conduct, conduct involving a 
substantial mismanagement of public resources, or conduct involving a substantial risk to public health and safety or the 
environment. 

EPA will take all reasonable steps to protect people who make such disclosures from any detrimental action in reprisal for 
making the disclosure. We will also afford natural justice to the person who is the subject of the disclosure to the extent it 
is legally possible.

11. OTHER DISCLOSURES CONTINUED
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Reporting procedures

Disclosures of improper conduct or detrimental action by EPA or any of our employees and/or officers may be made to:

Protected Disclosures Coordinator
EPA Victoria
PO Box 4395
Melbourne Victoria 3001
Telephone: 03 9695 2798
Email: protected.disclosure@epa.vic.gov.au

Alternatively, disclosures of improper conduct or detrimental action by EPA or any of its employees and/or officers may 
also be made directly to the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission:

Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC) Victoria
Level 1, North Tower, 459 Collins Street
Melbourne Victoria 3000.
Mail: IBAC, GPO Box 24234, Melbourne Victoria 3000
Phone: 1300 735 135
Internet: www.ibac.vic.gov.au 
Email: (see website above for the secure email disclosure process, which also provides for anonymous disclosures.)

Further information

The Protected Disclosure Policy and Procedures, which outline the system for reporting disclosures of improper conduct 
or detrimental action by EPA or any of our employees and/or officers, are available on EPA’s website. 

Table 11.2: Disclosures under the Protected Disclosure Act 2012

2017–18 2016–17

The number of disclosures made by an individual to EPA and notified to the 
Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission

0 0

Assessable disclosures 0 0

Office-based environmental impacts 
EPA’s Environment Management System (EMS) has been established to reduce the Authority’s impact on the 
environment. The system is supported by a staff-run working group, Green Stars, that organises initiatives that promote 
environmental awareness including ‘ride to work’ and ‘walk to work’ day. Green Stars also lead environmental campaigns 
such as ‘plastic-free July’ and internal events such as World Environment Day. 

EPA’s greenhouse gas inventory has been prepared using the National Greenhouse Accounts (NGA) Factors updated 
by the Australian Government’s Department of Environment in July 2017 and management-derived methods where 
appropriate emissions calculation methods and factors were not available in the NGA Factors. A detailed description of 
the methodologies and conversion factors applied can be found in EPA’s Greenhouse Gas Inventory Management Plan 
2017–18. The inventory covers data from all EPA offices, air monitoring stations and staff. A summary of the number of 
offices, air monitoring stations and staff as well as office floor area is presented in Table 11.3 below. The increase in total 
floor space observed was due to EPA opening a new office in Melbourne’s Central Business District (CBD). The increase in 
office area and in full-time equivalent (FTE) employees are due to government investment in the ‘Bringing EPA into the 
Modern Era’ initiative. Four new air monitoring stations were added to EPA’s air monitoring asset portfolio. 

Table 11.3: Greenhouse gas inventory key inputs

Indicator 2017–18 2016–17 2015–16

Total full-time equivalent employees (FTEs) 634 461 388

Total office area (m2) 11,717 10,793 10,523 

Number of offices 8 7 7 

Number of air monitoring stations 19 15 15 
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Office-based environmental impacts continued
Energy

EPA consumes electricity and natural gas within its facilities for lighting, heating, cooling and the use of electrical appliances 
such as computers. Electricity consumption also includes a portion of Green Power, which represents electricity consumed 
from renewable energy sources. Table 11.4 presents EPA’s energy consumption performance for the 2017–18, 2016–17 and 
2015–16 financial years. Data for electricity and natural gas consumption was obtained from invoices provided by EPA’s 
energy retailers. Where data was not available, consumption was estimated using daily consumption rates for information 
that was available.

EPA continues to implement behaviour change initiatives aimed at ensuring staff maximise the energy saving potential 
in EPA offices and with equipment. This includes turning off computers at the power point and the use of energy-efficient 
office heating, cooling and lighting, where possible. These initiatives have led to the high-energy performance of EPA’s Head 
Office with a NABERS energy rating of 5 stars for the base building and 5.5 stars for tenancy*.

Total energy usage has increased compared to the previous year. This can be explained by an increase in electricity and gas 
use due to an additional office and four air monitoring stations as well as an increase in FTE figures. This is supported by a 
decrease in energy used per FTE from 2016–17 to 2017–18.  

Table 11.4: Energy use

Indicator 2017–18 2016–17 2015–16

E.1 Total energy usage segmented by primary source (MJ) 24,162,511 19,452,822  13,572,418 

 Electricity (MJ) – excluding Green Power 5,991,549  3,939,519 4,349,700 

 Natural gas (MJ) 18,002,330 15,338,030 9,044,644 

 Green Power (MJ) 168,632 175,274 178,074 

E.2 Greenhouse gas emissions associated with energy use, 
segmented by primary source and offsets (tCO

2
e)

2,962 2,152 2,086 

 Electricity (tCO
2
e) – excluding Green Power 1,964 1,302  1,585 

  Natural gas (tCO
2
e) 998 850 501 

E.3 Percentage of electricity purchased as green power 2.81 4.45 4.09

E.4 Units of energy used per FTE (MJ/FTE) 38,094 42,197  34,980 

E.5 Units of energy used per unit of office area (MJ/m2) 2,026 1,802 1,290 

Energy targets

EPA’s Sustainability Plan outlines targets for 2017–18. Targets include a target for energy intensity of electricity use 
expressed in megajoules per square-metre of floor area (MJ/m2). Table 11.5 presents EPA’s performance against its energy 
intensity target showing that the target was met.

Table 11.5: Current performance against Sustainability Plan targets for energy use

Measure June 2018 target  Current progress

Energy use (electricity) per m2 per year 550 MJ 502 MJ

Waste and recycling

EPA’s primary source of waste was from office-based staff. The waste generated by EPA is separated into landfill, recycling 
(including paper, cardboard, e-waste and commingled) and compost (organics recycling). Table 11.6 presents EPA’s waste and 
recycling performance for the 2017–18, 2016–17 and 2015–2016 financial years. Data for waste and recycling was obtained 
from regular waste audits conducted by EPA. 

EPA initiatives to reduce waste focused on ensuring good waste management behaviour by our staff. This included internal 
signage and communications to encourage staff to avoid generating waste where possible and, where not possible, to 
increase waste diversion to recycling and reduce the amount of waste sent to landfill. These initiatives have supported EPA’s 
Head Office NABERS 4 star waste rating. 

EPA’s total waste increased slightly in 2017–18. This was partly due to an increase in the number of staff (FTE figures) during 
2017–18. However, the amount of waste per FTE decreased from 2016–17 to 2017–18. Overall emissions from waste disposal 
have increased due to a higher volume of waste and a lower recycling diversion rate compared to the previous financial year.

•  Base building refers to communal areas such as elevators while tenancy data refers to data under the direct operational control of 
EPA such as lighting, both have been included in EPA’s total energy usage.  

11. OTHER DISCLOSURES CONTINUED
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Table 11.6: Waste and recycling

Indicator 2017–18 2016–17 2015–16

Ws1.Total units of waste disposed of by destination (kg/yr)        30,018  28,867      22,728 

 Landfill (kg)*    5,432  3,710             3,275 

  Commingled recycling (kg)     6,964  8,643            5,261 

  E-waste and other recycling (kg)       389    487              425 

     Paper and card (kg)  4,621   4,646          2,883 

    Secure documents (kg)**    5,910   5,253      5,253 

   Organics (kg)    6,703      6,128      5,630 

Ws2. Units of waste disposed of per FTE by destinations (kg/FTE)       47.33    62.62      58.58 

  Landfill (kg)      8.56       8.05     8.44 

  Commingled recycling (kg)    10.98     18.75     13.56 

  E-waste and other recycling (kg)     0.61         1.06           1.10 

   Paper and card (kg)   7.29       10.08            7.43 

  Secure documents (kg)  9.32         11.40       13.54 

  Organics (kg) 10.57     13.29      14.51 

Ws.3 Recycling rate (percentage of total waste)*** 82% 87% 86%

Ws.4 Greenhouse gas emissions associated with waste disposal (tCO
2
e)   7.08     4.79      4.72 

Notes:
*  Waste to landfill includes cardboard, compostable material, non-recyclable material, paper, paper towels and contamination in 

recycling
**  Secure document waste was not incorporated into the 2015–16 and 2016–2017 as it was not required at this time. For ease of 

comparison, secure document waste for these periods has been back-calculated and included for this year’s reporting. However, as 
all secure documents are recycled, an emissions factor of zero has been applied. As such, total emissions will not be impacted. 

*** Recycled waste includes commingled recycling, e-waste and other recycling, paper and card, secure documents and organics.

Waste and recycling targets

EPA’s waste target for 2017–18 is a waste intensity target expressed as the quantity of waste generated per full-time 
equivalent (FTE) employee. Table 11.7 presents EPA’s performance against its waste intensity target showing that the 
target was met.

EPA uses internal signage and communications to encourage reduced waste and to increase the recycling of organic 
materials.

Table 11.7: Current performance against Sustainability Plan targets for waste

Measure June 2018 target Current progress

Waste generated per FTE per year (kg) 60 kg 47 kg

Paper

Paper is used by EPA primarily for office printing. Table 11.8 shows EPA’s paper consumption performance for the 2017–18, 
2016–17 and 2015–16 financial years. Data for paper was obtained from EPA’s expenditure report provided by its office 
paper supplier.

EPA has invested in a number of initiatives to reduce paper consumption. This includes the introduction of ‘Follow-Me 
Printing’, a printing technology which requires staff to confirm print jobs with their identification cards prior to the 
execution of the print job and aims to improve both printing management and security. In addition, EPA has replaced 
all printers with more capable and environmentally-efficient models, and completed an upgrade of print reporting and 
management software for improved information on usage and cost allocation by business unit. EPA has also introduced 
solutions, including provision of Microsoft Surface tablets to all EPA staff, in an effort to encourage greater digital, rather 
than paper-based, consumption of information.

Paper use has increased slightly from the year 2016–17 to 2017–18 and can be attributed to increases in staff numbers 
offsetting the decrease in A4 equivalent reams used per FTE. This decrease can be attributed to a number of initiatives to 
reduce paper consumption.
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Table 11.8: Paper use

Indicator 2017–18 2016–17 2015–16

P1. Total units of copy paper used (reams) 3,093  2,866 2,153 

P2. Units of A4 equivalent copy paper used per FTE (reams/FTE) 4.9 6.2 5.5

P3. 75–100% recycled content 99.1 99.4 99.7

P3. 50–74% recycled content 0.0% 0.0% 0.3%

P3. Percentage of 0–49% recycled content 0.9% 0.6% 0.0%

Paper use targets

EPA’s paper consumption target for 2017–18 is a paper consumption intensity target expressed as the number of reams of 
paper consumed per full-time equivalent employee. Table 11.9 presents EPA’s performance against its paper consumption 
intensity target showing that the target was met.

Table 11.9: Current performance against Sustainability Plan targets for waste

Measure June 2018 target Current progress

Reams of A4-equivalent paper used per FTE per year 5.00 4.9 

Water

EPA’s water use includes water consumed across all eight office facilities. Table 11.10 presents EPA’s water use 
performance for the 2017–18, 2016–17 and 2015–16 financial years. The data is based on water meter readings at all 
metropolitan and regional offices. Where data was not available, consumption was estimated using daily consumption 
rates obtained from information that was available.

EPA’s Head Office location in Carlton has a 4 Star NABERS rating for base building water which has been maintained since 
the year 2016–17. The NABERS rating is due to the water use practice by EPA staff and water-efficient appliances which 
are used wherever it is practical to do so. 

There has been a significant decrease in water consumption and water consumption per FTE from 2016–17 to 2017–18. 
This can be explained by improvements in the accuracy and availability of EPA’s data sources with regards to water. 
Specifically, direct data from the property manager was available for all sites in 2017–18 thus reducing reliance on 
estimations. 

Table 11.10: Water use (office facilities only)

Indicator 2017–18 2016–17 2015–16

W1. Total water consumption (kilolitres) 6,494 8,986 5,219 

W2. Units of office water used as per FTE (kilolitres/FTE) 10.24 19.49 13.45 

W3. Units of office water used per office area (kilolitres/m2) 0.54 0.83 0.50 

Water use targets

EPA’s water target for 2017–18 is a water use intensity target expressed as the number of kilolitres consumed per square-
metre of floor area (kL/m2). Table 11.11 below presents EPA’s performance against its water use intensity target showing 
the target was not met.

Table 11.11: Current performance against Sustainability Plan targets for water use

Measure  June 2018 target Current progress

Water use per year (kilolitres/m2) 0.28 0.54 

11. OTHER DISCLOSURES CONTINUED
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Transport

EPA’s transport footprint includes vehicles, air travel and staff commuting. Table 11.12 shows EPA’s energy consumption 
and greenhouse gas emissions performance for the 2017–18, 2016–17 and 2015–16 financial. Data for EPA’s vehicle fleet 
and flights was obtained from fuel cards and other internal reports while staff commuting data was obtained from a 
survey distributed to 346 staff members and extrapolated across all EPA staff. 

EPA is moving towards more efficient vehicles in our own fleet and encourages carpooling to reduce our transport 
footprint. In addition, staff members are encouraged to use public transport for official work whenever possible. EPA’s 
video conferencing facilities have greatly reduced the need for staff to travel to other offices. A greater percentage of 
staff commuting to the Head Office in the CBD use more sustainable forms of transport than in the greater Melbourne 
and regional offices where the transport infrastructure is not as established and accessible.  

The increase in total vehicle fleet energy consumption and kilometres travelled was attributed to an increase of EPA 
vehicles. A total of 16 vehicles were added to the EPA fleet in 2017–18. This increase is consistent with the increase in staff. 
The increase in vehicle emissions observed is attributed to this increase in vehicle numbers, as well as slight changes in 
the emissions factors used to estimate emissions. Air travel distance also increased significantly from 2016–17 to 2017–18. 
This was predominately due to EPA staff attendance at both national and international events associated with the Per- 
and polyfluorinated alkyl substances (PFAS) National Environmental Management Plan Roadshow. The majority of EPA 
staff use sustainable transport to get to and from work.

Table 11.12: Transport

Indicator 2017–18 2016–17 2015–16

T1. Total energy consumption by vehicles (MJ) 3,133,598 2,818,382 3,171,014 

 Diesel 1,154,717 1,230,558 1,089,364 

 LPG 149,228 577,741 908,522 

 ULP 1,462,305 1,010,083 1,173,128 

 Hybrid 367,347  NA*  NA* 

T2. Total vehicle travel associated with entity operations (km) 1,072,772 937,718 985,421 

 Diesel 346,952 399,317 305,841 

 LPG 73,320 175,698 278,641 

 ULP 474,920 362,703 400,939 

 Hybrid 177,581  NA*  NA* 

T3. Total greenhouse gas emissions from vehicle fleet (tCO
2
e) 252 200 223 

 Diesel 86 91 81 

 LPG 10 37 59 

 ULP 130 72 84 

 Hybrid 26  NA*  NA* 

T3. Greenhouse gas emissions from vehicle fleet per 1,000 km 
travelled (tCO

2
e)

0.23 0.21 0.23 

 Diesel 0.25 0.23 0.26 

 LPG 0.13 0.21 0.21 

 ULP 0.27 0.20 0.21 

 Hybrid 0.15  NA*  NA* 

T4. Total distance travelled by aeroplane (km) 598,082 305,817 375,289 

T5. Percentage of employees using sustainable** modes of 
transport to and from work or working from home

76% 78% 80%

Notes:
* Data from hybrid vehicles is incorporated in ULP data for 2015–16 and 2016–17.
** Sustainable transport is defined here as public transport, cycling, walking, carpooling, electric or hybrid vehicles.
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Transport targets

EPA’s two transport targets for 2017–18 included: 

• a target to increase vehicle fleet fuel efficiency, expressed as emissions generated per kilometre travelled, against a 
2013–14 baseline

• a target to increase the percentage of employees using sustainable modes of transport to travel to work or 
working from home, against a 2013–14 baseline of 74 per cent. Sustainable modes of transport are defined as public 
transport, cycling, walking and carpooling. 

Table 11.13 shows EPA’s performance against these two targets. EPA has exceeded its vehicle fleet fuel efficiency target for 
the year 2017–18. 

Table 11.13: Current performance against Sustainability Plan targets for transport

Measure June 2018 target Current progress

Fuel efficiency of vehicle fleet (in kgCO
2
–e/km) 0.2288 0.2102

Use of sustainable transport for work purposes 74% 73%

Greenhouse gas emissions

Table 11.14 summarises EPA’s greenhouse gas emissions for the 2017–18, 2016–17 and 2015-16 financial years. EPA 
voluntarily purchases carbon offsets to achieve net zero emissions each year.

EPA’s total greenhouse gas emissions for 2017–18 was 3,793 tCO
2
-e. This represents a 26 per cent increase in greenhouse 

gas emissions. The increase observed is due to a higher number of staff EPA employed during 2017–18 compared to 
2016–17. While overall emissions increased, the emissions intensity, expressed as tCO

2
-e/FTE, decreased. In 2017–18 EPA’s 

emissions intensity was 6.0 tCO
2
-e/FTE compared to 6.5 tCO

2
-e/FTE in 2016–17. 

Table 11.14: Greenhouse gas emissions

Indicator 2017–18 2016–17 2015–16

G1. Total greenhouse gas emissions associated with energy use (tCO
2
e) 2,963 2,153 2,092 

G2. Total greenhouse gas emissions associated with vehicle fleet (tCO
2
e) 226 200 223 

G3. Total greenhouse gas emissions associated with air travel (tCO
2
e) 110 53 70 

G4. Total greenhouse gas emissions associated with waste disposal (tCO
2
e) 7 5 5 

G5. Total emissions from other sources (tCO
2
e)* 487 591 466 

G6. Greenhouse gas emissions offsets purchased (tCO
2
e) 4,000 3,100 3,000

Notes:
*  Greenhouse gas emissions from other sources include: vehicle refrigeration, building refrigeration and air conditioning, taxi use, 

public transport use, boat fuel, printing and publications, catering, couriers, commuting, reticulated water and paper use.

Greenhouse gas emissions targets

EPA’s Greenhouse gas emissions target for 2017–18 can be found in Table 11.15. The target is an emissions reduction target 
set from EPA’s 2009–10 emissions baseline. Table 11.15 presents EPA’s performance against its greenhouse gas emissions 
target showing that the target has been exceeded.

Table 11.15: Current performance against Sustainability Plan targets for greenhouse gas

Measure June 2018 target Current progress

Reduction in greenhouse gas emissions 15% 21%

11. OTHER DISCLOSURES CONTINUED
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Greener Procurement

EPA has a current target in place of purchasing 100 per cent recycled paper at all EPA offices. In 2017–18, 99.13 per cent 
of EPA’s paper was 100 per cent recycled. Additionally, all potential suppliers are partially assessed according to their 
Environmental Management System, with a fixed weighting of 10 per cent specified in all EPA procurement processes. 

Procurement
EPA applies sustainability criteria to the purchase of stationary, cleaning, paper, catering and venue hire to minimise our 
environmental impact. EPA also continued to use ecologically sustainable design guidelines for new buildings or office 
fit-outs. Examples of how we have incorporated environmental procurement decisions are:

• 100 per cent of computer screens are LCD

• 100 per cent of printers, multifunction devices and photocopiers, including portable printers that enable onsite 
printing of inspection reports, have duplex capacity

• all procurement more than $30,000 is assessed with weighted criteria regarding potential suppliers’ efforts to 
minimise their own environmental impacts and the impacts of the services they provide.

Other information available on request  
Information listed below (as per the Financial Reporting Directive 22B of the Financial Management Act 1994) is held at 
EPA’s head office in Melbourne, located at 200 Victoria Street, Carlton, and is available on request, subject to the Freedom 
of Information Act 1982: 

• details of shares held by a senior officer as nominee or held beneficially in a statutory authority or subsidiary

• details of publications produced by EPA about ourselves, and where they can be obtained

• details of changes in prices, fees, charges, rates and levies charged by EPA

• details of any major external reviews carried out in respect of the operation of EPA

• details of major research and development activities undertaken by EPA

• details of overseas visits undertaken, including a summary of the objectives and outcomes of each visit

• details of major promotional, public relations and marketing activities undertaken by EPA to develop community 
awareness of EPA and our services

• details of assessments and measures undertaken to improve occupational health and safety of employees not 
otherwise detailed in the report of operations

• a general statement on industrial relations within EPA, and details of time lost through industrial accidents and 
disputes

• a list of major committees sponsored by EPA, the purpose of each committee, and the extent to which the purposes 
have been achieved

• details of all consultancies and contractors including consultants/contractors engaged, services provided, and 
expenditure committed for each engagement.

In addition, EPA confirms that:

• declarations of pecuniary interests have been duly completed by all relevant officers of EPA.

A request for information can be made by writing to:

Carrie Rafferty (Freedom of Information Officer)
EPA Victoria
GPO Box 4395
Melbourne VIC 3001
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11. OTHER DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

Environment Protection Authority (EPA) Victoria Financial 
Management Compliance Attestation Statement
I, Cheryl Batagol, on behalf of the Responsible Body, certify that the Environment Protection Authority Victoria has 
complied with the applicable Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994 
and Instructions.

Cheryl Batagol

Chairperson
Environment Protection Authority Victoria
Responsible body

Melbourne
4 September 2018

Compliance with the Data.Vic Access Policy
Consistent with the Data.Vic Access Policy issued by the Victorian Government in 2012, the information included in this 
Annual Report will be available at www.data.vic.gov.au in machine readable format.
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12. DEFINITIONS

The following definitions explain scientific and technical 
terms used in this Annual Report. 

Air quality: The condition of the air described by the 
presence of air pollution or other contamination at a 
particular place and time. Air quality can be investigated 
by measuring levels of common pollutants such as ozone, 
carbon monoxide and small particles.

AirWatch: AirWatch is an interactive map that shows air 
quality information measured by EPA’s air monitoring 
stations around Victoria. It is available at www.epa.vic.gov.au. 

Carbon monoxide: Carbon monoxide is a colourless and 
odourless gas that comes mainly from car exhausts. It 
is toxic to humans at concentrations above 35 parts per 
million (ppm). 

Combustible recyclable and waste materials: Includes 
paper, cardboard, wood, plastic, rubber, textile, organic 
material, refuse derived fuel, specified electronic 
waste, metals, and other combustible material which is 
considered waste.

Nitrogen dioxide (NO
2
): Nitrogen dioxide is a gas that 

is known to affect the throat and the lungs. In levels 
encountered in polluted air, people with respiratory 
problems, particularly infants, children and the elderly, 
may be affected. EPA monitors nitrogen dioxide in 
Victoria’s air through AirWatch.

pH: pH is a measure of the hydrogen ion concentration 
of a solution. Solutions with a high hydrogen ion 
concentration have a low pH and those with a low 
concentration have a high pH. A solution with a low pH – 
less than 7 – is an acidic solution, whereas one with a high 
pH – greater than 7 – is alkaline or basic. A solution with a 
pH of 7 is neutral.

PM
10

: Particles in the air with a diameter less than 10 
micrometres. These particles can be a variety of shapes 
and sizes (up to 10 micrometres). They are small enough to 
get into the lungs and can cause health problems. Sources 
of these particles include combustion, crushing or grinding 
operations, pollen, road dust and sea salt. EPA monitors 
PM

10
 in Victoria’s air through AirWatch.

PM
2.5

: Particles in the air smaller than 2.5 micrometres 
in diameter. General sources of these particles include 
all types of combustion, including motor vehicles, power 
plant emissions and fires. Fine particles pose the greatest 
risk to human health, as their size means they can be 
breathed deep into the lungs. These particles are up to 30 
times smaller than the width of a single human hair. EPA 
monitors PM

2.5
 in Victoria’s air through AirWatch.

PFAS: Per- and polyfluorinated alkyl substances are a 
group of manufactured chemicals that have historically 
been used in firefighting foams and other industrial and 
consumer products for many decades.

Pollution abatement notices (PANs): PANs are issued 
under section 31A of the Environment Protection Act 1970. 
They aim to prevent further occurrence of pollution or 
potential environmental risk through installation of risk 
controls and changes to onsite processes and practices.

Post-closure pollution abatement notices (PC PANs): In 
order to ensure that the risks are appropriately quantified 
and managed, owners of closed landfill sites are issued 
with pollution abatement notices that require the closed 
landfill to be managed so there are no unacceptable risks 
to the environment. These are referred to as PC PANs.

Prescribed industrial waste (PIW): PIW is waste that is 
potentially harmful to humans or the environment and 
has the properties set out in the Environment Protection 
(Industrial Waste Resource) Regulations 2009. PIW can 
take different forms – solid, liquid or gaseous. Examples of 
PIW include waste paints and solvents, contaminated soil, 
waste oil and filter cake.

Sulfur dioxide (SO
2
): Sulfur dioxide is an irritant gas 

that attacks the throat and lungs. Its effect on health is 
increased by the presence of airborne particles. Prolonged 
exposure to sulfur dioxide can lead to increases in 
respiratory illnesses like chronic bronchitis. EPA monitors 
sulfur dioxide in Victoria’s air through AirWatch.

µg/m3: The concentration of an air pollutant in 
micrograms per cubic metre of air. 

Underground petroleum storage systems (UPSS): UPSS 
have the potential to leak, leading to expensive cleanup 
costs, damage to the environment and risks to human 
health.

53X: A 53X (‘condition of the environment’) audit is 
most frequently used by the planning system and verifies 
that potentially contaminated land can be used for a 
specific use (industrial, commercial or residential). From 
a 53X audit comes either a certificate or statement 
of environmental audit. Generally, a 53X audit is 
required when land proposed for new use is potentially 
contaminated or already covered by an environmental 
audit overlay (EAO) within a planning scheme. An example 
of this might be construction of residential buildings on 
former industrial land.
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13. DELIVERING OUR 2017–18 ANNUAL PLAN 

GOAL 1: PREVENT HARM  

We prevent harm from pollution and waste by leveraging good environmental performance across community, 
business and government.

OUTCOMES DELIVERABLES Page

1.1 Regulatory effort 
delivers greatest 
preventative effect, when 
informed by science and 
intelligence

1.1.1 Development of a strategy that embeds EPA’s new vision for its regulatory, compliance 
and enforcement work.

20

1.1.2 Implementation of year two of EPA’s Regulatory Intelligence Strategy to further 
enhance our intelligence capability.

27

1.1.3 Continue to invest in external research partnerships to help drive evidence-based 
decision-making and better environmental outcomes.

26–27

1.2 Regulatory effort 
supports good 
performance, creates a 
level playing field, and 
encourages continuous 
improvement

1.2.1 Support the Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning (DELWP) with 
knowledge and expertise in undertaking a comprehensive overhaul of the Environment 
Protection Act 1970.

20

1.2.2 Continue financial assurance reform through updated guidance and stakeholder 
engagement to promote compliance with financial assurance licence conditions by high-risk 
sectors and facilities.

21

1.2.3 Deliver our Major Industry and Licence Compliance Assessment programs to ensure 
high-risk sites have appropriate environment management and monitoring systems and 
comply with their EPA licence.

31

1.3 Increased participation 
by business and community 
in preventing and managing 
environmental risk

1.3.1 Implement a compliance and engagement program to drive better industry practices to 
prevent contamination of land, groundwater and stormwater.

12–14, 
26

1.3.2 Encourage better performance at sites with high-risk underground petroleum storage 
systems through compliance and education, while enhancing intelligence to manage risks 
to land and groundwater.

17, 23

1.4 Provision of early 
advice to influence land use 
planning decisions

1.4.1 Support the delivery of statutory mechanisms to ensure planning authorities seek 
early advice from EPA on planning processes that have environmental and human health 
implications.

25, 26

1.4.2 Continue to pursue reform to further embed environmental considerations in the 
planning system.

25

1.4.3 Strengthen EPA’s capability to provide improved statutory planning advice that is risk-
based, legally sound and consistent with policy.

24, 25

GOAL 2:  EQUIP COMMUNITY AND BUSINESS 

We support Victorians to understand the condition of their environment and we work to ensure shared 
responsibility is accepted and understood by community and business.

OUTCOMES DELIVERABLES Page
2.1 Timely, accessible 
information on the 
condition of our 
environment and expert 
advice on the human health 
impacts of pollution and 
waste

2.1.1 Assess existing EPA monitoring capability to identify practical and cost-effective 
actions to improve quality, coverage, data sharing, accessibility and community 
engagement.

24, 27

2.1.2 Provide input into the development of a statewide approach for the coordination of 
environmental management and monitoring.

10

2.1.3 Support the development of a statewide database of high-risk legacy contamination 
sites to improve risk management by individuals, business, government, and councils.

12, 13

2.1.4 Develop an emerging chemicals framework, including an environmental assessment 
program, to identify and manage high-risk chemicals in Victoria.

15, 16, 
21

2.1.5 Commence implementation of the new community co-designed air monitoring network 
in the Latrobe Valley to better meet community expectations and needs.

8

2.2 Clear advice and 
guidance that supports 
compliance with 
environmental obligations

2.2.1 Establish a codes and guidance unit to work with industry, community and government 
to develop new ‘support to comply’ tools that provide greater certainty for duty holders and 
build broader community knowledge of environment protection obligations.

20, 23

2.2.2 Release new guidance material to raise stakeholder awareness of the Environment 
Protection (Scheduled Premises) Regulations 2017.

21

2.3 Community 
engagement in 
environmental 
management and decision-
making

2.3.1 Promote greater community involvement in ‘citizen science’ 8

2.3.2 Promote community involvement in the assessment of works approval applications to 
build confidence and transparency in EPA’s decision-making.

18, 26

2.3.3 Engage stakeholders through EPA’s water, community and business reference groups 
to gain better insights in relation to environment protection, community engagement and 
the development of new standards.

28

2.4 Acknowledge 
partnerships and clear role 
definition in environmental 
and human health 
protection

2.4.1 Undertake market research on EPA’s identity to better understand how we can 
communicate with the Victorian community in ways that work for them.

28

2.4.2 Develop an updated corporate narrative to help ensure EPA’s role and purpose, 
particularly in relation to environmental public health, is well understood.

10, 28

2.4.3 Develop an engagement framework that incorporates environmental justice principles 
to ensure purposeful connections with the Victorian community.

Note 1, 
Table 
11.0

2.4.4 Develop a target audience strategy to ensure EPA is connecting with the right 
segments of the community.

28, 
Note 1
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GOAL 3:  BE AN INFLUENTIAL AUTHORITY 

We are a trusted source of advice on Victoria’s environment and influential in working with others to address 
complex problems resulting from pollution and waste.

OUTCOMES DELIVERABLES Page

3.1 Applied expertise that 
shapes the monitoring, 
identification and reporting 
of environmental and 
human health risk and 
subsequent response

3.1.1 Finalise the establishment of the Chief Environmental Scientist function to provide 
government, industry and the Victorian community with an authoritative and expert voice 
on environmental and human health issues.

21

3.1.2 Implement an ongoing environmental surveillance program to improve EPA’s ability to 
identify and plan for environmental issues before they occur.

10

3.1.3 Provide policy and regulatory expertise to our portfolio and jurisdictional partners 
in the review of the State Environment Protection Policy [Waters of Victoria] (SEPP) and 
national NO

2
, SO

2
 and ozone standards.

8, 9, 
13

3.2 Leadership in 
partnering with others to 
address complex pollution 
and waste challenges

3.2.1 Lead statewide action against illegal dumping of industrial waste through EPA’s Illegal 
Dumping Strikeforce Program.

16

3.2.2 Improve landfill compliance through the roll-out of new sector-specific licence 
conditions. Continue to support industry to comply with post-closure requirements and 
implementation of EPA’s new landfill strategy.

17

3.2.3 Support the Victorian Government to implement the ban for sending e-waste to 
landfill and consult with industry and community to better understand the future role and 
barriers of recycling e-waste.

16

3.3 Strong collaboration 
with other regulators to 
remain at the forefront of 
regulatory practice

3.3.1 Develop stronger partnerships with co-regulators and local government through 
training and stakeholder engagement programs.

20

3.4 Enhanced 
environmental public 
health capability that gives 
community confidence

3.4.1 Formalise and strengthen EPA’s partnership with the Department of Health and Human 
Services to ensure an effective and coordinated approach to management of environmental 
health issues in Victoria.

14, 16, 
21

3.4.2 Further develop EPA’s role in environmental public health through engagement with 
our government, business and community stakeholders.

10

GOAL 4:  RESPOND TO HARM 

We hold polluters to account and work with our partners to respond to pollution and emergency incidents and 
legacy contamination to minimise harm to Victoria’s environment and people.

OUTCOMES DELIVERABLES Page

4.1 Timely and 
proportionate 
consequences for those 
that do the wrong thing

4.1.1 Implementation of a new sanction strategy to improve our timely, efficient and 
effective use of sanctions and promote increased compliance with environmental 
obligations.

20

4.2 High-quality reporting 
of pollution incidents and 
timely risk-based response

4.2.1 Commence a local government environment protection officer pilot to enable an 
improved and consistent response to localised amenity, pollution and waste issues.

25

4.2.2 Focus on resolving regional issues through strategic compliance and enforcement 
programs, including EPA’s ongoing commitment to improving air quality in Brooklyn and 
working with industry to improve management of dairy effluent.

9, 12

4.2.3 Enhance our efficiency and effectiveness in responding to pollution incidents and 
emergencies through a risk-based, scaled approach.

21

4.3 Technical advice 
on pollution and waste 
that makes a significant 
contribution to Victoria’s 
Emergency Management 
system

4.3.1 Promote our expertise as a support agency and technical advisor for high-risk 
emergencies involving pollution, including supporting the amendment to Victoria’s 
Emergency Management Manual.

22

4.4 Timely identification 
and management of legacy 
contamination that ensures 
land is efficiently returned 
to safe and useful purpose

4.4.1 Provide expert advice to assist DELWP to better integrate the planning process and 
environmental regulation of legacy contamination through legislative and regulatory 
change.

24

4.4.2 Develop and implement an interim approach to manage PFAS (per-and 
polyfluorinated alkyl substances) waste in line with an upcoming national management 
framework.

16

4.4.3 Develop a management strategy for the environmental and human health impacts of 
lead contamination at current and former shooting ranges.

14

4.4.4 Standardise our approach to industrial decommissioning to better coordinate 
recovery and cleanup operations related to environment protection and site remediation.

26
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GOAL 5: ORGANISATIONAL EXCELLENCE 

As an organisation, EPA commits to delivering on our goals by enabling a high-performance culture that values 
our people, and supports them with fit-for-purpose systems and expertise.

OUTCOMES DELIVERABLES Page

5.1 Service delivery that 
reflects community, 
business and government 
expectations

5.1.1 Delivery of a Capability Assessment to understand EPA’s current capabilities and 
future needs.

20

5.1.2 Implement a new Performance Framework that drives continual improvement to 
deliver on our strategic foundations.

20

5.2 Good governance 5.2.1 Finalise EPA’s transition from an administrative office of DELWP to a full statutory 
authority by 30 June 2018.

3, 39

5.3 Business systems and 
processes that continuously 
improve to support delivery

5.3.1 Deliver a Digital Communications Strategy to enhance EPA’s digital presence to better 
support and reach a broader range of Victorians.

Note 1

5.3.2 Develop and deliver an ICT strategy that enables EPA to achieve a coordinated and 
collaborative approach to data collection, analysis and reporting.

24

5.4 Staff safety, health, 
wellbeing and development

5.4.1 Encourage good safety practices at all levels within the organisation. 41

5.4.2 Better integrate diversity inclusion programs, such as the Indigenous Employment 
and Inclusion Framework, and gender equality and disability initiatives into workforce 
planning.

44–45

Notes:
1. Under development.

13. DELIVERING OUR 2017–18 ANNUAL PLAN 
CONTINUED
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14. DISCLOSURE INDEX 

EPA’s Annual Report is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian legislations and pronouncements. This index has 
been prepared to facilitate identification of the department’s compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.

Legislation Requirement Page

Ministerial Directions

Report of operations – FRD guidance

Charter and purpose

FRD 22H Manner of establishment and the relevant ministers 7

FRD 22H Purpose, functions, powers and duties 7

FRD 8C Departmental objectives, indicators and outputs n/a

FRD 22H Initiatives and key achievements 8–29

FRD 22H Nature and range of services provided 3

Management and structure

FRD 22F Organisational structure 34–40

Financial and other information

FRD 8C, SD 4.2(k) Performance against output performance measures 29–31

FRD 8C Budget portfolio outcomes n/a

FRD 10 Disclosure index 63–64

FRD 12B Disclosure of major contracts 49

FRD 15E Executive officer disclosures in the Report of Operations 46

FRD 22H Employment and conduct principles 42

FRD 22H Occupational Health and Safety Policy 41

FRD 22H Summary of the financial results for the year 32–33

FRD 22H Significant changes in financial position during the year 32–33

FRD 22H Major changes or factors affecting performance 32–33

FRD 22H Subsequent events 32–33

FRD 22H    Compliance with the Disability Act 2006  45

Financial report 

FRD 22H Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 50

FRD 22H Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building Act 1993 50

FRD 22H Statement on National Competition Policy 50

FRD 22H Application and operation of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 50–51

FRD 22H Application and operation of the Carers Recognition Act 2012 n/a

FRD 22H Details of consultancies more than $10,000 47–49

FRD 22H Details of consultancies under $10,000 49

FRD 22H Statement of availability of other information 57

FRD 24C Reporting of office based environmental impacts 51–57

FRD 25C Local Jobs First - Victorian Industry Participation Policy 47

FRD 29C Workforce Data disclosures in the Report of Operations – Public Service Employees 43–45

SD 4.5.5 Risk management compliance attestation 58

SD 4.2(g) Specific information requirements 8–31

SD 4.2(j) Sign off requirements 2

Financial statements required under Part 7 of the FMA

SD4.2(a) Statement of changes in equity 71

SD4.2(b) Comprehensive operating statement 69
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Legislation Requirement Page

SD4.2(b) Balance sheet 70

SD4.2(b) Cash flow statement 72

Other requirements under Standing Directions 4.2

SD4.2(c) Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative 
pronouncements

73

SD4.2(c) Compliance with Ministerial Directions 73

SD4.2(d) Rounding of amounts 73

SD4.2(c) Responsible body’s declaration 65

SD4.2(f) Compliance with Model Financial Report 73

Other disclosures as required by FRDs in notes to the financial statements

FRD 9B Departmental disclosure of administered assets and liabilities by activity 80–81

FRD 11A Disclosure of ex gratia expenses 109

FRD 13 Disclosure of parliamentary appropriations 80

FRD 21C Disclosures of responsible persons and executive officers in the financial report 105

FRD 102A Inventories n/a

FRD 103G Non financial physical assets 82–85

FRD 104 Foreign currency n/a

FRD 106B Impairment of assets 84

FRD 109A Intangible assets 84–85

FRD 107B Investment properties n/a

FRD 110A Cash flow statements 72

FRD 112D Defined benefit superannuation obligations 78

FRD 113A Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in the separate financial 
statements

n/a

FRD 114B Financial instruments – general government entities and public non-financial corporations 96–100

FRD 119A Transfers through contributed capital 75

Legislation 

Freedom of Information Act 1982 50

Building Act 1993 50

Protected Disclosure Act 2001 50–51

Carers Recognition Act 2012 n/a

Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 47

Financial Management Act 1994 73

14. DISCLOSURE INDEX CONTINUED
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15. RESPONSIBLE BODY’S DECLARATION 

The attached financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Direction 5.2 of the Standing Directions of 
the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian 
Accounting Standards including interpretations, and other mandatory professional reporting requirements. 

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement, balance sheet, 
statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and notes forming part of the financial statements, presents fairly 
the financial transactions during the year ended 30 June 2018 and financial position of the Authority at 30 June 2018.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance which would render any particulars included in the financial 
statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on 4 September 2018.

Cheryl Batagol

Chairperson
Environment Protection Authority

Melbourne
4 September 2018

Dr Cathy Wilkinson

Chief Executive Officer
Environment Protection Authority

Melbourne
4 September 2018

Matthew Dale

Chief Financial Officer
Environment Protection Authority

Melbourne
4 September 2018



66  EPA ANNUAL REPORT 2017–2018

16. INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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17. HOW THESE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ARE 
STRUCTURED

Environment Protection Authority (the Authority) has pleasure in presenting its audited general purpose financial 
statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 and provides users with information about the Authority’s 
stewardship of resources entrusted to it. The 2017–18 financial year has seen the Authority continue an extensive 
transformation program, aligned to the Authority’s organisational strategy; Our environment, Our health. 

The general purpose financial statements are presented in the following structure:

Financial statements:

Comprehensive operating statement  

Balance sheet

Statement of changes in equity 

Cash flow statement 

Notes to the financial statements:

1. About this report 
The basis on which the financial statements have been prepared and compliance with reporting regulations

2. Funding delivery of our services and transformation initiatives 
Revenue recognised in respect of grants and other income sources

3. The cost of delivering services and transformation initiatives 
Operating expenses of the Authority

4. Financial information by output 
Outputs and administered (non-controlled) items

5. Key assets available to support service delivery and transformation initiatives 
Infrastructure, plant and equipment, intangible assets and investments

6. Other assets and liabilities 
Working capital balances and other key assets and liabilities

7. Financing our operations 
Borrowings, cash flow information and leases

8. Risks, contingencies and valuation judgements 
Financial risk management, contingent assets and liabilities as well as fair value determination

9. Other disclosures
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18. COMPREHENSIVE OPERATING STATEMENT FOR 
THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

($ ’000)

Notes 2018 2017

Income from transactions

Grants received from Departments (i) 2.3 6,253 20,616

Municipal and Industrial Landfill levy distribution 2.3 28,767 28,386

Prescribed Industrial Waste levy 2.1 42,799 32,013

Other revenue 2.2 8,906 8,559

Grants – reform output funding (ii)(iii) 2.4 45,879 11,220

Grants – reform asset funding (ii)(iii) 2.4 2,901 605

Total income from transactions 135,505 101,399

Expenses from transactions

Employee expenses 3.1.1 (69,439) (51,393)

Grants paid 3.1.2 (2,713) (3,541)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 5.1.1 (6,506) (4,716)

Interest expense 7.1.2 (66) (66)

Other operating expenses 3.1.3 (32,562) (32,294)

Total expenses from transactions (111,286) (92,010)

Net result from transactions (net operating balance) 24,219 9,389

Other economic flows included in net result

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets 9.7 (a) (1,711) (75)

Net gain/(loss) on statutory receivables 9.7 (b) (1,510) (6,312)

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments 9.7 (c) 1,085 567

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows 9.7 (d) (6) 87

Total other economic flows included in net result (2,142) (5,733)

Net result 22,077 3,656

Comprehensive result 22,077 3,656

Notes:
(i)  Decline in grants from the Department is due to the cessation of grant arrangements following the Sustainability Fund transfer 

during 2015–16, replaced by a portion of reform output funding in 2016–17 and 2017–18.
(ii)  In 2017–18, the Authority received additional Municipal and Industrial (M&I) Landfill levy distribution grants as part of the second 

year of the ‘Bringing our Environment Protection Authority into the modern era’ initiative. This revenue includes funding for asset 
investment purposes which will be capitalised on the Authority’s balance sheet. 

(iii)  This income stream currently expires at the end of 2020–21 in line with the ‘Bringing our Environment Protection Authority into the 
modern era’ initiative funding.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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19. BALANCE SHEET AS AT 30 JUNE 2018

($ ’000)

Notes 2018 2017

Assets 

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 7.2 69,395 59,202

Managed investment fund 5.4 63,174 62,089

Receivables 6.1 48,890 33,657

Total financial assets 181,459 154,948

Non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment 5.1 15,855 18,404

Intangible assets 5.2 8,985 11,062

Non-financial physical assets classified as held-for-sale 9.5 – 57

Other non-financial assets 6.3 1,962 2,280

Total non-financial assets 26,802 31,803

Total assets 208,261 186,751

Liabilities

Employee-related provisions 3.1.1(b) 13,426 10,850

Payables 6.2 10,462 9,238

Provisions 6.4 5,935 11,008

Borrowings 7.1 2,257 1,551

Total liabilities 32,080 32,647

Net assets 176,181 154,104

Equity

Accumulated surplus 169,137 147,060

Contributed capital 3,361 3,361

Physical asset revaluation surplus 9.6 3,683 3,683

Net worth 176,181 154,104

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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20. STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

($ ’000)

Physical asset 
revaluation 

surplus
Accumulated 

surplus
Contributions by 

owner Total

Balance at 1 July 2016 3,683 143,404 943 148,030

Net result for the year – 3,656 – 3,656

Contributed from owner – – 2,418 2,418

Balance at 30 June 2017 3,683 147,060 3,361 154,104

Net result for the year – 22,077 – 22,077

Balance at 30 June 2018 3,683 169,137 3,361 176,181

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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21. CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE FINANCIAL 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

($ ’000)

Notes 2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts

Receipts from Government 72,909 61,928

Receipts from other entities 46,446 45,898

Goods and services tax recovered from the ATO (i) 3,804 2,674

Interest received 1,292 988

Total receipts 124,451 111,488

Payments

Payments of grants and other transfers (2,713) (3,541)

Payments to suppliers and employees (107,512) (83,094)

Interest and other costs of finance paid (66) (66)

Total payments (110,291) (86,701)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 7.2.1 14,160 24,787

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds/payment for financial assets (1,085) (567)

Purchases of non-financial assets (2,431) (3,645)

Sales of non-financial assets 56 (36)

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities (3,460) (4,248)

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash transferred on activity transferred in – Machinery of Government 
changes (ii)

– 186

Owner’s contribution from State – 2,418

Repayment of finance leases (507) (403)

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities (507) 2,200

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 10,193 22,740

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year 59,202 36,462

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year 7.2 69,395 59,202

Notes:
(i) GST paid to the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is presented on a net basis.
(ii)  The Independent Inquiry into the Authority released in May 2016 recommended the creation of a consolidated and enhanced 

environmental health capability at the Authority. On 12 December 2016, staff were transferred from the Department of Health and 
Human Services (DHHS) through a section 30 notice under the Public Administration Act 2004 to the Authority. 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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1. ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Authority was a reporting entity established under the Environment Protection Act 1970 and was classified as 
an administrative office of the Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning (the Department) under the 
Public Administration Act 2004 for the reporting period.

On 1 July 2018, the Environment Protection Act 2017 became effective and transitioned the Authority from an 
Administrative Office of the Department to an Independent Statutory Authority, operating under a new governance 
structure consisting of a Governing Board as the Responsible Body.

Its principal address is: Environment Protection Authority Victoria
     200 Victoria Street
     Carlton VIC 3053

The financial statements include all the controlled activities of the Authority.

A description of the nature of the Authority’s operations and its principal activities is included in the report of 
operations, which does not form part of these financial statements.

Basis of preparation

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, the functional and presentation currency of the Authority.

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in the preparation of these financial statements whereby assets, 
liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when 
cash is received or paid.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial information being presented. The 
significant judgements made in the preparation of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes where amounts 
affected by those judgements are disclosed. Estimates and associated assumptions are based on professional judgements 
derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future periods 
that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in applying Australian Accounting 
Standards (AASs) that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates are disclosed in the notes under 
the heading: ‘Significant judgement’.

All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 unless otherwise stated.

Compliance information

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994 
and applicable AASs, including interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). In particular, 
they are presented in a manner consistent with the requirements of the Whole of Government and General Government 
Sector Financial Reporting (AASB 1049).

Where appropriate, those AASs paragraphs applicable to not-for-profit entities have been applied. Accounting policies 
selected and applied in these financial statements ensure that the resulting financial information satisfies the concepts of 
relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other events is reported.

The general purpose financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis.

22. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018



74  EPA ANNUAL REPORT 2017–2018

2. FUNDING DELIVERY OF OUR SERVICES AND TRANSFORMATION 
INITIATIVES

Introduction

The Authority’s purpose is to protect human health 
and the environment by reducing the harmful effects 
of pollution and waste.

The Authority derives the majority of its revenue 
from grants and reform funding received from the 
Department, Municipal and Industrial (M&I) Landfill 
levy distributions and Prescribed Industrial Waste 
(PIW) levy.

Other income comprises earnings on investments 
and litter fines. 

In 2017–18, the Authority received additional 
Municipal and Industrial (M&I) Landfill levy 
distribution grants as part of the second year of the 
‘Bringing our Environment Protection Authority into 
the modern era’ initiative. 

Structure

2.1   Summary of income that funds the delivery of 
our services and transformation initiatives

2.2  Other revenue

2.3  Grants received

2.4 Grants received – reform funding

2.5  Contributions by owners

22. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 CONTINUED

2.1 Summary of income that funds the delivery of our services and transformation 
initiatives

 ($ ’000)

Notes 2018 2017

Grants from Department 2.3 6,253 20,616

M&I Landfill levy distribution from Department 2.3 28,767 28,386

PIW levy 42,799 32,013

Other revenue 2.2 8,906 8,559

Grants – reform output funding 2.4 45,879 11,220

Grants – reform asset funding 2.4 2,901 605

Total income from transactions 135,505 101,399

Income is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Authority and the income 
can be reliably measured. Where applicable, amounts disclosed as income are net of returns, allowances, duties and 
taxes. All amounts of income over which the Authority does not have control are disclosed as administered income in the 
schedule of administered income (see Note 4.2)

Revenue is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with AASB 118 Revenue. Landfill levies, such as PIW levy, 
received during the year, are recorded in the year the revenue was earned. Levies for which landfill operators have not 
yet submitted returns at the end of the financial year, are recorded as accrued revenue.
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2.2 Other revenue

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Licence levy 345 364

Interest from financial assets – public sector 1,343 1,002

Interest and holding gains from financial assets – non-public sector 1,691 1,879

Litter fines 3,533 4,240

Miscellaneous 1,666 724

Environment audit fees 328 350

Total other revenue 8,906 8,559

Interest income includes interest received on bank term deposits and other investments. Interest income is recognised 
using the effective interest method which allocates the interest over the relevant period.

2.3 Grants received

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Grants from Department (i) 6,253 20,616

M&I Landfill levy distribution from Department 28,767 28,386

Total grants received 35,020 49,002

Notes: 
(i) Decline in grants from the Department is due to the cessation of grant arrangements following the Sustainability Fund transfer 
during 2015–16, replaced by a portion of reform output funding in 2016–17 and 2017–18.

Grants can be received as general-purpose grants which refers to grants which are not subject to conditions regarding 
their use. Alternatively, they may be received as specific-purpose grants which are paid for a particular purpose and/or 
have conditions attached regarding their use.

2.4 Grants received – reform funding

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Grants – reform output funding 45,879 11,220

Grants – reform asset funding 2,901 605

Total grants received – reform funding 48,780 11,825

In 2017-18, the Authority received additional Municipal and Industrial (M&I) Landfill levy distribution grants as part of the 
second year of the ‘Bringing our Environment Protection Authority into the modern era’ initiative.  This revenue includes 
funding for asset investment purposes which will be capitalised on the Authority’s balance sheet.

This income stream currently expires at the end of 2020–21 in line with the ‘Bringing our Environment Protection 
Authority into the modern era’ initiative funding.

2.5 Contributions by owners

During the course of the year, the Authority received no contributed capital transfers; however, grant funding of $2.90 
million (30 June 2017: $0.60 million) was received for capital works on specific projects reflected in Note 2.4. Prior period 
amounts were received from the Department and have been reported as a contributed capital transfer, as required by FRD 
119A – Transfers through Contributed Capital, under the Financial Management Act 1994 (30 June 2017: $2.42 million).
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3. THE COST OF DELIVERING SERVICES AND TRANSFORMATION 
INITIATIVES

Introduction

This section provides an account of the expenses 
incurred by the Authority in delivering services, 
transformation initiatives and outputs. In Section 2, 
the revenue that enables the delivery of our services 
was disclosed and in Section 3, the cost associated with 
provision of services is recorded.

Structure

3.1   Expenses incurred in delivery of services and 
transformation initiatives

3.1.1 Employee benefits

3.1.2 Grants paid

3.1.3 Other operating expenses

3.1 Expenses incurred in delivery of services and transformation initiatives

($ ’000)

Notes 2018 2017

Employee expenses 3.1.1 69,439 51,393

Grant paid 3.1.2 2,713 3,541

Other operating expenses 3.1.3 32,562 32,294

Total expenses incurred in delivery of services and transformation 
initiatives 104,714 87,228

3.1.1 Employee benefits 

3.1.1(a) Employee benefits - comprehensive operating statement

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Salary and associated costs 64,113 47,416

Post-employment benefits:

Defined contribution superannuation expense 4,982 3,656

Defined benefit superannuation expense 344 321

Total employee expenses 69,439 51,393

Employee expenses include all costs related to employment (other than superannuation which is accounted  for 
separately) including salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, redundancy payments and WorkCover premiums.

The amount recognised in the net result in relation to members of defined contribution and defined benefit 
superannuation plans is the employer contributions that are paid or payable to these plans during the reporting period. 

The Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF) in its Annual Financial Statements, recognise on behalf of the state as the 
sponsoring employer, the net defined benefit cost related to the members of these plans. 

22. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 CONTINUED
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3.1.1(b) Employee benefits in the balance sheet

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Current provisions:

Annual leave

 Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months 5,129 4,096

Long service leave

 Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months 458 732

 Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months 5,369 4,103

Provisions for on-costs

 Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months 71 115

 Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months 836 642

Total current provisions for employee benefits 11,863 9,688

Non-current provisions:

Conditional long service leave 1,352 1,005

On-costs 211 157

Total non-current provisions for employee benefits 1,563 1,162

Total provisions for employee benefits 13,426 10,850

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service 
leave (LSL) for services rendered to the reporting date and recorded as an expense during the period the services are 
delivered.

Reconciliation of movement in employee provisions

($ ’000)

2018

Opening balance as at 1 July 2017 10,850

Additional provisions recognised 6,970

Additions due to transfer in 92

Reduction arising from payments/other sacrifices of future economic benefits (4,476)

Reduction resulting from re-measurement or settlement without cost –

Unwind of discount and effect of changes in the discount rate (10)

Closing balance as at 30 June 2018 13,426

Current 11,863

Non-current 1,563

Wages, salaries and annual leave:

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave are recognised in the provision for 
employee benefits as ‘current liabilities’, because the Authority does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement 
of these liabilities. The components of these liabilities are measured at:

• undiscounted value – if the Authority expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or

• present value – if the Authority does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Unconditional long service leave is disclosed as a current liability, even where the Authority does not expect to settle the 
liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement should 
an employee take leave within 12 months.

Conditional long service leave is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is a conditional right to defer the settlement of 
the entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. This non-current long service liability is 
measured at present value.
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Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a transaction, 
except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in the bond interest rates for which it is recognised as 
another economic flow in the net result.

3.1.1(c) Superannuation contributions - comprehensive operating statement

Employees of the Authority are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and the Authority contributes to both defined 
benefit and defined contribution plans. The defined benefit plans provide benefits based on years of service and final 
average salary.

However, superannuation contributions paid or payable for the reporting period are included as part of employee benefits 
in the net result of the Authority.

The name, details and amounts expensed in relation to the major employee superannuation funds and contributions 
made by the Authority are as follows:

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Defined benefit plans:

Emergency Services and State Superannuation Fund (ESS) 344 321

Total defined benefit plans 344 321

Defined contribution plans:

VicSuper 2,887 2,326

Other 2,095 1,330

Total defined contribution plans 4,982 3,656

Total 5,326 3,977

3.1.2 Grants paid

   ($ ’000)

2018 2017

Grants to Victorian Government entities within portfolio 895 1,589

Grants to Victorian Government entities outside portfolio 1,397 1,352

Grants to external organisations 421 600

Total grants paid 2,713 3,541

Transactions in which the Authority provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour to another party 
without receiving approximately equal value in return are categorised as ‘grant expenses’. Grants can either be operating 
or capital in nature.

Grants were paid as specific purpose grants which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions attached 
regarding their use.

Grants paid are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are paid or payable. 

22. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 CONTINUED
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3.1.3 Other operating expenses

    ($ ’000)

2018 2017

Consultants and contracted services 8,714 6,658

Agency costs 3,969 3,041

Shared services management fee 1,576 1,846

Occupancy and utilities 2,601 2,245

Supplies and services (i) 11,658 15,716

Ex gratia expense 700 –

Operating lease rental expenses:

Lease payments 3,344 2,788

Total other operating expenses 32,562 32,294

Notes:
(i)  During 2016–17, the Authority recognised additional provisions for the treatment of chemical stockpiles and site remediation works 

on contaminated sites. Refer Note 6.4.1

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations which are 
recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments (including contingent rentals) are recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term, 
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the use of 
the leased asset.
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4. FINANCIAL INFORMATION BY OUTPUT

Introduction

The Authority’s sole output as defined in the Victorian 
Government’s Budget Paper 3, is Statutory Activities 
and Environment Protection. 

Taxes, fines and regulatory fees: The Authority collects 
litter fines and PIW levies on its own behalf, but all 
other taxes, fines and regulatory fees are collected on 
behalf of the state.

Structure

4.1  Authority (controlled) outputs 

4.2 Administered (non-controlled) items 

22. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 CONTINUED

Distinction between controlled and administered items

The distinction between controlled and administered items is based on whether the Authority has the ability to deploy the 
resources in question for its own benefit (controlled outputs) or whether it does so on behalf of the state (administered 
items). The Authority remains accountable for transactions involving administered items, but it does not recognise these 
items in its financial statements.

4.1 Authority (controlled) outputs

All financial activities associated with this output are reported in the comprehensive operating statement of the financial 
statements.

4.2 Administered (non-controlled) items

The Authority administers or manages other activities on behalf of the state. The transactions relating to these State 
activities are reported as administered items in this note. Administered transactions give rise to income, expenses, assets 
and liabilities and are determined on an accrual basis. Administered income includes taxes, fees and fines.

Administered assets include government income earned but yet to be collected. Administered liabilities include 
government expenses incurred but yet to be paid. The controlled Authority’s financial statements and these administered 
items are consolidated into the financial statements of the state.

In respect to M&I Landfill levy, the Authority does not control the revenue and acts as an agent for the Department that 
recognises the revenue. Refer Note 9.4.

The Authority recognises amounts collected and payable to the Department as assets and liabilities determined on an 
accrual basis.
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4.2 Administered (non-controlled) items continued

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Administered income from transactions

Regulatory fees 14,706 15,146

Miscellaneous 390 1,836

Fines 583 706

User charges 262 276

Total administered income from transactions 15,941 17,964

Payments into the consolidated fund (15,621) (17,679)

Total administered expenses from transactions (15,621) (17,679)

Administered net result from transactions (net operating balance) for the year 320 285

Administered other economic flows included in administered net result

Net gain/(loss) on receivables – (68)

Total administered other economic flows included in administered net result – (68)

Total administered comprehensive result for the year 320 217

Administered financial assets

Cash and deposits 17,800 20,700

Receivables 45,169 34,832

Accrued revenue 54,047 50,768

Total administered financial assets 117,016 106,300

Total administered assets 117,016 106,300

Administered liabilities

Creditors and accruals (i) 115,357 104,995

Unearned income 34 1

Total administered liabilities 115,391 104,996

Total administered net assets 1,625 1,304

Notes:
(i) M&I Landfill levies owing to the Department. 
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5. KEY ASSETS AVAILABLE TO SUPPORT SERVICE DELIVERY AND 
TRANSFORMATION INITIATIVES

Introduction

The Authority controls assets and other investments 
that are utilised in fulfilling its objectives and 
conducting its activities. They represent the resources 
that have been entrusted to the Authority to be utilised 
for service delivery.

Significant judgement: Fair value measurements of 
non-financial physical assets

The determination of fair values of non-financial 
physical assets requires significant judgement to be 
applied (including methodologies and assumptions).

Changes in assumptions could have a material impact 
on the fair values of the assets being valued.

Structure

5.1   Property, plant and equipment: carrying amount

5.1.1  Depreciation and amortisation

5.1.2   Reconciliation of movements in carrying values of 
property, plant and equipment

5.2  Intangible assets

5.3  Change in accounting estimates

5.4  Investments

5.4.1  Ageing analysis of investments

22. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 CONTINUED

5.1 Property, plant and equipment: carrying amount

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Buildings leasehold improvements

At fair value – external valuation (i) 13,193 13,193

Less: accumulated depreciation (8,829) (8,308)

At fair value – internal valuation (ii) 9,051 10,082

Less: accumulated depreciation (6,341) (5,447)

Total buildings leasehold improvements 7,074 9,520

Plant and equipment

At fair value (iii) 16,950 15,373

Less: accumulated depreciation (11,490) (10,817)   

Total plant and equipment 5,460 4,556

Work-in-progress

At cost 1,073 2,843

Total work-in-progress 1,073 2,843

Leased motor vehicles

At fair value 2,835 2,196

Less: accumulated depreciation (587) (711)

Total leased motor vehicles 2,248 1,485

Net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment 15,855 18,404

Notes:
(i)  During 2015–2016, an independent valuation of the Authority’s building leasehold assets at Macleod was performed by Napier 

& Blakeley, in accordance with instructions from the Valuer-General Victoria, to determine the fair value of building leasehold 
improvements. These assets were classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy defined in AASB13 Fair value measurement. The 
valuation assumptions included envisaging reconstruction to a modern equivalent standard and temporary protection of adjoining 
buildings where appropriate. 

  Any revaluation increment arising on the revaluation of an asset was credited to the appropriate class of the asset revaluation 
surplus. On revaluation, accumulated depreciation is restated proportionately with the change in the carrying amount of the asset 
and any change in the estimate of remaining useful life.

(ii)  During the financial year, the Authority reviewed the fair value of all other buildings leasehold improvements and it was decided 
that the Authority will no longer use the leasehold improvement once the proposed redevelopment of one of the Authority’s 
building leaseholds commences. As such, an impairment loss was recognised for the period based on its recoverable amount. The 
fair value of all other building leasehold improvements was not materially different to the current replacement cost. Therefore, the 
current replacement cost has been considered as fair value for all other buildings leasehold improvements as at 30 June 2018.

(iii)  The Authority measures items of plant and equipment at cost on initial recognition as an asset. During the financial year, the 
Authority reviewed the fair value of plant and equipment and it was determined that the fair value was not materially different to 
the depreciated replacement cost. Therefore, the depreciated replacement cost has been considered as fair value for plant and 
equipment as at 30 June 2018.
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5.1 Property, plant and equipment: carrying amount (continued)

Initial recognition: Items of property, plant and equipment, are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at 
fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is its 
fair value at the date of acquisition.

The fair value of plant, equipment and vehicles, is determined by reference to the asset’s depreciated replacement cost. 
For plant, equipment and vehicles, existing depreciated historical cost is generally a reasonable proxy for depreciated 
replacement cost because of the short life of the assets concerned.

The cost of a leasehold improvement is capitalised as an asset and depreciated over the remaining term of the lease or 
the estimated useful life of the improvement, whichever is shorter.

Subsequent measurement: Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. Fair value is determined with regard to the asset’s highest and best use (considering legal 
or physical restrictions imposed on the asset, public announcements or commitments made in relation to the intended 
use of the asset). 

Refer to Note 8.3 for additional information on fair value determination of property, plant and equipment.

5.1.1 Depreciation and amortisation

All plant and equipment that have a finite useful life, are depreciated. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis, at 
rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life.

The following useful lives of assets are used in the calculation of depreciation for both current and prior years:

Asset class Useful life

Buildings leasehold improvements 4–25 years

Plant and equipment 1–20 years

Leased motor vehicles 0–3 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting 
period, and adjustments are made where appropriate.

Where items of plant and equipment have significant and separately identifiable components which are subject to regular 
replacement, those components are assigned separate useful lives distinct from the item of plant and equipment to which 
they relate.

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the shorter, 
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the 
end of each annual reporting period.

In the event of the loss or destruction of an asset, the future economic benefits arising from the use of the asset will be 
written-off and the asset replaced (unless a specific decision to the contrary has been made). 

Charge for the period

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Building leasehold improvements 1,419 1,315

Leased motor vehicles 450 433

Plant and equipment 1,121 924

Software (i) 3,516 2,044

Total depreciation and amortisation 6,506 4,716

Notes:
(i)  Includes amortisation costs relating to the Authority’s Customer Relationship Management System of $3.07 million (2017 $1.99 

million) (Refer Note 5.3).
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5.1.2 Reconciliation of movements in carrying values of property, plant and equipment

($ ’000)

2018

Buildings 
leasehold 

improvements 
at valuation 

and fair value

Plant and 
equipment at 

fair value

Leased motor 
vehicles at 

fair value
Work-in-
progress Total

Opening balance 9,520 4,556 1,485 2,843 18,404

Additions 813 2,025 1,753 953 5,544

Disposals – – (540) – (540)

Impairment loss charged to net result (i) (1,840) – – – (1,840)

Transfer to:

  Building lease improvements – – – (510) (510)

  Plant and equipment – – – (1,193) (1,193)

  Intangibles – – – (1,020) (1,020)

Depreciation (1,419) (1,121) (450) – (2,990)

Closing balance 7,074 5,460 2,248 1,073 15,855

2017

Opening balance 10,049 4,316 1,520 1,458 17,344

Additions 787 1,268 713 2,843 5,611

Disposals – (104) (280) – (385)

Transfer to:

  Non-financial assets held-for-sale – – (34) – (34)

  Building lease improvements – – – (787) (787)

  Plant and equipment – – – (671) (671)

Depreciation (1,315) (924) (433) – (2,672)

Closing balance 9,520 4,556 1,485 2,843 18,404

Notes:
(i)  Due to a proposed redevelopment of one of the Authority’s building leaseholds, it was decided that the Authority will no longer 

use the leasehold improvement once redevelopment commences. As such, an impairment loss was recognised for the period 
based on its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are included in the line item ‘net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets’ in the 
comprehensive operating statement (Refer Note 9.7).

5.2 Intangible assets

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Gross carrying amount at cost

Opening balance 20,869 20,675

Additions to software 1,439 199

Disposals of software (3) (5)

Closing balance 22,305 20,869

Accumulated amortisation

Opening balance (9,807) (7,769)

Amortisation expense (i) (3,516) (2,044)

Disposals 3 5

Closing balance (13,320) (9,807)

Net book value at the end of the financial year 8,985 11,062

Notes:
(i)  Amortisation expense is included in the line item ‘depreciation and amortisation expense’ in the comprehensive operating 

statement.

22. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 CONTINUED



85  

Initial recognition

Intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment. Capitalised software costs are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives of 1 to 10 years for both current and prior years. 

For software intangibles, when the recognition criteria in AASB 138 Intangible assets are met (this criteria includes the 
asset having a significant future economic benefit which is reliably measured and represents development costs), internally 
generated intangible assets are recognised and measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment.

Subsequent measurement

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is expected that additional future economic 
benefits will flow to the Authority.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least 
at the end of each annual reporting period.

Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment whenever an indication of impairment is identified. 

Significant intangible assets

The Authority had previously capitalised the development of its SAP Customer Relationship Management System (SAP-
CRM). The asset has a $7.70 million carrying amount (2017: $10.76 million). The system has been amortised over 7 years 
based on the expected useful life.

5.3 Change in accounting estimates

($ ’000)

2018

Net financial effect because of reassessment of estimated useful life of Intangibles

2017–18 1,076

2018–19 1,856

2019–20 1,848

During the financial year, the Authority reassessed the estimated useful life of its SAP-CRM intangible asset from its 
original life of 10 years, down to 7 years to better reflect the period over which EPA expects to use the asset. A new 
Customer Relationship Management platform is expected to commence in July 2020, in line with the commencement of 
the Environment Protection Amendment Act 2018.

5.4 Investments

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Non-current investments

Managed investment fund (i) 63,174 62,089

Total non-current investments 63,174 62,089

(i)  Managed investments consist of funds deposited with the Victorian Funds Management Corporation Capital Stable Fund and are 
classified as a financial asset. The Fund invests in a combination of asset classes which include cash deposits, fixed term deposits 
and equities which are subject to movements in equity prices. 

5.4.1 Ageing analysis of investments

($ ’000)

2018
Carrying 
amount

Not past 
due and not 

impaired 

Past due but not impaired

Less than 1 
month 

1–3 
months 

3 months–1 
year 1–5 years

Managed investment fund 63,174 63,174 - - - -

Total 63,174 63,174 - - - -

2017

Managed investment fund 62,089 62,089 - - - -

Total 62,089 62,089 - - - -
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6. OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Introduction

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that 
arose from the Authority’s operations.

Structure

6.1   Receivables

6.1.1  Movement in the provision for statutory doubtful 
debt

6.1.2 Ageing analysis of contractual financial assets

6.2 Payables

6.2.1 Maturity analysis of contractual payables

6.3 Other non-financial assets

6.4 Other provisions

6.4.1 Reconciliation of movement in other provisions

6.1 Receivables

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Current receivables

Contractual

Trade debtors 1,444 100

Amounts owing from Commonwealth Government 125 660

Interest receivable 314 263

1,883 1,023

Statutory

Amounts owing from the Public Account (i) 12,128 8,178

Fines and regulatory fees 11,150 11,649

Allowance for doubtful debts (See also Note 6.1.1 below) (7,580) (8,155)

Amounts owing from the Department 20,431 12,955

Accrued revenue - Environment Protection Fund (ii) 10,186 7,485

GST input tax credit recoverable 692 522

47,007 32,634

Total receivables 48,890 33,657

Notes:
(i)  The amounts recognised from Victorian Government represent funding for all commitments incurred through the Environment 

Protection Fund and are drawn from the Public Account as the commitments fall due.
(ii)  Accrued revenue comprises estimated PIW levies which remain unpaid at 30 June 2018.

Contractual receivables are classified as financial instruments and include receivables from the Commonwealth 
Government and accrued interest receivable. 

Statutory receivables do not arise from contracts; however, are recognised and measured similarly to contractual 
receivables (except for impairment), but are not classified as financial instruments. They include amounts owing from the 
Victorian Government, debtors in relation to fines and regulatory fees, PIW levy and GST input tax credits recoverable.

22. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 CONTINUED
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6.1.1 Movement in the provision for statutory doubtful debt

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Balance at beginning of the year (8,155) (2,819)

Reversal of provision for receivables written-off during the year as uncollectible 2,086 976

Increase in provision recognised in the net result (1,510) (6,312)

Balance at end of the year (7,580) (8,155)

Doubtful debts: Bad and doubtful debts for financial assets are assessed on a regular basis. A provision for doubtful 
debts is made when there is objective evidence that the debts may not be collected and bad debts are written-off when 
identified, including litter fines based on historical collection patterns of debt referred to the Infringement Court and 
other regulatory fees that the Authority believes it prudent to provide for in accordance with AASB 137 Provisions, 
contingent liabilities and contingent assets.

The Authority assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired, 
at the end of each reporting period. Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments and 
debts which are more than 90 days overdue. All financial assets, except those measured at fair value through profit or 
loss, are subject to annual review for impairment.

Those bad debts considered as written-off by mutual consent are classified as a transaction expense. The bad debts not 
written-off by mutual consent and allowance for doubtful debt receivables are classified as ‘other economic flows’.

In assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) financial assets which are not financial instruments, the Authority 
applies professional judgement in assessing materiality and using estimates, averages and other computation methods in 
accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of assets.

6.1.2 Ageing analysis of contractual financial assets

($ ’000)

2018
Carrying 
amount

Not past 
due 

and not 
impaired

Past due but not impaired

Less than 1 
month 1–3 months

3 months–1 
year 1–5 years

Cash and cash equivalents 69,395 69,395 – – – –

Receivables:

Trade debtors 1,444 1,439 – 5 – –

Receivables from Commonwealth 
Government

125 – – – 125 –

Interest receivables 314 314 – – – –

Total 71,278 71,148 – 5 125 –

2017

Cash and cash equivalents 59,202 59,202 – – – –

Receivables:

Trade debtors 100 100 – – – –

Receivables from Commonwealth 
Government

660 660 – – – –

Interest receivables 263 263 – – – –

Total 60,225 60,225 – – – –

The carrying amounts disclosed above exclude statutory amounts (for example, amounts owing from Victorian Government and GST 
input tax credit recoverable).
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6.2 Payables

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Current payables – unsecured

Contractual

Trade creditors 3,385 2,520

Accruals 3,219 3,437

Salaries and other employee entitlements 2,557 2,071

Unearned income 357 –

Total current payables 9,518 8,028

Non-current payables - unsecured

Contractual

Trade creditors 944 1,210

Total non-current payables 944 1,210

Total payables 10,462 9,238

Payables include contractual and statutory amounts. Contractual payables consist of trade creditors and other sundry 
liabilities. Statutory payables consist of financial assurance held to offset potential cleanup costs. Trade creditors 
represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Authority prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid, 
and arise when the Authority becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of those goods 
and services. Payables are initially recognised at fair value, being the cost of the goods and services, and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.

6.2.1 Maturity analysis of contractual payables

($ ’000)

2018
Carrying 
amounts 

Nominal 
amount 

Maturity dates

Less than 
1 month 

1–3 
months

3 months 
– 1 year 1–5 years 5+ years

Trade creditors 4,329 4,329 3,070 49 266 944 –

Accruals 3,219 3,219 3,219 – – – –

Salaries and other employee 
entitlements

2,557 2,557 2,557 – – – –

Unearned income 357 357 – 357 – – –

Total 10,462 10,462 8,846 406 266 944 –

2017

Trade creditors 3,730 3,730 2,498 22 – 1,210 –

Accruals 3,437 3,437 3,437 – – – –

Salaries and other employee 
entitlements

2,071 2,071 2,071 – – – –

Total 9,238 9,238 8,006 22 – 1,210 –

Maturity analysis is presented using the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

The carrying amounts disclosed exclude statutory amounts (for example, GST payables). The Authority intends to settle the above 
financial liabilities in line with its contractual obligations.

22. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
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6.3 Other non-financial assets

 ($ ’000)

2018 2017

Prepayments 1,962 2,280

Total other non-financial assets 1,962 2,280

Other non-financial assets include prepayments, which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services, or 
that part of expenditure made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that financial accounting period.

6.4 Other provisions

 ($ ’000)

2018 2017

Current provisions

Site remediation and disposal of chemical stockpile (i) 1,716 6,655

Total current provisions 1,716 6,655

Non-current provisions

Site remediation and disposal of chemical stockpile (i) 3,005 3,155

Site restoration of leasehold improvement (ii) 1,214 1,198

Total non-current provisions 4,219 4,353

Total provisions 5,935 11,008

Notes:
(i) The amounts disclosed are nominal amounts.
(ii) The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values.

Other provisions are recognised when the Authority has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic benefits 
is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably. The amount recognised as a provision, is the best 
estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 

Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows, using a discount rate that reflects the time value of money and risks specific to the 
provision

6.4.1 Reconciliation of movements in other provisions

($ ’000)

2018

Site remediation and 
disposal of chemical 

stockpile 

Site restoration 
of leasehold 

improvement

Total

2018

Opening balance 9,810 1,198 11,008

Additional provisions recognised – – –

Reduction arising from payments (5,089) – (5,089)

Unwind of discount and effect of changes in the discount rate – 16 16

Closing balance 4,721 1,214 5,935

($ ’000)

2017

Site remediation and 
disposal of chemical 

stockpile 

Site restoration 
of leasehold 

improvement

Total

2017

Opening balance 2,971 1,139 4,110

Additional provisions recognised 7,158 – 7,158

Reduction arising from payments (319) – (319)

Unwind of discount and effect of changes in the discount rate – 59 59

Closing balance 9,810 1,198 11,008
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Site remediation and disposal of chemical stockpile

The Authority holds chemical stockpiles from two sources and site remediation works on contaminated sites, as follows:

1. Chemicals from the ChemCollect program, a chemical collection program run under joint agreement between the 
Commonwealth and the Authority. The estimated cost of disposing of the remaining chemicals as at 30 June 2018 is 
$3.09 million (2017: $3.14 million).

2. The Authority continues to hold a stockpile of dangerous goods (chemicals) collected as part of a rural chemical 
collection program, run by the former Melbourne Metropolitan Board of Works. The estimated cost of disposing of 
these chemicals as at 30 June 2018 is $1.19 million (2017: $1.36 million).

3. The Authority has continued its work with a local council in relation to a remediation of a contaminated site. The 
total cost of the remaining remediation is estimated to be $0.44 million (2017: $0.47 million). Refer to Contingent 
assets and liabilities (Note 8.1).

4. During 2017–18, work was carried out on a commercial site in regional Victoria which had been identified as posing 
a severe risk to human health and the environment due to the nature of its operations and its proximity to the 
local community. As the cleanup has been completed, no provision has been made during the period (2017: $4.85 
million).

Site restoration of leasehold improvement

The provision for site restoration of leasehold improvement represents the present value of the future payments that 
the Authority is presently obligated to make in respect of make good clauses under a non-cancellable operating lease 
agreement. The estimate will vary if the Authority exercises its option for a further term. The unexpired term of the lease 
is three years.

22. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 CONTINUED
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7. FINANCING OUR OPERATIONS

Introduction

This section provides information on the sources of 
finance utilised by the Authority during its operations, 
along with interest expenses (the cost of borrowings) 
and other information related to financing activities of 
the Authority.

Structure

7.1   Borrowings

7.1.1 Maturity analysis of borrowings

7.1.2  Interest expense 

7.2  Cash flow information and balances

7.2.1  Reconciliation of net result to cash flow from 
operating activities

7.3  Trust account balances

7.4  Leases

7.4.1 Operating leases

7.4.2 Finance leases

7.5  Commitments for expenditure

7.5.1 Total commitments payable

7.1 Borrowings

   ($ ’000)

2018 2017

Current borrowings 

Finance lease liabilities (i) 753 803

Total current borrowings 753 803

Non-current borrowings

Finance lease liabilities (i) 1,504 748

Total non-current borrowings 1,504 748

Total borrowings 2,257 1,551

Notes:
(i)  Secured by the assets leased. Finance leases are effectively secured as the rights of the leased assets revert to the lessor in the 

event of a default.

Borrowings refer to interest-bearing liabilities relating to public borrowings and finance leases, and are classified as 
financial instruments. Borrowings are initially measured at fair value, being the cost of the borrowings, net of transaction 
costs (refer to Note 7.4 Leases).

Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial 
recognised amount and the redemption value being recognised in the net result over the period of the borrowing using 
the effective interest method.

7.1.1 Maturity analysis of borrowings

($ ’000)

2018
Carrying 
amount

Nominal 
amount 

Maturity dates

Less than 
1 month 

1–3 
months 

3 months 
– 1 year 1–5 years 5+ years

Finance lease liabilities 2,257 2,369 109 127 576 1,557 –

Total 2,257 2,369 109 127 576 1,557 –

2017

Finance lease liabilities 1,551 1,610 142 176 525 767 –

Total 1,551 1,610 142 176 525 767 –
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7.1.2 Interest expense

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Interest on finance leases 66 66

Total interest expense 66 66

Interest expense is recognised in the period in which it is incurred. Costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of 
funds include interest component of finance lease repayments and the increase in financial liabilities. 

7.2 Cash flow information and balances

Cash and deposits recognised on the balance sheet comprise cash on hand and cash at bank, deposits at call and those 
highly liquid investments (with an original maturity of three months or less), which are held for the purpose of meeting 
short-term cash commitments rather than for investment purposes, and readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
with an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Due to the State of Victoria’s investment policy and government funding arrangements, government departments 
(including the Authority) generally do not hold a large cash reserve in their bank accounts. Cash received by the Authority 
from the generation of revenue is generally paid into the state bank account, known as the Public Account.

Similarly, any Authority expenditure, including that in the form of cheques drawn by the Authority for the payment of 
goods and services to its trade creditors is made via the Public Account. The process is such that, the Public Account 
would remit to the Authority the cash required for the amount drawn on the cheques. This remittance by the Public 
Account occurs upon the presentation of the cheques by the Authority’s suppliers or creditors.

Investments comprise deposits held with the Treasury Corporation of Victoria. Deposits at call have had a floating interest 
rate of 1.45 per cent throughout the year (2017: between 1.45 per cent and 1.70 per cent). Fixed term deposits have had an 
average interest-bearing rate of 1.76 per cent (2017: 1.70 per cent).

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Cash on hand 11 9

Deposits held with Treasury Corporation of Victoria

 Investments – deposits at call 2,100 1,909

 Investments – fixed term deposits 67,284 57,284

Balance as per cash flow statement 69,395 59,202

7.2.1 Reconciliation of net result to cash flow from operating activities

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Net result for the year 22,077 3,656

Non-cash movements:

(Gain)/loss on sale or disposal of non-current assets 1,710 75

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 6,506 4,716

Gain/(loss) on statutory receivables 1,510 6,312

Movements in assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (16,743) 725

(Increase)/decrease in other non-financial assets 318 (1,872)

Increase/(decrease) in payables 1,279 2,658

Increase/(decrease) in provisions (i) (2,497) 8,517

Net cash flows from operating activities 14,160 24,787

Notes:
During 2016–17, the Authority recognised additional provisions for the treatment of chemical stockpiles and site remediation works on 
contaminated sites. Refer Note 6.4.1.

22. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
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7.3 Trust account balances

The Environment Protection (Amendment) Act 2006 introduced increased and differential levies on the disposal of PIW 
to landfill to reflect the level of hazard posed by the different categories of PIW.  The Authority only receives a portion 
of these levies for operational purposes based on the PIW Revenue Charter.  The remainder is held in a separate account 
within the Environment Protection Fund for the purposes of funding specific environment protection initiatives, including 
the Charter Fund approved by the Minister for Energy, Environment and Climate Change and the Authority’s Governing 
Board.

7.4 Leases

A lease is a right to use an asset for an agreed period of time in exchange for payment. Leases are classified at their 
inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance of the agreement so as to reflect the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Leases of property, plant and equipment are classified as finance infrastructure leases whenever the terms of the lease 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership from the lessor to the lessee.  All other leases are classified 
as operating leases.

7.4.1 Operating leases

The Authority has entered into a number of operating lease agreements where the lessors effectively retain the risks and 
benefits incidental to ownership of the leased items.  Lease payments are charged to the net result over the lease term as 
payments made are representative of the pattern of benefits derived from the use of the leased asset.

All incentives for the agreement of a new or renewed operating lease are recognised as an integral part of the net 
consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset, irrespective of the incentive’s nature or form or the timing of 
payments. In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, the aggregate costs of incentives 
are recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis, unless another systematic 
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Commitments in relation to leases contracted at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities are:

 ($ ’000)

2018 2017

Non-cancellable operating lease payables

Not longer than one year 3,612 3,010

Longer than one year and not longer than five years 7,580 9,463

Longer than five years 395 615

Total non-cancellable operating lease payables 11,587 13,088

7.4.2 Finance leases

Under the DTF’s vehicle leasing policy, vehicles leased after 1 February 2004 are subject to finance lease arrangements, 
where the Authority retains the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of these leased vehicles.

At the commencement of the lease term, finance leases are initially recognised as assets and liabilities at amounts equal 
to the fair value of the lease asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payment, each determined at the 
inception of the lease. The lease asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the term 
of the lease.
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7.4.2 Finance leases continued

Minimum finance lease payments are apportioned between reduction of the outstanding lease liability and periodic 
finance expense which is calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease and charged directly to the comprehensive 
operating statement. Contingent rentals associated with finance leases are recognised as an expense in the period in 
which they are incurred.

($ ’000)

Notes 

Minimum future lease 
payments (i)

Present value of minimum 
future lease payments

2018 2017 2018 2017

Finance lease liabilities payable

Not longer than one year 813 843 753 803

Longer than one year and not longer than five years 1,557 767 1,504 748

Minimum future lease payments 2,370 1,610 2,257 1,551

Less: future finance charges (113) (59) –

Present value of minimum lease payments 2,257 1,551 2,257 1,551

Included in the financial statements as:

Current finance borrowings lease liabilities 7.1 – 753 803

Non-current finance borrowings lease liabilities 7.1 – 1,504 748

Total finance borrowings lease liabilities – 2,257 1,551

Notes:
(i) Minimum future lease payments include the aggregate of all base payments and any guaranteed residual.

7.5 Commitments for expenditure

Commitments include those operating, capital and other outsourcing commitments arising from non-cancellable 
contractual or statutory sources. Commitments are disclosed at their nominal value and inclusive of the goods and 
services tax (GST) payable.

In addition, where it is considered appropriate and provides additional relevant information to users, the net present 
values of significant individual projects are stated. These future expenditures cease to be disclosed as commitments once 
the related liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet.

7.5.1 Total commitments payable

The following commitments have not been recognised as liabilities in the financial statements:

  ($ ’000)

2018 2017

Capital expenditure commitments (i)

Property, plant and equipment payable

 Not longer than one year (ii) 640 599

Total capital expenditure commitments 640 599

Other expenditure commitments (i)

Payable

 Not longer than one year 314 878

 Longer than one year and not longer than five years 6,904 5,252

Total other expenditure commitments 7,218 6,130

Notes:
(i)  All amounts shown in the commitments note are nominal amounts inclusive of GST.
(ii)  Finance lease and non-cancellable operating lease commitments are disclosed in Note 7.4.

22. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
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8. RISKS, CONTINGENCIES AND VALUATION JUDGEMENTS

Introduction

The Authority is exposed to risk from its activities 
and outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary 
to make judgements and estimates associated with 
recognition and measurement of items in the financial 
statements. 

This section sets out financial instrument specific 
information, (including exposures to financial risks) 
as well as those items that are contingent in nature 
or require a higher level of judgement to be applied, 
which for the Authority related mainly to fair value 
determination.

Structure

8.1  Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

8.2 Financial instruments 

8.2.1  Financial risk management objectives and policies

8.2.2 Credit risk

8.2.3 Liquidity risk 

8.2.4 Market risk

8.3 Fair value determination

8.1 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet but are disclosed and, if quantifiable, 
are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable 
respectively.

Contingent assets are possible assets that arise from past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Authority.

These are classified as either quantifiable, where potential economic benefit is known, or non-quantifiable. 

There were no contingent assets for the Authority at 30 June 2018.

Contingent liabilities are:

• possible obligations that arise from past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Authority; or

• present obligations:

 - that arise from past events but are not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of resources   
 embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligations; or 

 - the amount of the obligations cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Contingent liabilities are also classified as either quantifiable or non-quantifiable.

The Authority has the following non-quantifiable contingent liabilities:

1.  The Authority is currently contesting a claim in the Supreme Court relating to the rejection of a recycling rebate of 
waste deposited into a landfill received from a landfill operator. 

 Like any other party to civil litigation, the Authority may be required to pay damages and other party costs if the 
Authority is unsuccessful. In accordance with AASB137 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets, the 
Authority has not disclosed the value of matters on the grounds that it may seriously prejudice the outcome of the 
claim. The Authority believes it has acted in accordance with the Environment Protection Act 1970 and is defending 
the claim.

2.  At 30 June 2018, the Authority has a number of civil litigation matters, for which the Authority may be liable for 
legal costs if unsuccessful. Due to the diversity of issues associated with these matters and the opportunity for new 
evidence to be adduced during the court process, it is not possible to reliably quantify the financial effect of litigation 
and it is therefore impractical to do so.
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8.1 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities (continued)

The Authority has recognised a liability for works related to a contaminated site (Note 6.4). On completion of the works, 
the Authority may have a further unquantified obligation, dependent upon subsequent tests and community negotiation. 
Therefore, quantification of the financial effect, if any, cannot be reliably estimated and is therefore impractical to do so.

8.2 Financial instruments

The Authority is exposed to a number of financial risks including: credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk (interest rate risk, 
foreign currency risk and equity price risk).

As a whole, the Authority’s financial risk management program seeks to manage these risks and the associated volatility 
of its financial performance.

Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of the Authority’s activities, certain financial assets and 
financial liabilities arise under statute rather than a contract (for example, taxes, fines and penalties). Such assets and 
liabilities do not meet the definition of financial instruments in AASB 132 Financial instruments: presentation.

Categories of financial instruments 

Receivables and cash are financial instrument assets with fixed and determinable payments that are not quoted on an 
active market. These assets and liabilities are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial measurement, receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method 
(and for assets, less any impairment).

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through net result are categorised as such at trade date, or if they are 
classified as held for trading or designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial instrument assets are designated 
at fair value through net result on the basis that the financial assets form part of a group of financial assets that 
are managed based on their fair values and have their performance evaluated in accordance with documented risk 
management and investment strategies. Financial instruments at fair value through net result are initially measured at 
fair value, attributable transaction costs are expensed as incurred. Subsequently, any changes in fair value are recognised 
in the net result as other economic flows.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They are initially measured 
at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial instruments 
are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value 
being recognised in the net result over the period of the interest-bearing liability, using the effective interest rate method.

Reclassification of financial instruments

Subsequent to initial recognition and under rare circumstances, non-derivative financial instrument assets that have been 
designated at fair value through net result upon recognition may be reclassified out of the fair value through net result 
category, if they are no longer held for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.

Available-for-sale financial instrument assets that meet the definition of receivables may be reclassified into the 
receivables category if there is the intention and ability to hold them for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

8.2.1 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Authority’s principal financial instruments comprise:

• cash assets

• term deposits

• receivables (excluding statutory receivables)

• investments in managed scheme

• payables (excluding statutory payables)

• finance lease payables.

22. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
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The carrying amounts of the Authority’s contractual financial assets and financial liabilities by category are in the table 
below.

Categorisation of financial instruments

($ ’000)

Category Note 2018 2017

Contractual financial assets

Cash and cash deposits Not applicable 7.2 69,395 59,202

Investments in managed fund Fair value 8.3 63,174 62,089

Receivables Receivables 6.1 1,883 1,023

Total contractual financial assets (i) 134,452 122,314

Contractual financial liabilities

Payables Financial liabilities at amortised cost 6.2 10,462 9,238

Finance lease liabilities Financial liabilities at amortised cost 7.1 2,257 1,551

Total contractual financial liabilities (ii) 12,719 10,789

Notes:
(i)  The total amount of financial assets disclosed here excludes statutory receivables (that is, amounts owing from Victorian 

Government and GST input tax credit recoverable).
(ii) The total amount of financial liabilities disclosed here excludes statutory payables (that is, taxes payable).

Net holding gain/loss on financial instruments by category

($ ’000)

2018
Net holding gain/

(loss)
Total interest 

income/(expense) Total

Financial assets designated at fair value through net result 1,085 1,691 2,776

Total contractual financial assets 1,085 1,691 2,776

2017

Financial assets designated at fair value through net result 567 1,879 2,446

Total contractual financial assets 567 1,879 2,446

The net holding gains or losses disclosed above are determined as follows:

Financial asset and liabilities that are designated at fair value through net result, the net gain or loss is calculated by 
taking the movement in the fair value of the financial asset or liability.

8.2.2 Credit risk

The Authority’s exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of counterparties on their contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to the Authority. The credit risk on financial assets of the Authority which have been recognised 
on the balance sheet, is generally the carrying amount, net of any provisions for doubtful debts.

Maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amounts of financial assets. 

As at the reporting date, there is no evidence to indicate that any of the financial assets were impaired.

8.2.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Authority is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Authority operates 
under the Government’s fair payments policy of settling financial obligations within 30 days and in the event of a dispute, 
makes payments within 30 days from the date of resolution. It also continuously manages risk through monitoring future 
cash flows and maturities planning to ensure adequate holding of high-quality liquid assets.

Maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities. For disclosure of the contractual 
maturity analysis for the Authority’s financial liabilities refer to Note 6.2.1.
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8.2.4 Market risk

The Authority’s exposures to market risk are primarily through interest rate and equity risks with only insignificant 
exposure to foreign currency. Objectives, policies and processes used to manage each of these risks are disclosed in the 
paragraphs below.

Equity risk

The Authority is exposed to equity price risk through its investment in the Victorian Funds Management Corporation’s 
Capital Stable Fund. The fund manager, on behalf of the Authority, closely monitors performance and manages equity 
price risk through diversification of its investment portfolio. The Authority’s sensitivity to equity is detailed in the Table 
‘Other price risk sensitivity’.

Foreign currency risk

The Authority is exposed to insignificant foreign currency risk through its payables relating to purchases of supplies and 
consumables from overseas. This is because of a limited amount of purchases denominated in foreign currencies and a 
short timeframe between commitment and settlement.

Interest rate risk

Exposure to interest rate risk is insignificant and might arise primarily through the Authority’s variable rate cash deposits. 
The Authority’s exposure is insignificant due to its policy to minimise risk by mainly undertaking fixed rate investments 
with relatively even maturity profiles which are managed by Treasury Corporation of Victoria.

Interest rate exposure of contractual financial instruments

($ ’000)

2018

Weighted 
average interest 

rate %
Carrying 
amount

Interest rate exposure

Fixed 
interest rate

Variable 
interest rate

Non-interest 
bearing

Financial assets

Cash and cash deposits 1.76 69,395 67,284 2,100 11

Receivables:

 Trade debtors 1,444 – – 1,444

  Receivables from Commonwealth 
Government

125 – – 125

 Interest receivables 1.76 314 314 - –

Total financial assets 71,278 67,598 2,100 1,580

Financial liabilities

Payables 10,462 – – 10,462

Finance lease liabilities 3.37 2,257 2,257 – –

Total financial liabilities 12,719 2,257 – 10,462

2017

Financial assets

Cash and cash deposits 1.80 59,202 57,284 1,909 9

Receivables:

 Trade debtors 100 – – 100

  Receivables from Commonwealth 
Government

660 – – 660

 Interest receivables 1.80 263 263 – –

Total financial assets 60,225 57,547 1,909 769

Financial liabilities

Payables 9,238 – – 9,238

Finance lease liabilities 3.95 1,551 1,551 – –

Total financial liabilities 10,789 1,551 – 9,238
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Sensitivity disclosure analysis and assumptions

Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts and management’s knowledge and 
experience of the financial markets, the Authority believes the following movements are ‘reasonably possible’ over the 
next 12 months:

• a movement of 25 basis points up and down (2017: 25 basis points up and down) in market interest rates (AUD) from 
year-end rates of 1.45 per cent (2017: 1.45 per cent).

• the Authority’s sensitivity to equity price risk has been assessed as a movement of 15 per cent up and down (2017: 
15 per cent up and down) in equity prices.

Market risk exposure

($ ’000)

2018
Carrying 
amount

Interest rate risk

- 25 basis points + 25 basis points

Net result Equity Net result Equity

Contractual financial assets:

Cash and cash deposits (i) 69,395 (5) (5) 5 5

Receivables 1,883 – – – –

Contractual financial 
liabilities:

Payables 10,462 – – – –

Finance lease liabilities 2,257 – – – –

Total impact 83,997 (5) (5) 5 5

2017 - 25 basis points + 25 basis points

Contractual financial assets:

Cash and cash deposits (i) 59,202 (5) (5) 5 5

Receivables 1,023 – – – –

Contractual financial 
liabilities:

Payables 9,238 – – – –

Finance lease liabilities 1,551 – – – –

Total impact 71,014 (5) (5) 5 5

Notes:
(i)  Cash and cash deposits includes a deposit of $2.10 million (2017: $1.90 million) that is exposed to floating rate movements. 

Sensitivities to these movements are calculated as follows:
 • 2018: $2.10 million x -.0025 = -$5 thousand; and $2.10 million x +.0025 = $5 thousand
 • 2017: $1.90 million x -.0025 = -$5 thousand; and $1.90 million x +.0025 = $5 thousand.
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Other price risk sensitivity

($ ’000)

2018

Carrying 
amount as at 30 

June 2018

Equity price

-15% movement  
net result

+15% movement  
net result 

Contractual financial assets:

Managed investments (i) 63,174 (1,895) 1,895

Total impact (1,895) 1,895

2017

Contractual financial assets:

Managed investments (i) 62,089 (1,863) 1,863

Total impact (1,863) 1,863

Notes:
(i)  Managed investments include monies deposited with the Victorian Funds Management Corporation in the Capital Stable Fund. This 

is classified as a non-current financial asset. The Fund invests in a combination of asset classes which include cash deposits, fixed 
term deposits and equities which are subject to movements in equity prices. Investment held as at 30 June 2018 is $63.17 million 
(2017 $62.09 million). The Authority’s exposure to equity risk is approximately 20 per cent of the Capital Stable Fund portfolio mix 
which equates to $12.63 million (2017 $12.42 million). Sensitivities to these movements are calculated as follows:

 • 2018: $12.63 million x -0.15 =-$1.895 million; and $12.63 million x 0.15 =$ 1.895 million
 • 2017: $12.42 million x -0.15 =-$1.863 million; and $12.42 million x 0.15 =$ 1.863 million.

8.3 Fair value determination

Significant judgement: Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities

Fair value determination requires judgement and the use of assumptions. This section discloses the most significant 
assumptions used in determining fair values for financial reporting purposes. Changes to assumptions could have a 
material impact on the results and financial position of the Authority.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date.

Consistent with AASB 13 Fair value measurement, the Authority determines the policies and procedures for both 
recurring fair value measurements such as property, plant and equipment and financial instruments and for non-recurring 
fair value measurements such as non-financial physical assets held for sale, in accordance with the requirements of AASB 
13 and relevant Financial Reporting Directions.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within 
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair measurement as 
a whole:

• Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

•  Level 2 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to fair value measurement is directly 
or indirectly observable.

•  Level 3 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to fair value measurement is 
unobservable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Authority has determined classes of assets on the basis of the nature, 
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

In addition, the Authority determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of the 
reporting period.

22. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 CONTINUED
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How this section is structured

For those assets and liabilities for which fair value determination is determined, the following disclosures are provided; 

• carrying amount and the fair value (which would be the same for those assets measured at fair value)

• which level of the fair value hierarchy was used to determine the fair value

• in respect of those assets and liabilities subject to fair value determination using Level 3 inputs

 - a reconciliation of the movements in fair values from the beginning of the year to the end; and 

 - details of significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value determination.

This section is divided between financial instruments and non-financial physical assets.

Fair value determination: property, plant and equipment

($ ’000)

2018 Carrying amount

Fair value measurement at the end of the reporting  
period using:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Building leasehold improvements 7,074 – – 8,915

Plant and equipment 5,460 – – 5,460

Leased motor vehicles 2,248 – – 2,248

2017

Building leasehold improvements 9,520 – – 9,520

Plant and equipment 4,556 – – 4,556

Leased motor vehicles 1,485 – – 1,485

Building leasehold improvements

Buildings are valued using current replacement cost method and therefore considered to be Level 3 in the fair value 
hierarchy. Depreciation rates are reflective of expected lives.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is held at fair value. When plant and equipment is specialised in use, such that it is rarely sold other 
than as part of a going concern, fair value is determined using current replacement cost method and therefore classified 
as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period 30 June 2018. For all assets measured at fair value, 
the current use is considered the highest and best use.

Leased motor vehicles

Leased motor vehicles are valued using current replacement cost method and therefore classified as Level 3 in the fair 
value hierarchy. The Authority acquires new vehicles and at times disposes of them before the end of their economic life. 
Depreciation rates set are reflective of expected utilisation of the vehicle.
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8.3 Fair value determination (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value movements

($ ’000)

2018

Buildings 
leasehold 

improvements
Plant and 

equipment
Leased motor 

vehicles

Opening Balance 9,520 4,556 1,485

Purchases 813 2,026 1,753

Disposals – – (540)

Impairment loss charged to net result (1,840) – –

Depreciation (1,419) (1,121) (450)

Closing balance 7,074 5,460 2,248

2017

Opening Balance 10,049 4,316 1,521

Purchases 787 1,268 713

Disposals – (104) (280)

Depreciation (1,315) (924) (433)

Transfer assets held-for-sale – – (34)

Closing balance 9,520 4,556 1,485

Description of significant unobservable inputs to Level 3 valuations

2018 Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs

Buildings leasehold improvements Current replacement cost Building costs
Useful life of buildings

Plant and equipment Current replacement cost Cost per unit
Useful life of plant and equipment

Leased motor vehicles Current replacement cost Cost per unit
Useful life of vehicles

2017

Buildings leasehold improvements Current replacement cost Building costs
Useful life of buildings

Plant and equipment Current replacement cost Cost per unit
Useful life of plant and equipment

Leased motor vehicles Current replacement cost Cost per unit
Useful life of vehicles

Significant unobservable inputs have remained unchanged since June 2017.

On-balance sheet

The net fair value of cash, cash deposits and non-interest bearing monetary financial assets and financial liabilities of the 
Authority approximates their carrying amounts. 

The net fair value of other monetary financial assets and financial liabilities is based upon market prices where a market 
exists, or by discounting the expected future cash flows by current interest rates for assets and liabilities with similar risk 
profiles.

22. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
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The fair value and net fair value of financial instruments assets and liabilities is determined as follows:

• Level 1 – the fair value of financial instruments with standard terms and conditions and traded in active liquid 
markets is determined with reference to quoted market prices.

• Level 2 – the fair value is determined using inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the financial 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

• Level 3 – the fair value in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow 
analysis using unobservable market inputs.

The Authority considers the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements to be 
a fair approximation of their fair value, because of the short-term nature of the financial instruments and the expectation 
that they will be paid in full.

Off-balance sheet

The Authority has accepted financial assurances (bank guarantees) that it may draw down on if required. These have a 
monetary face value which approximates their carrying value. The value of these financial assurances is $206.10 million 
(2017: $160.30 million).

The Authority has potential financial liabilities which may arise from certain contingencies disclosed in Note 8.1.

Financial assets measured at fair value

($ ’000)

2018 Carrying amount

Fair value measurement at end of reporting period using:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Contractual financial assets:

Managed investments 63,174 – 63,174 –

Total 63,174 – 63,174 –

2017

Contractual financial assets:

Managed investments 62,089 – 62,089 –

Total 62,089 – 62,089 –

There have been no transfers between levels during the period.

The fair value of the financial assets is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current 
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced liquidation sale.

Managed investment scheme

The Authority invests in a Managed Investment Fund (Capital Stable Fund) with the Victorian Funds Management 
Corporation. In measuring fair value, the fund manager considers the valuation techniques and inputs used in valuing 
these funds as part of its due diligence prior to investment, to ensure they are reasonable and appropriate and therefore 
the net asset value (NAV) of the funds may be used as an input into measuring their fair value.

In measuring this fair value, the NAV of the fund is adjusted, as necessary, to reflect restrictions and redemptions, future 
commitments and other specific factors of the fund.
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22. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 CONTINUED

9. OTHER DISCLOSURES

Introduction

This section includes additional material disclosures 
required by accounting standards, for the 
understanding of this financial report.

Structure

9.1  Remuneration of executives

9.2  Responsible persons

9.3  Remuneration of auditors

9.4 Related parties

9.5 Non-financial assets classified as held-for-sale

9.6 Reserves

9.7  Other economic flows included in net result

9.8 Subsequent events

9.9  Ex gratia expenses

9.10  Australian Accounting Standards issued that are 
not yet effective

9.11  Glossary of technical terms

9.1 Remuneration of executives

The number of executive officers, other than the accountable officer, and their total remuneration during the reporting 
period are shown in the table below. Total annualised employee equivalents provide a measure of full time equivalent 
executive officers over the reporting period.

Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided by the Authority, or on 
behalf of the Authority, in exchange for services rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories.

Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick leave that are usually 
paid or payable on a regular basis, as well as non-monetary benefits such as allowances and free or subsidised goods or 
services. 

Post-employment benefits include pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a discrete basis when 
employment has ceased. 

Other long-term benefits include long service leave, other long-service benefit or deferred compensation. 

During 2016–17 the Victorian Government changed the remuneration arrangements for all executive officers within the 
Victorian Public Service. All of the Authority’s executives elected to participate in the new system of remuneration which 
does not include performance bonuses. There has been no change to remuneration arrangements during the current 
period.

($ ’000)

Remuneration 2018 2017 

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 2,094 1,256

Post-employment benefits 184 123

Other long-term employment benefits 50 31

Total remuneration 2,328 1,410

Total number of executives (i) 11 7

Total annualised employee equivalents (ii) 9.3 5.5

Notes:
(i)  Increase in executives due to a new executive structure to support the ‘Bringing our Environment Protection Authority into the 

modern era’ initiative.
(ii)  Annualised employee equivalent is based on paid working hours of 38 ordinary hours per week over the 52 weeks for a reporting 

period
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9.2 Responsible Persons

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994, 
the following disclosures are made regarding Responsible Persons for the reporting period. 

Names

The persons who held the positions of Minister, Responsible Body and Accountable Officer in the Authority are as follows:

Minister for Energy, Environment and Climate Change: The Hon. Lily D’Ambrosio MP 
         (1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018)

Responsible Body and Chairperson:   Cheryl Batagol
         (1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018)

Accountable Officer and Chief Executive Officer:  Nial Finegan
         (1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018)

On 1 July 2018, the Environment Protection Act 2017 became effective and transitioned the Authority from an 
Administrative Office of the Department to an Independent Statutory Authority, operating under a new governance 
structure consisting of a Governing Board as the Responsible Body.

Acting arrangements

The following officers acted in the position of Accountable Officer during the period:

• Mr Damian Wells: 1 July to 11 July 2017 

• Mr Timothy Eaton: 11 September to 4 October 2017 

• Mr Christopher Webb: 1 January to 14 January 2018

• Dr Cathy Wilkinson: 21 June to 30 June 2018 

The salaries for these periods are included in Note 9.1 Remuneration of executives.

Remuneration

Amounts relating to the Minister are reported in the financial statements of the Department of Parliamentary Services.

Remuneration received or receivable by the Chairperson as Responsible Body in connection with duties associated with 
her role as the Chairperson of the Authority during the reporting period was in the range: $120,000 - $130,000 (2017: 
$120,000 – $130,000).

Remuneration received or receivable by the Accountable Officer (Chief Executive Officer) in connection with the 
management of the Authority during the reporting period was in the range: $320,000 – $330,000 (2017: $320,000 – 
$330,000).

Other transactions

Other related transactions and loans requiring disclosure under the Directions of the Minister for Finance have been 
considered and there are no matters to report.

9.3 Remuneration of auditors

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Victorian Auditor-General’s Office

Audit or review of the financial statements 57 55

Total remuneration of auditors 57 55
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9.4. Related parties

The Authority is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria.

Related parties of the Authority include:

• all key management personnel and their close family members

• all cabinet ministers and their close family members

• all departments and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole-of-state consolidated 
financial statements.

All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm’s length basis. 

Key management personnel of the Authority include the Chairperson, members of the Executive Leadership Team and 
members of the Interim Advisory Board (i). 

($ ’000)

Remuneration 2018 2017 

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 2,652 1,736

Post-employment benefits 227    167

Other long-term employment benefits 57 38

Total 2,936 1,941

Notes:
(i)  On 9 January 2017, the Minister for Energy, Environment and Climate Change established a non-statutory, ministerial advisory 

committee, to be known as the Environment Protection Authority Interim Advisory Board which was replaced by the Governing 
Board from 1 July 2018.

Transactions with key management personnel and other related parties

Given the breadth and depth of Victorian Government activities, related parties transact with the Victorian public sector 
in a manner consistent with other members of the public; for example, stamp duty and other government fees and 
charges. Further employment of processes within the Victorian public sector occur on terms and conditions consistent 
with the Public Administration Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct and Standards issued by the Victorian Public Sector 
Commission. Procurement processes occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Victorian Government Purchasing 
Board requirements.

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Authority, there were no related party transactions that involved key 
management personnel and their close family members that have been considered material for disclosure. No provision 
has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties.

In this context, transactions are only disclosed when they are considered necessary to draw attention to the possibility 
that the Authority’s financial position and net result may have been affected by the existence of related parties, and by 
transactions and outstanding balances, including commitments, with such parties. 

22. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 CONTINUED
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Significant transactions with government-related parties

During the year, the Authority had the following Victorian Government-related entity transactions in respect of its 
controlled outputs:

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Receipts

Amounts recognised as income in the comprehensive operating statement. Grants from 
the Department and reform funding for the operations of the Authority (i)(ii)

82,543 60,852

Amounts transferred during the year and recognised as a capital contribution in the 
balance sheet. 

– 2,418

Total receipts 82,543 63,270

Payments 

Amounts recognised as expenditure in the comprehensive operating statement. Specific 
purpose grants paid to Victorian Government entities

2,292 2,941

Total receipts 2,292 2,941

The Authority administers or manages other activities on behalf of the state (Note 4.2). During the year, the Authority 
had the following administered transactions with government-related entities: $224.73 million (2017: $207.58 million) 
collected and passed onto the Department from M&I Landfill levy. In addition, the Authority made payments of $15.62 
million (2017: $17.68 million) into the consolidated fund for other administered (non-controlled) items.

Notes:
(i)  Victorian Government-related entity grants do not include $0.22 million received from the Commonwealth, other states, territories 

and local governments which are also presented in Note 2.3 and Note 2.4.
(ii)   The Authority has identified that during 2016–17, the amounts reported as Grants from the Department and reform funding were 

understated by $28.38 million, the amounts were recognised as grants received in Section 2, however not reported as significant 
transactions with government-related parties.

9.5 Non-financial assets classified as held-for-sale

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Leased vehicles held-for-sale (i) – opening balance 57 21

Assets identified for disposal during the year – 57

Asset disposals (57) (21)

Total non-financial assets classified as held-for-sale – 57

Notes:
(i)  Leased vehicles held-for-sale represent motor vehicles identified for immediate disposal in their current condition through the 

VicFleet disposal process. It is anticipated that these disposals will be completed within the next 12 months.

Non-financial assets classified as held-for-sale are measured at the lower of the carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell and are not subject to depreciation.

Non-financial assets, disposal groups and related liabilities are treated as current and classified as held-for-sale if their 
carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.

This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset’s sale is expected to be completed 
within 12 months from the date of classification.

9.6 Reserves

($ ’000)

2018 2017

Physical asset revaluation surplus (i)

Balance at beginning of financial year 3,683 3,683

Balance at end of financial year 3,683 3,683

Notes:
(i) The physical assets revaluation surplus arises on the revaluation of building leasehold improvements.
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9.7 Other economic flows included in net result

($ ’000)

2018 2017

(a) Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (1,840) –

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 129 (75)

Total net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets (1,711) (75)

(b) Net gain/(loss) on statutory receivables

Impairment of statutory receivables (1,510) (6,312)

Total net gain/(loss) on statutory receivables (1,510) (6,312)

(c) Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments

Net gain/loss on financial instruments 1,085 567

Total net gain/(loss) on financial instruments 1,085 567

(d) Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows

Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of long service leave liability (i) 10 146

Unwinding of provisions (16) (59)

Total other gains/(losses) from other economic flows (6) 87

Notes:
(i) Revaluation gain/(loss) due to changes in bond rate.

Other economic flows are changes in the volume or value of an asset or liability that do not result from transactions.

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities includes realised and unrealised gains and losses as 
follows:

Revaluation gains/(losses) of non-current physical assets

Non-current physical assets are measured at fair value on a cyclical basis, in accordance with the Financial Reporting 
Directions issued by the Minister for Finance. A full revaluation normally occurs every five years, but may occur more 
frequently if fair value assessments indicate material changes in values. The majority of non-current assets held by 
the Authority are ‘fit-out’ leasehold improvements to buildings. The depreciated cost of leasehold improvements is an 
acceptable approximation of fair value.

Net revaluation increases (where the carrying amount of a class of assets is increased as a result of a revaluation) are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the revaluation surplus, except that the 
net revaluation increase shall be recognised in the net result to the extent that it reverses a net revaluation decrease in 
respect of the same class of property, plant and equipment previously recognised as an expense (other economic flows) in 
the net result.

Net revaluation decreases are recognised immediately as expenses (other economic flows) in the net result, except that 
the net revaluation decrease shall be recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent that a credit balance exists 
in the revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of property, plant and equipment. The net revaluation decrease 
recognised in other comprehensive income reduces the amount accumulated in equity under revaluation surplus.

Revaluation increases and decreases relating to individual assets within a class of property, plant and equipment, are 
offset against one another within that class but are not offset in respect of assets in different classes. Any revaluation 
surplus is not normally transferred to accumulated funds on de-recognition of the relevant asset.

Disposal of non-financial assets 

Any gain or loss on the sale of non-financial assets is recognised at the date that control of the asset is passed to the 
buyer and is determined after deducting from the proceeds, the carrying value of the asset at that time.

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows

Includes the gains or losses from the revaluation of present value of the long service leave liability due to changes in the 
bond interest rates.

22. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 CONTINUED
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9.8 Subsequent events

On 1 July 2018, the Environment Protection Act 2017 became effective and transitioned the Authority from an 
Administrative Office of the Department to an Independent Statutory Authority, operating under a new governance 
structure consisting of a Governing Board as the Responsible Body.

The Victorian Parliament passed the Environment Protection Amendment Bill 2018 on 22 August 2018 and received Royal 
Assent from Victoria’s Governor on 28 August 2018, with the Environment Protection Amendment Act 2018 to commence 
on 1 July 2020.  This was a key milestone in the Authority’s continuing organisation wide transformation to prepare for 
the commencement of the amendment on 1 July 2020.  The transformation program continues to be underpinned by the 
organisational strategy, Our environment, Our health. This process is expected to continue for a number of years and any 
potential financial impacts of the changes will be assessed in line with the Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance 
under the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting Standards 
including interpretations, and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.

9.9 Ex gratia expenses

The Authority wrote-off a number of litter fines during the course of the year in accordance with its Litter Fine Write-off 
Policy. The total amount of write-offs for the year was $2.08 million (2017: $0.98 million), which is also presented in Note 
6.1.1 Movement in the provision for statutory doubtful debt.

The Victorian Parliament passed the Environment Protection Amendment Bill 2018 on 22 August 2018 and is now 
subject to Royal Assent from Victoria’s Governor.  This was a key milestone in the Authority’s continuing organisation 
wide transformation to prepare for the commencement of the amendment on 1 July 2020.  The transformation program 
continues to be underpinned by the organisational strategy, ‘Our environment, Our health’.  This process is expected 
to continue for a number of years and any potential financial impacts of the changes will be assessed in line with the 
Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting 
Directions, Australian Accounting Standards including interpretations, and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements.

9.10 AASs issued that are not yet effective 

Certain new AASs have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2018 reporting period. DTF assesses the 
impact of these new standards and advises the Authority of their applicability and early adoption where applicable.

The table below highlights applicable AASs that are issued but not effective for the 2017–18 reporting period in 
accordance with paragraph 30 of AASB 108 Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimate and errors.

Standard/
Interpretation Summary

Applicable 
for annual 
reporting 
periods 
beginning on

Impact on the Authority’s 
financial statements

AASB 9 Financial 
instruments 

(Including AAS-related 
amendments:
AASB 2014-1 Amendments 
to Australian accounting 
standards [Part E financial 
instruments];
and
AASB 2014-7 Amendments 
to Australian accounting 
standards arising from 
AASB 9)

The key changes include the simplified 
requirements for the classification and 
measurement of financial assets, a new 
hedging accounting model and a revised 
impairment loss model to recognise 
impairment losses earlier, as opposed 
to the current approach that recognises 
impairment when incurred.

1 January 2018 The assessment has identified that 
the amendments are likely to result 
in earlier recognition of impairment 
losses and at more regular intervals. 

While there will be no significant 
impact arising from AASB 9, there 
will be a change to the way financial 
instruments are classified and 
disclosed.

AASB 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers

(Including AAS-related 
amendments:
AASB 2016-7 Amendments 
to Australian accounting 
standards – deferral of 
AASB 15 for not-for-profit 
entities)

The core principle of AASB 15 requires 
an entity to recognise revenue when the 
entity satisfies a performance obligation 
by transferring a promised good or 
service to a customer. 

The related amendment AASB 2016-7 
defers the application period of AASB15 
for not-for-profit entities to the 2019-20 
reporting period.

1 January 2019 The changes in revenue recognition 
requirements in AASB 15 may result 
in changes to the timing and amount 
of revenue recorded in the financial 
statements. The standard will 
also require additional disclosures 
on service revenue and contract 
modifications.
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Standard/
Interpretation Summary

Applicable 
for annual 
reporting 
periods 
beginning on

Impact on the Authority’s 
financial statements

AASB 2014-5 Amendments 
to Australian accounting 
standards arising from 
AASB 15

Amends the measurement of trade 
receivables and the recognition of 
dividends.
Trade receivables, that do not have a 
significant financing component, are to 
be measured at their transaction price, 
at initial recognition.

1 January 2018 The assessment has indicated that 
there will be no significant impact for 
the Authority.

AASB 2014-5 Amendments 
to Australian accounting 
standards arising from 
AASB 15 (continued)

Dividends are recognised in the net 
result only when:

•  the entity’s right to receive payment of 
the dividend is established

•  it is probable that the economic 
benefits associated with the dividend 
will flow to the entity

•  the amount can be measured reliably.

1 January 2018 The assessment has indicated that 
there will be no significant impact for 
the Authority.

AASB 2016-3 Amendments 
to Australian accounting 
standards – clarifications 
to AASB 15

Amends AASB 15 to clarify the 
requirements on identifying 
performance obligations, principal 
versus agent considerations and the 
timing of recognising revenue from 
granting a licence.  The amendments 
require: 

•  a promise to transfer to a customer a 
good or service that is ‘distinct’ to be 
recognised as a separate performance 
obligation

•  for licences identified as being distinct 
from other goods or services in a 
contract, entities need to determine 
whether the licence transfers to the 
customer over time (right to use) or at 
a point in time (right to access).

1 January 2018 The assessment has indicated that 
there will be no significant impact for 
the Authority, other than the impact 
identified for AASB 15 above.

AASB 2016-8 Amendments 
to Australian accounting 
standards – Australian 
implementation guidance 
for not-for-profit entities

AASB 2016-8 inserts Australian 
requirements and authoritative 
implementation guidance for not-for-
profit-entities into AASB 9 and AASB 15. 

This Standard amends AASB 9 and 
AASB 15 to include requirements to 
assist not-for-profit entities in applying 
the respective standards to transactions 
and events.

1 January 2019 This standard clarifies the application 
of AASB 9 and AASB 15 in a not-for-
profit context, including:

AASB 9 
•  Statutory receivables are recognised 

and measured similarly to financial 
assets.

AASB 15
•  The customer does not need to 

be the recipient of goods and/or 
services

•  The contract could include an 
arrangement that was entered into 
under the direction of another party

•  Contracts are enforceable if they are 
enforceable by legal or equivalent 
means

•  Contracts do not have to have 
commercial substance, only 
economic substance

•  Performance obligations need to 
be sufficiently specific to be able to 
apply AASB 15 to these transactions.

AASB 16 Leases The key changes introduced by AASB 
16 include the recognition of most 
operating leases (which are currently 
not recognised) on the balance sheet.

1 January 2019 The assessment has indicated that 
as most operating leases will come 
on balance sheet, recognition of the 
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
will cause net debt to increase. 
Rather than expensing the lease 
payments, depreciation of right-of-use 
assets and interest on lease liabilities 
will be recognised in the income 
statement with marginal impact on 
the net result.
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Standard/
Interpretation Summary

Applicable 
for annual 
reporting 
periods 
beginning on

Impact on the Authority’s 
financial statements

AASB 1058 Income of not-
for-profit entities

This standard replaces AASB 1004 
Contributions and establishes revenue 
recognition principles for transactions 
where the consideration to acquire an 
asset is significantly less than fair value 
to enable not-for-profit entity to further 
its objectives.

1 January 2019 The assessment has indicated that 
revenue from capital grants that 
are provided under an enforceable 
agreement that have sufficiently 
specific obligations, will now 
be deferred and recognised as 
performance obligations are satisfied. 
As a result, the timing recognition of 
revenue will change.

AASB 1059 Service 
concession arrangements: 
grantor

This standard applies to arrangements 
that involve an operator providing a 
public service on behalf of a public 
sector grantor. It involves the use of a 
service concession asset and where the 
operator manages at least some of the 
public service at its own direction. 

1 January 2019 For an arrangement to be in scope 
of AASB 1059 all of the following 
requirements are to be satisfied:

•  operator is providing public services 
using a service concession asset

•  operator manages at ‘least some’ 
of public services under its own 
discretion

• the state controls / regulates:
      - What services are to be provided;
      - To whom; and
      - At what price

• the state controls any significant 
residual interest in the asset.

The assessment has indicated that 
there will be no impact for the 
Authority.

AASB 17 Insurance 
contracts

Eliminates inconsistencies and 
weaknesses in existing practices by 
providing a single principle-based 
framework to account for all types 
of insurance contracts, including 
reissuance contract that an insurer 
holds. It also provides requirements for 
presentation and disclosure to enhance 
comparability between entities.
The AASB is undertaking further 
outreach to consider the application of 
this standard to the not-for-profit public 
sector.

1 January 2021 This standard does not apply to the 
not-for-profit public sector entities. 

9.11 Glossary of technical terms

The following is a summary of the major technical terms used in this report:

Comprehensive result

Total comprehensive result is the change in equity for the period other than changes arising from transactions with 
owners. It is the aggregate of net result and other non-owner changes in equity.

Commitments

Commitments include those operating, capital and other outsourcing commitments arising from non-cancellable 
contractual or statutory sources.

Depreciation

Depreciation is an expense that arises from the consumption through wear or time of a produced physical or intangible 
asset. This expense is classified as a ‘transaction’ and so reduces the ‘net result from transactions’.

Employee benefits expenses

Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, leave entitlements, 
redundancy payments and superannuation contributions.
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9.11 Glossary of technical terms continued

Financial asset

A financial asset is any asset that is:

(a) cash;

(b) an equity instrument of another entity;

(c) a contractual or statutory right:

 (i) to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or

 (ii)  to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially 
favourable to the entity; or

(d) a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is:

 (i)  a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to receive a variable number of the entity’s own equity 
instruments; or

 (ii)  a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 
asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments.

Financial instrument

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. Financial assets or liabilities that are not contractual (such as statutory receivables or 
payables that arise as a result of statutory requirements imposed by governments) are not financial instruments.

Financial liability

A financial liability is any liability that is:

 (a) a contractual or statutory obligation:

  (i) to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or

  (ii)  to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially 
unfavourable to the entity.

Financial statements

A complete set of financial statements comprises:

(a) a comprehensive operating statement for the period

(b) a balance sheet as at the end of the period

(c) a statement of changes in equity for the period

(d) a statement of cash flow for the period

(e) notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information

(f)  comparative information in respect of the preceding period as specified in paragraphs 38 of AASB 101 Presentation of 
financial statements

(g)  a balance sheet as at the beginning of the preceding period when an entity applies an accounting policy 
retrospectively or makes a retrospective restatement of items in its financial statement, or when it reclassifies items in 
its financial statements in accordance with paragraph 41 of AASB101. 

Grants and other transfers

Transactions in which one unit provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour to another unit 
without receiving approximately equal value in return. Grants can either be operating or capital in nature.

While grants to governments may result in the provision of some goods or services to the transferor, they do not give the 
transferor a claim to receive directly benefits of approximately equal value. For this reason, grants are referred to by the 
AASB as involuntary transfers and are termed non-reciprocal transfers. 
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Receipt and sacrifice of approximately equal value may occur, but only by coincidence. For example, governments are not 
obliged to provide commensurate benefits, in the form of goods or services, to particular taxpayers in return for their 
taxes.

Grants can be paid as general-purpose grants which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions regarding their use. 
Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose grants which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions 
attached regarding their use.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets represent identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance.

Interest expense

Costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds include interest on bank overdrafts and short-term and long-
term borrowings, amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings, interest component of finance lease 
repayments, and the increase in financial liabilities and non-employee provisions due to the unwinding of discounts to 
reflect the passage of time.

Interest income

Interest income includes unwinding over time of discounts on financial assets and interest received on bank term deposits 
and other investments.

Net result

Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. It is the net result of items of revenue, 
gains and expenses (including losses) recognised for the period, excluding those that are classified as other non-owner 
changes in equity.

Net result from transactions (net operating balance)

Net result from transactions or net operating balance is a key fiscal aggregate and is income from transactions minus 
expenses from transactions. It is a summary measure of the ongoing sustainability of operations. It excludes gains and 
losses resulting from changes in price levels and other changes in the volume of assets. It is the component of the change 
in net worth that is due to transactions and can be attributed directly to government policies.

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are all assets that are not ‘financial assets’. It may include land, buildings infrastructure, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets.

Other economic flows

Other economic flows are changes in the volume or value of an asset or liability that do not result from transactions. 
These include gains and losses from disposals, revaluations and impairments of non-current physical and intangible 
assets; actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit superannuation plans; fair value changes of financial 
instruments and agricultural assets; and depletion of natural assets (non-produced) from their use or removal. In simple 
terms, other economic flows are changes arising from market re-measurements.

Payables

Includes short and long-term trade debt, trade creditors, grants and interest payable.

Receivables

Includes amounts owing from short- and long-term trade credit, accounts receivable, accrued investment income, grants, 
taxes and interest receivable.

Sales of goods and services

Refers to revenue from the direct provision of goods and services and includes fees and charges for services rendered, 
sales of goods and services, fees from regulatory services and work done as an agent for private enterprises. User 
charges include revenue from the sale of goods and services revenue.
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Supplies and services

Supplies and services generally represent cost of goods sold and the day-to-day running costs, including maintenance 
costs, incurred in the normal operations of the Authority.

Transactions

Transactions are those economic flows that are considered to arise as a result of policy decisions, usually an interaction 
between two entities by mutual agreement. They also include flows within an entity such as depreciation where the owner 
is simultaneously acting as the owner of the depreciating asset and as the consumer of the service provided by the asset. 
Taxation is regarded as mutually agreed interactions between the government and taxpayers.

Transactions can be in kind (for example, assets provided/given free of charge or for nominal consideration) or where the 
final consideration is cash. In simple terms, transactions arise from the policy decisions of the government.
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